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Reimagining Energy for 
Future Sustainability
Our greatest opportunity in energy lies at the intersection of all our natural assets. 
Indeed, the stores of hydrocarbons we now use to harvest energy were once flora 
and fauna. Now, we need not benefit only from the energy sources stored 
beneath the earth. Green, unstoppable energy is also all around us, available for us 
to reap. New technologies enable us to develop these verdant resources, while 
protecting our rich biodiversity. The design reflects this focus, using imagery 
inspired by local wildlife and plant life, with warm hues of sunshine, sky and leaves. 
It is a reflection of our vision – a vision of new energy which interconnects and 
sustains us where we are while creating the foundation for an abundant future, 
where our lives are perpetually enriched and every living organism thrives.
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Vision Statement
To be a recognised global leader in the development 
of sustainable energy-related businesses.

Mission Statement
To create exceptional value from natural gas and 
related energy businesses through our people and 
strategic partnerships.
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NGC Group Core Values
 
- Safety and Environmental Preservation

- Integrity

- Employee Engagement

- Excellence

- Transparency

- Customer Focus

- Corporate Social Responsibility
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NGC Group 
Corporate Profile
Who We Are 
The National Gas Company of Trinidad and 
Tobago Limited (NGC) and its subsidiaries 
are an integrated group of companies 
operating in Trinidad and Tobago’s energy 
sector, with a growing presence in other 
jurisdictions. A premier state enterprise, 
parent company NGC plays a pivotal role 
in Trinidad and Tobago’s gas-based energy 
sector and is strategically positioned along 
the entire natural gas value chain. Through its 
people, investments, strategic partnerships 
and pioneering gas pricing model, NGC has 
secured the profitability of the local gas-
based energy sector and catalysed the social 
and economic development of Trinidad and 
Tobago for four and a half decades. 

Today, NGC and its subsidiaries are 
expanding the business beyond natural gas 
to encompass other forms of clean energy, 
investing and partnering to build a portfolio 
of energy assets and projects that support 
the global transition to a low-carbon future. 
This involves heavy focus on methane and 
carbon dioxide mitigation; investment in 
renewable energy projects; promotion of 
cleaner automotive fuels; energy education; 
energy efficiency; and associated advocacy, 
research and development. 

What We Do 
NGC owns, maintains and operates the 
country’s transmission and distribution gas 
pipeline network of approximately 1,000 km, 
which comprises both offshore and onshore 
segments. The network’s installed capacity 
is currently 4.4 billion standard cubic feet per 
day (bcf/d) and supplies to power generation 
firms, global-scale petrochemical plants and 
a wide range of light manufacturing and 
commercial enterprises. 

NGC’s business model for optimising natural 
gas resources for long-term industrial 
development, prosperity, resilience and 
sustainability (The Trinidad Gas Model of 
Development) has been so successful that 
it is attracting interest from other emerging 
gas economies. NGC is now driving global 
alliances and international cooperation as 
economies seek support from established 
energy players to transition to cleaner       
hydrocarbon fuels and renewables.
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Through its subsidiaries and investments, 
NGC has strong linkages in the downstream 
and upstream sectors.

The NGC Group comprises: 
- 10 fully owned companies
- 5 partially owned companies 
- 10 indirect subsidiaries 
- 7 affiliated companies 

Of these, the following are the most 
recognised brands:

•	 National Energy Corporation of Trinidad 
and Tobago Limited (National Energy) 
is a 100% wholly owned subsidiary of 
NGC responsible for industrial site, port 
and marine infrastructure development; 
associated services to support the energy 
industry; and the development and 
facilitation of new downstream energy-
based industries in Trinidad and Tobago.

•	 Phoenix Park Gas Processors Limited 
(PPGPL) is an indirect subsidiary of NGC, 
owned by NGC NGL Company Limited 
(51%) (a majority owned subsidiary of 
NGC), Trinidad and Tobago NGL Limited 
(39%) (in which NGC has a minority 
interest) and Pan West Engineers & 
Constructors LLC (10%). 

	 It is engaged in natural gas processing 
and the aggregation, fractionation and 
marketing of natural gas liquids (NGLs), 
operating as an NGL hub.

•	 La Brea Industrial Development 
Company Limited (LABIDCO) owns, 
operates and manages the La Brea 
Industrial Estate, inclusive of the Port of 
Brighton in La Brea, Trinidad and Tobago. 
NGC holds 91.55% of shares in LABIDCO 
and Trinidad Petroleum Holdings Limited 
(TPHL) holds the remaining 8.45%.

•	 NGC CNG Company Limited (NGC CNG) 
is a 100% owned subsidiary responsible for 
the marketing and the sale of compressed 
natural gas (CNG) and the exploration of 
renewable transportation technologies.

•	 Trinidad and Tobago NGL Limited 
(TTNGL) is a 25% owned subsidiary, 
which serves as an investment vehicle to 
enable the public to participate in equity 
ownership of PPGPL.

The NGC Group of Companies has 
developed a blueprint for success using 
world-class technical expertise and assets  
and by leveraging local talent to create 
exceptional value from national energy 
resources. Harnessing these strengths, The 
Group is now seeking to grow its brand and 
business to become a global leader in the 
new energy landscape. 



Expanding Our Horizons

NORTH AMERICA

LATIN AMERICA
CARIBBEAN
GRENADA (TERM SHEET) 

DOMINICAN REPUBLIC 
PUERTO RICO
JAMAICA
ST. CROIX
ANTIGUA
BARBADOS
MARTINIQUE
GUADELOUPE
ST. VINCENT
ST. LUCIA
ST. MAARTEN
HAITI
TORTOLA
ARUBA
DOMINICA
ST. KITTS
ANGUILLA
NEVIS
MONTSERRAT
TRINIDAD & TOBAGO

COLOMBIA
ARGENTINA
BRAZIL
CHILE
PANAMA
COSTA RICA

BOSTON, USA

THE GUIANAS
SURINAME
FRENCH GUIANA
GUYANA

THE NGC GROUP’S BUSINESS EXTENDS FAR BEYOND OUR SHORES, WITH CARGO  

DESTINATIONS SPANNING THE GLOBE, COMMERCIAL  AGREEMENTS IN PLACE WITH  

SEVERAL  COUNTRIES AND A PHYSICAL  PRESENCE IN THE USA  AND  GUYANA.
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EUROPE MIDDLE EAST ASIA PACIFIC
THAILAND
JAPAN
TAIWAN
SOUTH KOREA
INDIA
SINGAPORE
CHINA

ISRAELENGLAND
ITALY
FRANCE
SPAIN
PORTUGAL
THE NETHERLANDS 
BELGIUM
TURKEY

EGYPT
GHANA (MOU)

MOZAMBIQUE (MOU/TSA)

TANZANIA (MOU)

SENEGAL
MOROCCO

AFRICA
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(as at 31 December 2021)

NGC Group Workforce

PERMANENT	 176      	
CONTRACT     	 13   
TEMPORARY	 11
TOTAL	 200		

932

PERMANENT	 19      
CONTRACT     	 3   
TEMPORARY	 0
TOTAL	 22	
	

PERMANENT	 14      	
CONTRACT     	 2   
TEMPORARY	 0
TOTAL	 16		

PERMANENT	 97      	
CONTRACT     	 3 
TEMPORARY	 3
TOTAL	 103		

PERMANENT	 558      	
CONTRACT     	 33   
TEMPORARY	 0
TOTAL	 591		
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“AS AN ECONOMY LARGELY BASED ON OIL AND GAS 

AND PETROCHEMICALS, WE IN TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO 

RECOGNISE OUR RESPONSIBILITY IN TRANSITIONING, OVER 

REASONABLE AND MANAGEABLE TIME, TO NET ZERO.”

DR. KEITH C. ROWLEY, PRIME MINISTER OF THE
 REPUBLIC OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO 
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The NGC Group of Companies recorded a 
profit of TT$2.6B for the financial year ended 
31 December 2021, as compared to a loss 
of TT$2.1B in 2020. The Group’s revenues 
of TT$23.6B were TT$12.2B greater than 
revenues of TT$11.4B for the year 2020. 

The rebound in commodity prices in 2021 
positively impacted revenues, with prices for 
ammonia, methanol, liquefied natural gas 
(LNG) and natural gas liquids (NGLs) being 
190%, 92%, 911% and 112% higher respectively. 
Moreover, exceptional items recorded in 2020 
did not impact the organisation this year.  

The NGC Group’s growth 
over 2021 was achieved 
through our collective 
efforts, our commitment 
to enhanced value creation 
and the advancement of our 
Green Agenda.

The 2021 NGC Group 
Performance Report



THE FOLLOWING REPRESENTS SOME OF OUR HIGHLIGHTS FOR THE PERIOD UNDER REVIEW :

•	 New gas contracts with Tringen, MHTL and DeNovo 
	 NGC signed new sales and supply contracts which will support the 

longevity of the gas-based downstream sector.

•	 Acquisition of Heritage interest in Block 3(a)
	 NGC increased its shareholding in Block 3(a) from 11.41% to 31.54% with 

the acquisition of Heritage Petroleum’s Non-Operated Joint Venture 
(NOJV) participating interest. 

•	 EPC for gas supply to Phoenix Park Industrial Estate
	 NGC signed an Engineering, Procurement, and Commissioning (EPC) 

contract for gas infrastructure for eTecK’s Phoenix Park Industrial Estate 
(PPIE) with the Beijing Construction Engineering Group Company 
Limited (BCEG)

•	 Enhanced Asset Integrity Management
	 The introduction of new technologies, such as an infrared camera and 

satellite monitoring, have helped strengthen NGC’s Leak Detection 
and Repair (LDAR) programme. Satellite technology is also being used 
to monitor pipeline Rights of Way for third-party interference (TPI) and 
track methane emissions.

•	 PPGPL facility turnaround
	 Group member Phoenix Park Gas Processors Limited (PPGPL) 

successfully navigated pandemic challenges to safely execute a facility 
turnaround in 2021. 

•	 Virtual delivery of Ghana project
	 NGC embarked on a groundbreaking project in Ghana to design, 

procure, construct and install a pressure regulator package at the 
Takoradi Distribution Station. Due to pandemic restrictions, the project is 
being delivered virtually from our offices in Trinidad and Tobago. 

13



14

•	 Collaboration with UWI to quantify below-ground carbon 
sequestration

	 NGC extended its carbon sequestration study with The University of the 
West Indies (The UWI) to quantify the amount of carbon stored in the 
root biomass of trees at its reforested sites. 

The 2021 NGC Group
Performance Report (continued)

•	 Partnership for green hydrogen
	 NGC, National Energy and Kenesjay Green Limited (KGL) signed a 

Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) to work collaboratively on the 
creation of a sustainable hydrogen economy for the energy sector of 
Trinidad and Tobago. 

•	 Introduction of the CariGreen website
	 NGC launched a new website called CariGreen to serve as a central 

repository for investor, academic and citizen research into clean energy 
in the Caribbean. 

•	 Delivery of the state-of-the-art, solar-powered Preysal Service 
Station

	 National Energy completed installation of a rooftop solar array to power 
operations at the groundbreaking multi-fuel station opened at Preysal.

•	 MOU with SWMCOL to explore commercialisation of landfill gas	
The NGC Group signed an MOU with The Trinidad and Tobago 
Solid Waste Management Company Limited (SWMCOL) to explore 
opportunities to commercialise landfill gas for such uses as the provision 
of carbon-negative, renewable compressed natural gas.

•	 Strong leadership performance for PPGPL’s North American asset
	 Following the purchase of the NGL marketing assets of Twin Eagle 

Liquids Marketing LLC in February 2020, PPGPL’s North American 
subsidiary, Phoenix Park Trinidad and Tobago Energy Holdings Limited 
(PPTTEHL) delivered a robust performance in its first full year of 
operations.

THE FOLLOWING REPRESENTS SOME OF OUR HIGHLIGHTS FOR THE PERIOD UNDER REVIEW :
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These projects and accomplishments are just 
a sample of the projects delivered in 2021 and 
are indicative of our determination to move 
our company forward. They also represent 
the vision, talent, dedication, commitment 
and focus of our people, without whom 
these results could not have been achieved.

Our achievements are especially laudable 
when situated in the global context. 

Much like a village in the wake of a hurricane, 
in 2021 the world was faced with the 
challenge of rebuilding after the historic 
COVID-19 pandemic ravaged economies 
and claimed millions of lives. 

With the rollout of global vaccination 
programmes and the emergence and spread 
of the milder Omicron variant towards the 
close of the year, critical COVID-19 infections 
were reduced in 2021, allowing borders to 
reopen and commercial activity to resume. 
Although the virus remains a health concern 
to date, countries began to frame and 
implement post-pandemic recovery plans 
after battling the virus for well over a year.

In 2021, The NGC Group of Companies 
successfully navigated the way forward from 
a difficult 2020. We continued to leverage 
our people, technology and partnerships to 
deliver our critical operational functions and 
strengthen our presence along the gas value 
chain. We crafted our new, anticipatory 
growth strategy based on the emerging 
post-pandemic ‘normal’, which included a 
keener focus on international expansion and 
greening our business. 

In November 2021, the world came together 
to address the looming existential threat of 
climate change at the COP26 conference 
in Scotland. The consensus at this event 
around the need for urgent climate action 
is material to our industry’s future. It will 
shape the trajectory of energy production 
and consumption over the next decade, 

delineating boundaries for our business. 
Accordingly, with diversification an 
imperative for long-term sustainability, we 
deepened our portfolio of green agenda 
investments, initiatives and partnerships in 
2021.

Looking now to the future, 
we have stepped into 2022 
as a resilient, profitable, 
evolving group of energy 
companies, still a driver of 
national development, still a 
symbol of excellence. 

Whatever comes our way, we will meet it 
with the same spirit and dynamism that 
have brought us this far. We are intent on 
remaining relevant in the new age of energy, 
delivering ever more value for our country.    

I wish to acknowledge the contributions 
made by the Board of Directors, the 
management and leadership teams of The 
NGC Group and all our employees toward 
the strong recovery and solid performance 
recorded in 2021. Our human resources  
remain our most valuable asset as we seek 
to build a stronger and more sustainable 
business. 

I also extend gratitude to our Ministry of 
Finance and Ministry of Energy and Energy 
Industries for their guidance and support 
through the uncharted waters of the past 12  
months.

Together with our people, our partners and 
our stakeholders, we will continue to work in 
service of our great nation.

Dr. Joseph Ishmael Khan
Chairman
Appointed Chairman 30 September 2022   
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President’s Report
NGC and its subsidiaries are reimagining energy, building a 
more sustainable and climate-conscious business. Here’s why.

In 2021, the world was anxious to leave 
the disruption of the year 2020 behind 
and return to a measure of pre-pandemic 
stability. The COVID-19 vaccine, the fastest- 
ever developed in history, brought welcome 
reprieve from lockdowns and economic 

stasis, allowing countries to reopen their 
borders and commercial and industrial 
sectors to rebound. However, while many 
breathed easier in the past few months, we 
were warned that there is a potentially more 
catastrophic global crisis on the horizon. 

MARK LOQUAN
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The message that emerged from the 
November COP26 climate conference was 
poignant: without urgent and definitive 
climate action, we will witness irrevocable 
environmental changes in the near future, 
with socioeconomic repercussions far 
worse than what we experienced during 
the pandemic. Governments were urged 
to focus on sustainable post-pandemic 
recovery because it is imperative that we 
achieve carbon neutrality within the next 
three decades, with particular focus on 
action in the current decade. Without 
hyperbole, the future of our planet hinges on 
responsible consumption and development 
from here forward as well as the transition 
toward greener energy sources.

It has become increasingly 
evident that natural gas 
will be a critical bridge fuel 
in that transition and the 
long-term clean energy 
mix. NGC has therefore 
intensified efforts to secure 
the future of the natural 
gas-based sector in Trinidad 
and Tobago. We have also 
committed to support 
climate action through 
adoption of a diverse 
and expanding Green 
Agenda, with a focus on 
sustainability.

We acknowledge that we cannot afford to 
be carbon-blind when we operate in a small-
island developing state with so much at 
stake in the climate fight. To the extent that 
our industry contributes to the unfolding 
climate crisis, it is our duty to take action. 
Beyond our overriding social responsibility, 
there are also compelling business reasons 
for NGC and the wider NGC Group to join 
the climate fight. 

The relationship between 
climate and energy is 
one of reciprocal impact. 
The energy industry has 
contributed to global 
warming, but climate 
change is in turn disrupting 
energy markets. The energy 
industry can and should 
therefore be part of the 
solution as countries and 
companies shape the 
energy transition.

For one, climate change is influencing energy 
demand and prices. In recent years, we have 
seen energy prices surge due to blistering 
summers and arctic winters, and 2021 
followed that trend. Winter storm Uri – which 
ravaged the Pacific Northwest and Central 
USA in February 2021 — pushed natural 
gas spot prices in Oklahoma to a giddying 
US$1,250/MMBtu due to high demand and 
pandemic-related supply challenges. On the 
other end of the spectrum, 2021 was one 
of the seven warmest years on record, and 
deadly heatwaves from Canada to India to 
Australia inflated demand for cooling. 



By all indications, increasingly volatile 
weather will continue to exert pressure 
on energy markets and prices, with acute 
impact in our own region.

Climate change is also compelling 
adjustments on the supply side. In response 
to climate action imperatives, energy 
companies around the world are displacing a 
share of their fossil fuel portfolios with clean 
energy assets and projects. Many new players 
are also entering the market, specialising 
in renewable energy technologies. The 
International Renewable Energy Agency 
(IRENA) reports that 81% of new power 
capacity brought online in 2021 was based 
on renewable energy.

As the energy mix and market become more 
diversified, hydrocarbon-based businesses 
need to pivot to remain viable. Carbon 
penalties, green policies and international 
regulations will soon give green energy  
commodities a market edge, and unabated 
fossil fuel products will lose competitiveness. 

If climate change is shaping 
the future of our industry, 
and if climate action 
is a civic responsibility, 
these need to be central 
considerations in our 
operations, business 
modelling and strategic 
planning. 

President’s Report (continued)
We also cannot overlook the broader 
framework of sustainable development into 
which climate action fits — there are other 
structural, environmental and societal issues 
that must be addressed if we are to build a 
more resilient world. These are the drivers 
behind our Green Agenda and our efforts to 
build a sustainable energy brand. 

GOING FORWARD, OUR STRATEGY
 IS BEING  GUIDED BY THE 

FOLLOWING CORE CONCEPTS:
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That natural gas will be the transition fuel and 
is  critical to our clean energy future as the  
cleanest-burning fossil fuel

That renewables, green commodities and 
low-carbon fuels will gain ground in energy 
markets

That energy efficiency, carbon abatement 
and offset mechanisms are needed to 
support a carbon-neutral future

That Environmental, Social and Governance 
(ESG) performance will drive business 
competitiveness

That sustainability is bigger than energy, 
and corporate citizens have a role to 
play in pursuit of the UN’s Sustainable 
Development Goals (SDGs)

That partnership and collaboration are 
integral to the success of all sustainability 
undertakings, with involvement of 
stakeholders across the ecosystem of 
governments, businesses, academia, 
chambers, communities and citizenry locally, 
regionally and internationally



These ideas underpinned what we set about 
to achieve in 2021. As will be detailed in the 
pages that follow, our focus was firstly on 
securing our current business. Natural gas 
has an important place in the transition to a 
clean energy future and therefore remains 
our core concern. NGC continued to work 
towards strengthening our sector and 
supply security, signing new gas contracts 
and lobbying for greater efficiency at the 
industrial and domestic levels. To reinforce 
our organisational foundations, we focused 
on asset integrity management, skills 
development and acceleration of our digital 
strategy as well as planning for the future of 
work.

To build a more diverse and resilient revenue 
stream, we expanded our energy trading 
portfolio with a new upstream acquisition 
and began marketing our expertise through 
a groundbreaking project in Ghana. Also 
venturing beyond our borders was Group 
member Phoenix Park Gas Processors 
Limited (PPGPL), whose new NGL asset in the 
USA registered a solid financial performance 
in 2021.

Of course, the Green Agenda was a major 
component of our work programme this 
year. In partnership with our subsidiaries and 
other stakeholders, we are working towards 
realisation of solar, green hydrogen and 
biogas projects in Trinidad and Tobago. 

Alongside these projects are advocacy, 
public education and community initiatives; 
research undertakings with academic 
institutions; efforts to green our own 
operations with an acute focus on methane 
mitigation; and integration of sustainability 
metrics as performance indicators across 
The Group. We are also partnering to reduce 
the carbon intensity of our industry, towards 
creation of a more sustainable industrial hub 
— Point Lisas 2.0.

As always, in 2021 we continued to support 
various groups and causes across Trinidad 
and Tobago, with particular focus on 
building capacity and sustainability in such 
areas as track and field, arts and culture and 
communities. We were also proud to launch 
a new clean energy research website called 
CariGreen as well as an energy efficiency 
app named EnergySmarTT. 

What is perhaps most 
impressive is that we were 
able to achieve significant 
year-on-year growth 
while still working within 
pandemic restrictions. This is 
testament to the resilience, 
innovation, commitment 
and talent of our people. 

I must congratulate and thank all our 
employees for their invaluable contributions 
over the year 2021. I am also grateful to our 
Board of Directors and extended leadership 
team for their astute leadership through this 
period of turbulence and transition. 

Our industry and business are today 
challenged to change, but we are equipped 
and resolved to emerge into the new energy 
landscape an even stronger company, 
driving sustainable development for the 
people of Trinidad and Tobago. 

Mark Loquan
President
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NGC logo indicates that  the 
Company has an investment 
stake in the  business area

NGC in the 
Energy Value Chain
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THE ENERGY LANDSCAPE HAS EVOLVED,  AND IT IS IMPORTANT FOR NGC 

TO SUPPORT  A HEALTHY MARKET BY FINDING THE RIGHT BALANCE OF 

PRICE AND SUPPLY TO SATISFY  ALL PLAYERS ACROSS THE CHAIN.
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Reinforcing 
Our Foundation
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NGC REMAINS A NATURAL 
GAS-FORWARD BUSINESS.

Natural gas demand is projected to increase by 
10% towards 2035 as this fuel and its derivative 
petrochemicals are forecast to headline the current 
transition to a clean energy future. Desirous of 
becoming a premier global player in this expanding 
sector, NGC took steps in 2021 to strengthen its local 
natural gas portfolio, value chain and infrastructure.
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SECURING SUPPLY

NGC, as the domestic gas 
aggregator, continues 
to actively engage with 
upstream producers 
around opportunities to 
bring new gas supply 
sources onstream to meet 
demand. 

In 2021, two major gas development 
projects were completed, with Shell’s 
Barracuda project delivering first gas in 
July and bpTT announcing early first gas 
from Matapal in September. In 2022, 
Shell’s Colibri project, DeNovo’s Zandolie, 
Touchstone’s Coho and Cascadura and 
bpTT’s Cassia Compression project are all 
expected to further sustain gas supply to 
both the domestic and LNG sectors. 

Zandolie
While larger projects are critical, small 
and marginal fields can also contribute 
to gas volumes in the context of tight 
supply, and NGC has been advocating 
for their development. DeNovo Energy 
Limited (DeNovo) is one operator 
working to commercialise such pools 
of gas, with the Zandolie development 
located in Block 1(a) latest among their 
projects. In August 2021, NGC signed a 
Gas Supply Contract (GSC) with DeNovo 

for the commercialisation of the Zandolie 
Field, which is expected to deliver 
approximately 40 million standard cubic 
feet of gas per day (mmscfd). With 
production due to begin in the third 
quarter of 2022, this GSC will bolster 
NGC’s supply in the short term. As an 
added benefit, Zandolie is expected to 
utilise 100% green power from wind and 
solar energy, reducing the carbon impact 
of gas produced from this field. 

Manatee 
The Manatee field development was 
another major project progressed in 
2021. The cross-border Loran-Manatee 
reservoir is estimated to hold some 
10.04 trillion cubic feet (tcf) of gas, with 
just over a quarter of that resource in 
Trinidad and Tobago’s marine acreage. In 
2020, the Government of the Republic 
of Trinidad and Tobago (GORTT) and the 
Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela agreed 
to undertake separate and independent 
development of the gas fields in their 
respective territories. After a period 
of negotiation, in November 2021, a 
Production Sharing Contract (PSC) 
was signed between GORTT and Shell 
Trinidad and Tobago Limited (Shell) for the 
development of the Manatee field. This 
significant milestone means the country 
moves a step closer to monetising one 
of the largest ever domestic gas fields. 
NGC will have a crucial role to play in this 
project in terms of infrastructural support 
and as offtaker for a portion of the gas 
from the field.



SUPPORTING DEMAND

On the opposite end of 
the value chain, NGC 
worked assiduously to close 
ongoing negotiations with 
downstream customers. 

TRINGEN
In May, we signed a GSC with Trinidad 
Nitrogen Company Limited (TRINGEN), 
the owner of two ammonia plants on the 
Point Lisas Industrial Estate and NGC’s 
fourth largest petrochemical customer. This 
agreement will allow Trinidad and Tobago 
to remain a leader in global ammonia 
production at a time when the world is 
recognising this commodity’s potential as a 
green marine fuel and feedstock for cleaner 
power generation. 

MHTL
Trinidad and Tobago is also dominant in 
methanol markets - another petrochemical 
gaining as a low-carbon energy source. In 
2021, NGC helped secure the future of this 
industry as well, signing a Consolidated 
Gas Sales Contract (CGSC) with Methanol 
Holdings (Trinidad) Limited (MHTL). This 
contract will support operations at the 

MHTL Methanol Complex, which includes 
the mega-methanol M5 plant, one of the 
world’s most efficient low-carbon methanol 
producers. 

EPCs for new estates
In addition to bolstering the long-term 
viability of existing customers, NGC signalled 
its intent to support new industrial growth 
by signing Engineering, Procurement, and 
Commissioning (EPC) contracts to provide 
gas infrastructure and facilitate gas supply 
to two new industrial estates — e TecK’s 
Phoenix Park Industrial Estate (PPIE) and 
Factory Road Industrial Park (FRIP). 

The 145-acre PPIE will comprise 76 leasable 
lots for light and advanced manufacturing, 
assembly, logistics and distribution and 
information and communication technology 
(ICT) industries. The 65-acre FRIP aims 
to accommodate light manufacturing 
and training, logistics, food processing, 
warehousing and distribution businesses 
in its 12 lots. Both industrial estates are 
expected to generate thousands of jobs 
during construction and operation.

By supplying those tenants who will require 
natural gas to fuel their operations, NGC will 
be playing a crucial facilitative role in the 
diversification of the local economy.
 

Reinforcing 
Our Foundation (continued)
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SHORING THE NETWORK

NGC today operates along 
the entire gas value chain. 
However, our midstream 
roles as gas aggregator, 
seller and distributor remain 
critical. Accordingly, our 
pipeline network is one of 
our principal assets.  

Due to its expanse, geographical spread 
and age, integrity issues could arise along 
the network that increase the risk of release 
incidents, service disruption or public safety 
concerns. For these reasons, Asset Integrity 
Management (AIM) is of paramount 
importance to us. 

AIM
We redoubled efforts in AIM across The 
NGC Group in direct response to a National 
Facilities Integrity Audit that was conducted 

in 2015 by international firm Det Norske 
Veritas (DNV), which rated our systems 
below the national average. Through various 
AIM interventions, we have managed to 
improve our audit scores significantly since 
then (based on internal assessments), closing 
2021 with a system score of 3.5 (2015: 1.79) and 
an equipment score of 3.18 (2015: 1.64). In the 
final quarter of 2022, we expect to engage 
DNV to complete another independent AIM 
audit across The NGC Group. 

Clifton Hill Revetment
In 2021, we completed a major project to 
safeguard our critical 56-inch Cross-Island 
Pipeline (CIP) against exposure due to 
coastal erosion in the area of Clifton Hill, 
Point Fortin. NGC’s CIP shares a pipeline 
corridor with lines belonging to bpTT and 
Group member PPGPL, and all parties jointly 
funded revetment works to rehabilitate the 
impacted coastal bank. This project was 
commenced in 2020 and experienced some 
delays due to pandemic restrictions. It was 
nevertheless completed successfully in 2021, 
with NGC realising over US$2 million in cost 
savings due to collaborative negotiations.

System Equipment

AIM AUDIT SCORES
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Satellite monitoring
An indispensable component of our AIM 
programme is data – we need to know 
where vulnerabilities exist along the pipeline 
network so we can proactively address them. 
In a pioneering move for local industry, NGC 
engaged Netherlands-based technology 
solutions provider Orbital Eye at the end of 
2020 to provide satellite monitoring services 
for our network. 

With this technology support in place, 
our Right-of-Way (ROW) monitoring was 
significantly enhanced in 2021. We were 
able to conduct more frequent, reliable and 
fulsome aerial surveys of our ROW, at far lower 
costs and environmental impact compared 
to helicopter surveys. All instances of Third-
Party Interference (TPI) that were detected 
were flagged with global positioning system 
(GPS) coordinates, allowing field technicians 
to navigate to TPI sites with precision. Thanks 
to satellite data, we were able to locate and 
address 30 ground disturbances in 2021 that 
could have compromised the network. We 

Reinforcing 
Our Foundation (continued)

have also been using this technology to 
support our methane mitigation efforts (see 
p 36).

Seeing the benefit of satellite monitoring, 
other industry operators approached NGC 
in 2021 with requests for surveillance to be 
extended to their assets. We have since 
formalised a cost-sharing arrangement with 
bpTT and PPGPL, which allows us to offset 
approximately 25% of the initial contracted 
sum for this service. 

Business Resilience
As pandemic disruptions continued into 
2021, NGC and its subsidiaries continued to 
pivot as needed, to respond with agility to 
changes in their operating environment. In 
recognition of its excellent performance in 
this regard, and for the second consecutive 
year, National Energy copped the American 
Chamber of Commerce of Trinidad and 
Tobago (AMCHAMTT) award for Business 
Continuity & Surviving the Pandemic (BCP) 
in the Energy Sector (Small Company 
Category).
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“MANY COUNTRIES ARE PROVING THAT THE 

ONGOING ENERGY TRANSITION IN FACT HAS 

MULTIPLE POSITIVE SOCIAL, ECONOMIC AND 

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS.”

– ADNAN Z. AMIN, FORMER DIRECTOR-GENERAL 
INTERNATIONAL RENEWABLE ENERGY AGENCY (IRENA)

IRENA is a content partner on NGC’s CariGreen website  www.carigreen.ngc.co.tt 

http://www.carigreen.ngc.co.tt 
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ENERGY MARKETING
AND TRADING

NGC has been involved in independent 
marketing  of commodity cargoes from  its 
upstream and downstream investments 
since 2012. Over recent  years, we have 
broadened our trading portfolio and today 
sell LNG, crude and methanol on spot 
markets across the world. This arm of our 
business has enriched our revenue stream 
and allowed us to directly profit from higher 
commodity prices in 2021.

In April 2021, NGC’s subsidiary NGC 
Petrochemicals Ltd., lifted and marketed 
its first equity share of methanol from the 
Caribbean Gas Chemical Limited (CGCL) 
plant in La Brea. NGC has a 20% stake in that 
facility.

In August, our portfolio was further enhanced 
by our acquisition of Heritage Petroleum 
Company Limited’s Non-Operated Joint 
Venture (NOJV) participating interest in 
Block 3(a), off Trinidad’s east coast. As a 
result of this acquisition, NGC has increased 
its participating interest in the Block from 
11.41% to 31.54%. We will now have access to 
additional equity crude to take to market. 

Given the trajectory of commodity markets 
and the growing preference for green 
products, we saw it appropriate to pursue 
inclusion of green petrochemicals in our 
trading portfolio. In December, our wholly 
owned subsidiary, NGC Petrochemicals 
Limited (NPL), signed a term sheet with 
Gulf Coast Methanol 1 LLC and its parent 
company, IGP Methanol LLC to purchase 
blue methanol from IGP’s Gulf Coast 
Methanol Park (GCMP) project. While this 
is still an incipient partnership, it highlights 
NGC’s commitment to integrate low-carbon 
fuels into its business model.

As we continue to build up this commercial 
area beyond 2021, we wanted to create a 
space for dedicated engagement with our 
trading partners. 

Even as we worked 
to strengthen our 
core business, we also 
sought to diversify our 
income stream in a bid 
to enhance our earning 
potential and buffer 
against market shocks. 
This has involved growth 
along the value chain 
and beyond our borders. 

Expanding Our Horizons
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We therefore launched an Energy Marketing 
and Trading Portal to facilitate onboarding of 
new partners. 

All potential trading partners are now 
directed to the Portal to register and provide 
preliminary information for screening prior 
to prequalification. The platform automates 
a previously manual data-capture process  
and offers the following benefits:

INTERNATIONAL EXPANSION

Among our strategic objectives as a Group of 
Companies is an intent to build our business 
into a global brand — respected as a veteran 
energy player and courted as a business 
partner. In 2021, we made progress on this 
front.

NGC ENTERED INTO A TECHNICAL 
SERVICES CONTRACT WITH 

INTEGRATED LOGISTICS BUREAU 
LIMITED (ILBL) OF GHANA IN 2020. 

Pre-screening of potential 
trading partners to ensure 
validity prior to the formal 
prequalification process

Generation of a database of 
potential business partners and 
record of interest

Enhanced compliance 
with NGC’s policies and 
procedures due to ease of 
access to information for the 
prequalification process

Improved customer relationship 
management 

Ghana Project
As significant natural gas finds bring 
new players into the global energy 
market, NGC saw a need for technical 
service providers to guide emerging 
gas provinces through the process of 
gas-based industrialisation. Seizing 
the opportunity to commercialise our 
expertise in this area, NGC entered 
into a technical services contract with 
Integrated Logistics Bureau Limited 
(ILBL) of Ghana in 2020. The scope of this 
contract was the design, procurement, 
construction, installation and com-
missioning of a pressure regulator 
skid package for the existing  Takoradi 
Distribution Station (TDS) in Ghana, 
owned and operated by the Ghana 
National Gas Company (GNGC).
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In December 2020, with COVID-19 
restrictions making travel between Trinidad 
and Tobago and Ghana impossible, NGC’s 
Projects Team turned to virtual platforms 
to execute those tasks that would usually 
require on-site presence. Technology, 
collaboration and a great deal of flexibility 
allowed the team to navigate challenges 
related to remote management of the 
project through 2021. The project is still 
ongoing and is currently in the construction 
phase, with NGC providing virtual oversight 
of the Ghanaian contractors through online 
platforms. Completion is expected in 2022.

Expanding Our Horizons (continued)

Once completed, the TDS project will 
represent the first time that NGC has 
executed a project of this type outside 
Trinidad and Tobago, and it will provide a 
template for future international projects. 

PPGPL in North America
PPGPL is the first Group subsidiary to have 
operational assets outside of Trinidad and 
Tobago. Recall that in 2020, the company 
acquired the natural gas liquids (NGL) assets 
of Twin Eagle Liquids Marketing LLC in 
Houston, Texas. 
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PPGPL’s North American subsidiary, Phoenix 
Park Trinidad and Tobago Energy Holdings 
Limited (PPTTEHL), which manages those 
assets, delivered a robust performance in 
its first full year of operations. PPTTEHL 
experienced high trading volumes and 
contributed approximately 3% to PPGPL’s 
profit after tax. Continued earnings growth 
is expected from this business segment in 
the future as additional assets are added to 
the portfolio.

National Energy in Guyana
In 2019, National Energy registered the 
Group’s first international office in Guyana to 
market the Group’s services to Guyana and 
Suriname. Engagement with stakeholders 
has been ongoing to market Group services in 
the areas of gas-based project development, 
renewable and clean energy projects, port 
and estate development, marine logistics 
and cross-border collaboration for projects.

Positioning through global platforms
A necessary precursor to global expansion is 
increasing brand recognition and positioning 
the business in target markets. One avenue 
through which The NGC Group sought 
to boost its visibility and brand exposure 
was through participation in international 
conferences and events. 

In 2021, representatives of The Group shared 
insights into the organisation’s business at a 
number of global events, including:

-	 Caribbean Maritime Climate Action 
Conference and Exhibition 

-	 Guyana Basins Summit

-	 Bloomberg New Energy Finance 
Annual Conference 2021

-	 1st Hydrogen Congress for Latin 
America and the Caribbean

-	 Suriname Energy, Oil and Gas Summit

-	 Hydrogen Americas Summit

-	 Africa Energy Series

-	 S&P Global Platts Central America and 
Caribbean Energy Virtual Conference

-	 Gas Exporting Countries Forum 
(GECF) 4th Annual Workshop on the 
Promotion of Natural Gas Demand
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Resourcing for Change
If we intend to succeed in 
the new age of energy and 
post-pandemic business 
landscape, we need to outfit 
our organisation for our new 
operating environment — 
we need to sharpen our 
skills and the tools at 
our disposal.

HUMAN CAPITAL

CKSD and recruitment
In 2017, NGC launched a phased 
Competency,. Knowledge and Skills. 
Development (CKSD) project to map 
and benchmark the competencies and 
skillsets resident within the organisation. 
The objective was to determine where the 
organisation stands in terms of skills relative 
to industry standards, so that appropriate 
training and skills development interventions 
could be undertaken.

In 2021, the CKSD project was advanced to 
three new areas — Projects, Supply Chain 
Management, and Finance, Technology and 
Risk. Comprehensive reports coming out of 
the CKSD process are now being used to 
inform employee development and training 
plans. 

To supplement existing skillsets, we actively 
recruited in 2021, filling vacancies in the 
Human Resources and Audit functions, and 
growing our Technology and Innovation 
team. 

Future of work
With vaccination programmes allowing 
many businesses to revert to pre-pandemic 
work arrangements, NGC has been engaged 
in discussions around the future of work 
at the organisation. While we conferred 
with health and safety practitioners and 
examined global trends to determine the 
best way forward, we were also insistent 
on seeking input from the entire workforce. 
We therefore issued a survey to staff to field 
opinions on preferred work arrangements. 

The survey results largely favoured a hybrid 
model, accommodating both remote and 
office-based work. Since then, a cross-
functional team has been collaborating on 
a policy to guide our return-to-workplace 
process on the basis of those results as well 
as professional advice and international best 
practice.  



TECHNOLOGY AND INNOVATION

NGC maintained its work-from-home 
policy through 2021. Our Technology and 
Innovation (TI) team continued to provide 
critical support to keep employees connected 
and digital processes running smoothly. The 
volume of company business being handled 
on virtual platforms necessitated a keener 
focus on security. Our team therefore sought 
to identify major risks and strengthen our 
internal processes for handling cybersecurity 
threats. In 2022, work will continue in this 
regard with planned initiatives, such as 
development of a comprehensive NGC 
Cybersecurity Strategy and execution of a 
network maintenance project.

In anticipation of an even greater role for 
technology in our organisation’s future, a 
Group Technology Strategy was developed 
and approved in 2021. This three-year 
strategic framework and roadmap will 
guide how technology and digital tools are 
leveraged by The NGC Group to achieve its 
business objectives. 

Central to that Technology Strategy is the SAP 
S/4 HANA enterprise resource planning (ERP) 
software. In 2021, NGC executed a contract 
with SAP Puerto Rico for implementation 
of this system. Based on its functionalities, 
SAP S/4 HANA will modernise business 
processes across the organisation in areas 
such as Finance and Accounting, Supply 
Chain Management, Project and Portfolio 
Management, Operations and Maintenance, 
and Commercial Pricing and Contracts, 
among others. 

33
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The Technology Strategy also focuses 
heavily on data as a strategic asset. This 
past year, NGC recruited personnel skilled 
in data management and drafted a data 
strategy to help the organisation leverage 
data and data analytics. Work was also 
begun on architecture for a corporate data 
warehouse to support data visualisation and 
aid management in decision-making.

Alongside these initiatives, several digital 
transformation projects were started in 2021 
and will continue into 2022, including:

•	 Electronic Management of Change 
system: An online system that will 
facilitate the capture, storage, approval, 
tracking and reporting of data regarding 
modifications to facility design, 
operation, organisation and activities. 
The system will support compliance 
with industry standards for risk-based 
process safety.

•	 Land Information Management 
system: A software platform for 

administration of land management 
tasks related to NGC’s pipeline and 
other assets. The system will allow 
for more efficient, reliable workflows 
and reduction of risk exposure to the 
company.

•	 Control of Work Tracking system: An 
online system for capturing, tracking 
and reporting on Control of Work 
look-ahead schedules, permits to work 
and long-term isolations related to 
execution of maintenance work across 
NGC’s facilities. The system will improve 
risk management during maintenance 
processes.

•	 Enterprise Content Management 
system: An online system for managing 
the entire lifecycle of documents, 
images, video and other media. The 
ECM will serve as a single repository 
for corporate records and information, 
allowing for creation, storage, retrieval 
and archival of content using a 
centralised user interface. 

Resourcing for Change (continued)
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Building a 
Sustainable Future 
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Building a 
Sustainable Future (continued)

GREENING THE BUSINESS

Natural gas is the cleanest burning fossil fuel, 
but its production and use still contribute to 
the carbon problem. To reduce the impact of 
our business, we are focusing on emissions 
management. 

Methane mitigation
Our campaign to reduce our methane 
output continued through 2021 with the 
integration of new technology into our 
workflows. Satellite data and a Forward 
Looking Infrared (FLIR) optical imaging 
camera are helping us manage fugitive 
emissions through leak detection. Our 
entire Asset Integrity Management (AIM) 
programme also supports this agenda, as 
proactive asset maintenance and repair 
prevent vulnerabilities from deteriorating 
into leaks. 

Taking a step further, in May 2021, we 
officially joined the global Oil and Gas 
Methane Partnership (OGMP). OGMP 
member companies voluntarily commit 
to transparently reporting and reducing 
methane emissions in the oil and gas sector 
through a global standard for methane 
emissions reporting, measurement and 
control. 

This requires a transition to 

sustainable power sources, 

such as renewable energy, as 

well as accelerated greening of 

hydrocarbon-based value chains. 

As a gas business feeding gas-

based industries, NGC is working 

to reduce its own carbon output 

and that of the wider energy 

sector. We are also keeping the 

UN Sustainable Development 

Goals top of mind in the 

management of our corporate 

social investments.

Sustainable development 
is the only acceptable 
formula for growth — the 
needs of today must not 
be met at the expense of 
future generations. 
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As a member company, NGC has set the 
following performance targets in alignment 
with the OGMP Framework:

We are also aspiring to the OGMP ‘Gold 
Standard’ of reporting — the most 
comprehensive level of emissions reporting 
under the Framework — which we aim to 
achieve within three years for our operated 
assets and five years for our non-operated 
assets.

Carbon Sequestration
As we work in earnest to lower our carbon 
footprint, carbon sequestration projects  —  
such as reforestation initiatives — can help 
offset those harder-to-abate emissions.

In keeping with our corporate ‘no net 
loss’ philosophy, NGC initiated a large-
scale reforestation programme  in 2005 to 
replant areas of land cleared during pipeline 
construction activities. We have since 
restored 315 hectares in the southern site 
communities of Rousillac, Mayaro, Rio Claro, 
Moruga and Guapo/Parrylands.   

Per the results of a carbon sequestration 
study conducted by The University of the 
West Indies (UWI) at our project sites,  our 
planted trees have sequestered over 2,885 
metric tons of pure carbon — or 10,589 
metric tons of carbon dioxide — from the 
atmosphere (2020 estimate). That carbon 
capture and storage will progressively 
increase as the trees continue to grow.

In addition to its ecological benefits, our 
reforestation project design and execution 
allowed for empowerment of groups in 
project communities and creation of longer-
term employment opportunities.

The programme’s success notwithstanding, 
NGC has recognised there are unleveraged 
opportunities to extract greater value 
for country from our replanted forests, 
particularly through the integration of 
agroforestry and eco-tourism components. 
As such, we are currently pursuing the 
expansion of our reforestation exercise into 
a programme called ‘Beyond 315’, which is 
expected to take shape in 2022.
    

REDUCTION IN OVERALL 
GREENHOUSE GAS (GHG) 
EMISSIONS BY 2025, COMPARED 
TO 2021 (BASE YEAR)

IN VENTING METHANE 
EMISSIONS BY 2025, COMPARED 

TO 2021 (BASE YEAR) 

AN OVERALL REDUCTION OF

IN FUGITIVE METHANE BY 2025, 
COMPARED TO 2021 (BASE YEAR) 

AN OVERALL REDUCTION OF



Building a 
Sustainable Future (continued)

GREENING THE SECTOR

GHG emissions are a 
systemic problem and 
their mitigation demands 
collaborative action across 
our sector. NGC and its 
subsidiaries have been 
actively engaging with 
other energy companies to 
help galvanise the domestic 
industry response to climate 
change.

PLEA Green Agenda Sub-Committee
NGC recognised the need for a forum for 
energy companies to share best practices  
and provide mutual support on green 
agenda action items to ultimately reduce 
the cumulative emissions output of the 
industrial sector. At the July 2021 meeting 
of Point Lisas Energy Association (PLEA) 
executives, NGC tabled the suggestion that 
a sub-committee be formed to lead PLEA 
sustainability and green agenda actions, 
and coordinate synergies among member 
companies. This suggestion was accepted 
and NGC was invited to be first chair of the 
sub-committee. 

As chair, NGC has been guiding the sub-
committee through its first task of developing 
a charter that delineates the sustainability 
commitments of all PLEA members. Work on 
this item has extended into 2022.

Atlantic Low Carbon Project
The LNG business is currently a major 
local contributor to carbon dioxide (CO2)
emissions. The Atlantic LNG Company of 
Trinidad and Tobago (Atlantic) is working to 
reduce GHG intensity levels at its facilities 
through a series of technology upgrades, 
process improvements and collaborative 
work with its shareholders. NGC has been 
actively involved in this project, working 
alongside major shareholders bpTT and 
Shell to share knowledge and best practices  
with Atlantic with respect to emissions 
management. 

Among the outputs of the work programme 
was a specific GHG Marginal Abatement 
Cost Curve (MACC) for Atlantic. This provides 
technical solutions and estimated capital 
costs for different levels of GHG abatement  
and will guide a staged approach to GHG 
reduction at the facility.

CO2 Enhanced Oil Recovery (CO2-EOR)
Under the right conditions, CO2-EOR is a 
process that can enable production of net 
carbon-neutral or even carbon-negative oil  
by injecting (and effectively sequestering) 
CO2 into wells to facilitate extraction of 
crude. In 2021, the Government appointed 
a Steering Committee to explore this option 
for the domestic industry. Its initial role is to 
help identify fields of Heritage Petroleum 
Company Limited in the Point Fortin 
central area that would be suitable for CO2-
EOR and to help conceptualise a carbon-
neutral/negative project to capture CO2 and 
transport it to the fields for well injection. 
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(Left to Right) Mr. Anthony Holder, Director, NewGen Energy Limited; Dr. Vernon Paltoo, President, National
Energy; Mr. Mark Loquan, President, NGC; Mr. Philip Julien, Chairman, Kenesjay Green Limited
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NGC has representation on this Committee, 
which will bring the perspective of the 
downstream producer to the conversation 
and provide expert guidance regarding 
pipeline construction and operating costs.

Super ESCO project
Energy Service Companies (ESCOs) are 
entities which help businesses improve 
their energy performance through energy 
audits, systems upgrades and monitoring 
and verification. A Super ESCO is a body 
which drives creation of an ESCO industry 
by lowering transaction costs and 
identifying energy-saving opportunities for 
implementation by ESCOs.

Recognising that energy efficiency is the 
easiest and cheapest carbon abatement 
strategy to implement at the industrial level, 
National Energy advanced groundwork on 
its Super ESCO project in 2021, with the goal 
of helping light industrial consumers reduce 

their carbon output. The aim is to pilot the 
programme in 2022, engaging stakeholders 
from the finance sector, government and 
private energy service companies.

GREENING T&T

To support the incubation of green energy 
industries in Trinidad and Tobago, The NGC 
Group is partnering with local stakeholders 
to deliver several pioneering projects.

Green Hydrogen
In February 2021, NGC and National Energy 
signed an Memorandum of Understanding 
(MOU) with Kenesjay Green Limited (KGL) 
to work collaboratively on the creation 
of a sustainable hydrogen economy for 
the energy sector of Trinidad and Tobago. 
Under the MOU, all parties will explore 
the development of viable, low-carbon 
and green hydrogen-related industrial 
energy projects, along with their associated 
renewable and energy-efficient feedstock 
supply.



Following this MOU, in September 2021, 
National Energy and the Inter-American 
Development Bank (IDB) officially started 
implementation of a cooperative technical 
study around the “Establishment of a Green 
Hydrogen Market in Trinidad and Tobago.” 
The report is due to be completed in 2022, and 
will provide a roadmap for decarbonisation 
of the energy-based industries in Trinidad 
and Tobago. 

Solar Power
National Energy has been involved in 
numerous solar power projects, the latest of 
which was installation of a 100 kW rooftop 
solar array to power the operations of the 
new multi-fuel station at the Couva/Preysal 
roundabout. 

The first of its kind in Trinidad and Tobago, 
the Preysal service station was completed in 
2021 through the joint efforts of NGC CNG 
Company Limited (NGC CNG), the National 
Petroleum Marketing Company Limited (NP) 
and National Energy. It is equipped with 20 
filling spots — 10 for CNG and 10 for liquid 
fuel — as well as two spots for electric vehicle 

(EV) charging. Its distinguishing feature is 
its canopy, outfitted with 320 solar panels 
for powering station lighting, liquid fuel 
dispensing and EV charging ports. 

National Energy was charged with installing 
the solar infrastructure at this facility — a task 
complicated by pandemic restrictions and 
disruptions. Nevertheless, the project was 
successfully completed and  establishes a 
model for integration of renewable energy 
at public facilities. In fact, National Energy 
is working with the Government towards 
installation of similar systems at schools and 
community centres that serve as emergency 
shelters.

In support of another groundbreaking 
project, the company also executed an 
Option-to-Lease Agreement with Brechin 
Castle Solar Limited in December 2021, for 
land located at Brechin Castle, Couva. The 
land will be prepared by National Energy 
to facilitate the construction of the Brechin 
Castle Solar Farm by Lightsource bp, bp and 
Shell. Earmarked for completion in 2023, the 
facility is expected to produce 92 megawatts 
(MW) of power for the national grid.

Rooftop solar array at Preysal Service Station, installed by National Energy

Building a 
Sustainable Future (continued)
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PARTNERING FOR CLEANER ENERGY: (Left to Right) President, National Energy, Dr. Vernon Paltoo; President, 
NGC, Mr. Mark Loquan; Chairman, The NGC Group, Mr. Conrad Enill; CEO, SWMCOL, Mr. Kevin Thompson; 
Hon. Minister of Energy and Energy Industries, Mr. Stuart Young; Hon. Minister of Public Utilities, Mr. Marvin 
Gonzales; Chairman, SWMCOL, Mr. Ronald Milford; President, NGC CNG, Mr. Curtis Mohammed
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Landfill Gas
In Trinidad and Tobago, more than 1.5 
MT of solid waste is generated annually. 
On decomposition, this waste releases 
significant quantities of methane. If captured 
and processed, this methane or Landfill Gas 
(LFG) can be a commercially viable energy 
source.

In September 2021, NGC and members of 
The Group, — NGC CNG Company Limited 
and National Energy Corporation of Trinidad 
and Tobago Limited — signed an MOU 
with the Trinidad and Tobago Solid Waste 
Management Company Limited (SWMCOL) 
to explore opportunities for capturing and 
commercialising gas from local landfills. 

Through this MOU, the parties will identify 
and quantify landfill gas emissions for 
existing landfills, explore existing and new 
infrastructure requirements to facilitate 
transportation and commercialisation of 
extracted landfill gas volumes, and explore 
opportunities for utilisation of the derived 

renewable compressed natural gas as an 
alternative transportation fuel for vehicles. 
Specifically, the captured methane emissions 
can potentially be used to fuel SWMCOL’s 
fleet of vehicles and other official government 
fleets. It is expected that this initiative will 
contribute to Trinidad and Tobago’s energy 
transition journey and create new revenue 
streams for the country.

Methanol
The combustion of pure methanol has 
no nitrogen oxide (NOx) or sulphur oxide 
(SOx) emissions and very low particulate 
matter (PM) and carbon dioxide (CO2) 
emissions compared to other fossil fuels. This 
makes it a prime fuel candidate to support 
decarbonisation efforts, particularly in the 
transportation sector.  

NGC is a committed partner of the 
Government of the Republic of Trinidad and 
Tobago (GORTT) in the campaign to reduce 
nationwide carbon emissions. 
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The NGC Group has in fact been promoting 
cleaner alternative fuels through the work 
of NGC CNG since 2013. Recognising the 
opportunity to introduce another clean fuel 
option into the market, subsidiary National 
Energy signed an MOU with Methanex 
Trinidad Limited in September 2021 to jointly 
study the feasibility of using methanol as a 
transportation fuel. 

Specifically, the study is investigating 
whether domestically produced methanol 
can substitute for imported diesel and 
heavy fuel oils in marine transportation 
across the Caribbean and whether it can 
be a viable vehicular fuel in Trinidad and 
Tobago. Preliminary work is expected to be 
completed at the end of 2022.  

CariGreen
Among the many active projects on NGC’s 
green agenda, education and knowledge-
sharing initiatives are some of the most 
critical to achieving global climate and 
energy goals. We believe that connecting 

people with information is half the battle 
won as it equips them with tools needed to 
take action. 

Following the launch of our NGC Energy 
SmarTT consumer-oriented app in 
2020, NGC undertook development of 
another public-education resource to 
raise awareness around clean energy and 
energy efficiency in the Caribbean. In June 
2021, NGC launched a digital information 
hub called CariGreen, which aims to bring 
learning resources about Caribbean energy 
into one platform. Visitors to the site  
(www.carigreen.ngc.co.tt) can find answers 
to questions about planned, potential and 
operational clean energy projects in the 
Caribbean; utility and policy infrastructure; 
technology updates; emissions reduction 
strategies; market information and an 
extensive bank of academic reports and data 
to inform research and development.  

The content on the site is drawn from a variety 
of authoritative sources or hub partners. 

Building a 
Sustainable Future (continued)
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As at 2021, these included: 

•	 Economic Commission for Latin America 
and the Caribbean (UN ECLAC) 

•	 Caribbean Centre for Renewable Energy  
& Energy Efficiency (CCREEE) 

•	 Inter-American Development Bank  
(IDB) 

•	 International Renewable Energy 
	 Agency  (IRENA)

•	 Ministry of Planning of Trinidad  
and Tobago

•	 Institute of Marine Affairs (IMA)

•	 Maritime Technology Cooperation 
Centre (MTCC)

•	 Ministry of Energy and Energy 
Industries of Trinidad and Tobago

By collating research papers, articles and 
data to drive investment decisions into 
one site, we hope that more green energy 
projects can be conceptualised and brought 
to fruition across the region. 

IMPACT BEYOND ENERGY

For years, NGC has managed its Corporate 
Social Responsibility (CSR) projects through 
the Corporate Communications Division 
(CCD). As the Company assimilates the ethos 
of sustainability into its business strategy 
and corporate philosophy, a decision was 
taken to rebrand the CCD as the Corporate 
Sustainability Division (CSD). This change not 
only reflects the broader organisational pivot  
but the attendant evolution of the Division’s 
focus as well.

NGC continues to sponsor and support 
a variety of organisations, groups and 
social causes across the country. However, 
we are now prioritising investments 
that build capacity or support longer-
term environmental and socio-economic 
sustainability. Among our major CSR projects 
in 2021 were:

•	 Continued support of literacy and the 
literary arts through sponsorship of the 
NGC Bocas Lit Fest and its latest calendar 
addition — the NGC Bocas Youth Fest

•	 Continued support of track and field 
through partnership with the National 
Association of Athletics Administrations 
(NAAA) on the Youth Elite Programme and 
virtual training initiatives

•	 Collaboration with the NGC Trinidad 
and Tobago Sweet Tassa group on a 
pioneering tassa instruction manual

•	 Ongoing collaboration with the Ministry 
of Sport and Community Development 
on the rollout of the National Policy on 
Sustainable Community Development 
(NPSCD) in La Brea
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In 2021, we also placed food security on the 
agenda. We are scanning for opportunities to 
leverage our technology —  such as satellite 
surveillance, drones and our Geospatial 
Information Services (GIS) tools — to assist 
with rehabilitating the local agricultural 
sector. 

To address the need for strategic guidance 
of these projects, this past year we created 
and filled a new staff position in the CSD to 
manage sustainability as a functional area. 
Given the company-wide push to integrate 
sustainability into all business units and 

Building a 
Sustainable Future (continued)

functions, the responsibilities of the Assistant 
Manager of Sustainability extend beyond 
the CSD. The incumbent is leading processes 
to embed sustainability into our corporate 
culture and partnerships, spearheading 
certain Green Agenda initiatives and 
developing metrics to expand the ambit of 
NGC’s sustainability reporting, inter alia.  

With support from this new office, NGC will 
be building its annual Sustainability Report 
into a more data-driven publication, which 
is closely aligned to the international Global 
Reporting Initiative (GRI) standards. 
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Media Highlights
Daily Express  FEB 2021

Trinidad Guardian APR 2021

Newsday  MAY 2021

Newsday  MAY 2021

Daily Express  MAY 2021

Express FEB 2021
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IzzSo JUN 2021 Loop News AUG 2021

Daily Express AUG 2021 Trinidad Guardian AUG 2021

Trinidad Guardian  AUG 2021

Media Highlights (continued)
Who’s Who  MAY 2021
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Newsday  AUG 2021

Daily Express AUG 2021

Trinidad Guardian SEP 2021

Daily Express NOV 2021
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Loop News NOV 2021

Newsday  DEC 2021 Newsday  JAN 2022

Trinidad Guardian  DEC 2021

Media Highlights (continued)
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Legal Structure
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Directors’ Report
Year Ended 31 December 2021

The Directors are pleased to submit their Report to the Shareholders together with the Financial 
Statements for the year ended 31 December 2021.

1. 	 BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

The National Gas Company of Trinidad and Tobago Limited (the “Company” or “NGC”) whose 
core business includes the aggregation and distribution of natural gas also has interests across the 
gas value chain with Investments in the Upstream, Midstream and Downstream. Additionally, the 
Company provides services to the Energy Sector through its Estates, Ports and Marine Assets. 

2.	 FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group recorded a profit of TT$2.6B for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 as compared 
to a loss of TT$2.1B in 2020. The improvement in performance was driven by a rebound in commodity 
prices which resulted in higher gross margins and lower provisions which had a positive impact on 
2021performance. As a result of gains, Profit before tax improved by TT$8.1B, moving from loss 
of TT$3.2B in 2020 to profit of TT$4.9B in 2021. Consequently, taxation increased by TT$3.4B and 
Group performance moved from a loss of TT$2.1B in 2020 to a net profit of TT$2.6B in 2021.

The Company’s financial results for the year ended 31 December 2021 are as follows:
			                  

		  2021	     2020
		  $’000	  $’000

Revenue		  23,608,547	 11,413,901

Profit before exceptional items, finance cost
and share of associate 	         	 3,351,105	         1,200,665
Exceptional items                 		  1,660,403     	  (4,189,642)    

Profit/(loss) before finance cost and share of associate 	 5,011,148 	  (2,988,977)
Share of loss from associate	                            	      48,915        	    (39,185)
Finance cost	       	      (201,132)	    (161,743)

Profit/(loss) before taxation	     	 4,858,931	        (3,189,905)
Taxation	                   	   (2,290,300)   	       1,055,302

Profit/(loss) for the year after taxation	     	    2,568,631	        (2,134,603)

Total other comprehensive income/(loss) for 
the year, net of tax		  447,661	  (1,239,452)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year   	 3,016,292	      (3,374,055

3.	 DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors of NGC comprised the following members as between January 2021 and 
December 31, 2021:

• Mr. Conrad Enill – (Chairman) 
• Mr. Kenneth Allum 
• Mr. Sean Balkissoon 
• Ms. Sandra Fraser 
• Mr. Mark Loquan 
• Mr. Dan Martineau 
• Mr. Howard Dottin

The NGC Board held fourteen (14) Meetings for the period 01 January to 31 December 2021.
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Also, the following Board Sub-Committees continued to assist in formulating and guiding the business 
and policies of the Company. 

(a)	 The Audit Committee comprised the following Members as at December 31, 2021:

• Mr. Howard Dottin – (Chairman) 
• Ms. Sandra Fraser 
• Mr. Kenneth Allum 
• Mr. Lester Herbert (Representative from the Ministry of Finance)

The Audit Committee held four (4) Meetings in 2021.

(b) 	 Finance and Investment Committee comprised the following Members as at December 31, 2021:

• Mr. Dan Martineau – (Chairman)
• Mr. Conrad Enill
• Howard Dottin 

The Finance and Investment Committee held four (4) Meetings in 2021.

(c) 	 Tenders Committee comprised the following Members as at December 31, 2021:

•	 Mr. Sean Balkissoon – Chairman (was appointed Chairman of the TC with effect from February 08, 2021)
• Mr. Kenneth Allum
• Mr. Dan Martineau

The Tenders Committee held five (5) Meetings in 2021.

(d) 	 Human Resources Committee comprised the following Members as at December 31, 2021:

• Mr. Conrad Enill – (Chairman) 
• Mr. Sean Balkissoon
• Mr. Kenneth Allum was appointed with effect from February 08, 2021 

	The Human Resources Committee held three (3) Meetings in 2021.

(e)	 Operations Committee comprised the following Members as at December 31, 2021:      
•	 Mr. Sean Balkissoon – (Chairman) demitted office as Chairman/Member of the OC with effect  
  from February 08, 2021.  Reappointed as a Member of the OC with effect from February 24, 2021 
•	 Mr. Kenneth Allum-Member was appointed Chairman of the OC with effect from February 08, 2021 
• Mr. Conrad Enill

The Operations Committee held ten (10) meetings in 2021.
 
(f)   	Sustainable Development and Strategic Branding Committee comprised the following Members 

as at December 31, 2021:      
• Mr. Conrad Enill – (Chairman) 
• Mr. Sean Balkissoon 
• Mr. Kenneth Allum 
•	 Ms. Sandra Fraser – Demitted office as a Member of the SDSBC with effect from May 25, 2021 
•	 Mr. Howard Dottin – Demitted office as a Member of the SDSBC with effect from May 25, 2021
• Mr. Dan Martineau – Demitted office as a Member of the SDSBC with effect from May 25, 2021 

The Sustainable Development and Strategic Branding Committee held five (5) Meetings in 2021.

4.	 DIVIDENDS

The Directors declared a dividend of TT$329.55 million for the financial year. 

5.	 AUDITORS

The Auditors, Deloitte & Touché term has ended and recruitment of auditors is in progress. 



54

Financial Statements



55

Financial Statements



56

THE NATIONAL GAS COMPANY OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO LIMITED

Statement of management’s responsibilities

Management is responsible for the following:

•	 Preparing and fairly presenting the accompanying consolidated financial statements of The 
National Gas Company of Trinidad and Tobago Limited, (‘the Company’) and its subsidiaries 
(together the ‘Group’), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 
December 2021, the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information;

•	 Ensuring that the Company keeps proper accounting records;
•	 Selecting appropriate accounting policies and applying them in a consistent manner;
•	 Implementing, monitoring and evaluating the system of internal control that assures security of 

the Company’s assets, detection/prevention of fraud, and the achievement of the Company’s 
operational efficiencies;

•	 Ensuring that the system of internal control operated effectively during the reporting period;
•	 Producing reliable financial reporting that comply with laws and regulations; and 
•	 Using reasonable and prudent judgement in the determination of estimates.

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management utilised the International Financial 
Reporting Standards, as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and adopted by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Trinidad and Tobago.  Where International Financial Reporting 
Standards presented alternative accounting treatments, management chose those considered most 
appropriate in the circumstances.

Nothing has come to the attention of management to indicate that the Parent will not remain a going 
concern for the next twelve months from the reporting date; or up to the date; the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements have been authorised for issue, if later.

Management affirms that it has carried out its responsibilities as outlined above.
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Deloitte & Touche 
54 Ariapita Avenue  
Woodbrook, Port of Spain  
170309 
Trinidad and Tobago  

Tel: +1 (868) 628 1256 
Fax:+1 (868) 628 6566 
www.deloitte.com/tt

Deloitte refers to one or more of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited (“DTTL”), its global network of member firms, and their related entities (collectively, the 
“Deloitte organization”). DTTL (also referred to as “Deloitte Global”) and each of its member firms and related entities are legally separate and independent entities, 
which cannot obligate or bind each other in respect of third parties. DTTL and each DTTL member firm and related entity is liable only for its own acts and omissions, 
and not those of each other. DTTL does not provide services to clients. Please see www.deloitte.com/about to learn more.  DDeellooiittttee  &&  TToouucchhee  is an affiliate of DCB 
Holding Ltd., a member firm of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited. 
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IInnddeeppeennddeenntt  aauuddiittoorrss’’  rreeppoorrtt 
ttoo  tthhee  sshhaarreehhoollddeerr  ooff  TThhee  NNaattiioonnaall  GGaass  CCoommppaannyy  ooff  TTrriinniiddaadd  aanndd  TToobbaaggoo  LLiimmiitteedd  

RReeppoorrtt  oonn  tthhee  aauuddiitt  ooff  ccoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  ffiinnaanncciiaall  ssttaatteemmeennttss  

OOppiinniioonn    
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of The National Gas Company of Trinidad and Tobago 
Limited (the ‘Company’), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, 
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of 
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2021, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’). 

BBaassiiss  ffoorr  OOppiinniioonn    
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (‘ISAs’). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (‘IESBA Code’), and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

IInnffoorrmmaattiioonn  OOtthheerr  tthhaann  tthhee  CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  FFiinnaanncciiaall  SSttaatteemmeennttss  aanndd  AAuuddiittoorrss’’  RReeppoorrtt  
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information obtained at the date of this auditors’ 
report comprises the information included in the annual report, which is expected to be made available to us after 
the date of this auditors’ report. Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other 
information and we will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this auditors’ 
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that 
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance. 

RReessppoonnssiibbiilliittiieess  ooff  MMaannaaggeemmeenntt  aanndd  TThhoossee  CChhaarrggeedd  wwiitthh  GGoovveerrnnaannccee  ffoorr  tthhee  CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  FFiinnaanncciiaall  SSttaatteemmeennttss  
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
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IInnddeeppeennddeenntt  aauuddiittoorrss’’  rreeppoorrtt  ((ccoonnttiinnuueedd)) 
ttoo  tthhee  sshhaarreehhoollddeerr  ooff  TThhee  NNaattiioonnaall  GGaass  CCoommppaannyy  ooff  TTrriinniiddaadd  aanndd  TToobbaaggoo  LLiimmiitteedd  

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s 
financial reporting process. 

AAuuddiittoorrss’’  RReessppoonnssiibbiilliittiieess  ffoorr  tthhee  AAuuddiitt  ooff  tthhee  CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  FFiinnaanncciiaall  SSttaatteemmeennttss    
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit. We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this Independent Auditors’ report is Daryl Walcott-Grappie 
(ICATT#1248). 

5 August 2022 
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THE NATIONAL GAS COMPANY OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO LIMITED

Consolidated statement of financial position 
As at 31 December 2021
(Amounts expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars)

		  2021	 2020
		   $’000 	  $’000 
ASSETS	 Notes		

Non-current assets			 
	
Property, plant and equipment	 5	  14,421,562 	 14,257,985 
Investment properties	 6	  471,245 	 498,456 
Other intangible assets	 7	  127,212 	 129,015 
Right-of-use assets	 8	  94,286 	  138,087 
Goodwill	 9	  2,413,822 	 2,420,520 
Investment in associates	 10	  353,069 	  324,052 
Loans receivable	 11	  3,648,702 	 3,685,904 
Other financial assets	 12	  3,900,489 	 3,638,134 
Net investment in leased assets 	 8	  164,865 	  172,120 
Deferred tax asset	 13	  2,102,262 	 2,414,658 
Contract assets	 14	  1,484 	  1,960 
Pension asset	 27	  88,364 	  -   
Total non-current assets		   27,787,362 	 27,680,891 
			 
Current assets	
Cash 	 15	  5,218,147 	 3,407,459 
Short-term investments 	 16	  648,634 	 2,016,037 
Loans receivable 	 11	  54,965 	  136,264 
Net investment in leased assets 	 8	  25,755 	  17,799 
Accounts receivable	 17	  6,430,820 	 3,054,060 
Sundry debtors and prepayments	 18	  709,109 	 896,619 
Inventories	 19	  542,921 	 319,763 
Contract assets	 14	  6,117 	  9,475 
Income taxes receivable		   536,683 	 594,682 
Total current assets		   14,173,151 	 10,452,158 
	
Total assets		   41,960,513 	 38,133,049 	
		
			   Continued...
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THE NATIONAL GAS COMPANY OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO LIMITED

Consolidated statement of financial position (continued)
As at 31 December 2021
(Amounts expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars)

		  2021	 2020
		   $’000 	  $’000 
	 Notes
SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 			 

Shareholder’s equity			 
Share capital 	 20	  1,855,266 	 1,855,266 
Reserve fund 	 21	  438,192 	 438,192 
Other reserves	 22	  4,132,107 	 4,242,781 
Retained earnings		   15,626,460 	 13,032,618 
Total equity attributable to owners of the parent		   22,052,025 	 19,568,857 
Non-controlling interest	 41	  2,654,861 	 2,504,716 
Total shareholder’s equity		   24,706,886 	 22,073,573 
	
Non-current liabilities			 
Deferred tax liability	 13	  3,133,771 	 2,817,814 
Borrowings	 23	  2,264,007 	 2,263,572 
Contract liabilities	 24	  82,502 	 91,786 
Lease liability	 8	  72,145 	  112,137 
Provisions	 25	  5,889,682 	 6,812,659 
Post-retirement, medical and group life obligation	 26	  154,725 	 197,658 
Pension obligation	 27	  - 	 32,720 
Total non-current liabilities	 	  11,596,832 	  12,328,346 
	
Current liabilities			 
Trade payables	 28	  4,532,229 	 1,978,713 
Sundry payables and accruals	 29	  468,004 	 914,640 
Borrowings	 23	  63,699 	 109,156 
Contract liabilities	 24	  79,106 	 65,391 
Lease liability	 8	  17,736 	  30,283 
Provisions	 25	  212,977 	  617,771 
Income taxes payable 		   283,044 	 15,176 
Total current liabilities		   5,656,795 	  3,731,130 
Total liabilities		   17,253,627 	  16,059,476 
Total equity and liabilities		   41,960,513 	 38,133,049 

 The accompany notes on pages 64 to 145 form an integral part of these consolidated financial  
statements.

The consolidated financial statements of The National Gas Company of Trinidad and Tobago Limited 
were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 25 July 2022.
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THE NATIONAL GAS COMPANY OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO LIMITED

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 December 2021
(Amounts expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars)

		  2021	 2020
	 Notes	  $’000 	  $’000 

Sales	 30	  23,608,547 	 11,413,901 
Cost of sales	 30	  (18,927,185)	 (10,078,419)
 			 
Gross profit		   4,681,362 	 1,335,482 
	
Other income	 31	  180,271 	 181,871 
Interest and investment income	 32	  262,289 	 523,685 
Gain on disposal of interest in asset	 33	  10,997 	  -   
Administrative, maintenance & general expenses	 34	  (691,593)	 (1,713,515)
Change in provision for economic losses	 35	  1,368,717 	  (1,784,312)
Impairment expense	 36	  (800,895)	 (1,532,188)
Finance costs	 37	  (201,132)	 (161,743)
Share of profit/(loss) from associates	 38	  48,915 	  (39,185)
Profit/(loss) for the year before taxation		   4,858,931 	 (3,189,905)
Taxation	 39	  (2,290,300)	 1,055,302 
Profit/(loss) for the year after taxation		   2,568,631 	 (2,134,603)
		
Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of taxes:			 
Items that will not be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss				  
Re-measurement of net defined 
asset/liability net of income tax		   113,798 	  21,794 
Revaluation loss on pipeline net of income tax		   -   	  (878,506)
Net unrealised gain/(loss) on equity 
instruments designated at fair value 
through other comprehensive income                            		   279,904 	  (401,523)
Foreign currency translation differences		   57,278 	 18,647 
		   450,980 	 (1,239,588)
Items that may be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss			 
Net unrealised (loss)/gain on debt instruments 
at fair value through other comprehensive income 		   (3,319)	 136 
Total other comprehensive income/(loss) for the			 
year, net of tax		   447,661 	 (1,239,452)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year		   3,016,292 	 (3,374,055)

Profit/(loss) for the year after tax attributable to:			 
- Owners of the parent		  2,365,544 	 (2,088,252)
- Non-controlling interests		   203,087 	 (46,351)
		   2,568,631 	  (2,134,603)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, 	attributable to:			 
- Owners of the parent		  2,812,720 	 (3,304,969)
- Non-controlling interests		   203,572 	 (69,086)
		   3,016,292 	  (3,374,055)

The accompany notes on pages 64 to 145 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.	
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THE NATIONAL GAS COMPANY OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO LIMITED

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2021
(Amounts expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars)
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THE NATIONAL GAS COMPANY OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO LIMITED

Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2021
(Amounts expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars)

		  2021	 2020
	 Note	  $’000 	  $’000 
Cash flows from operating activities				  
	 	
Cash generated from operations	 40	  2,814,198 	  430,615 
Pension and other post-retirement 
contributions paid		   (28,065)	  (68,221)
Taxation paid		  (1,381,472)	  (603,101)
Taxation refunds received		   4,760 	  -   
Interest paid		   (162,435)	  (167,160)
Interest received		   234,282 	  293,640 
Net cash generated from/(used in) 
operating activities		   1,481,268 	  (114,227)
		
Cash flows from investing activities				  
		
Purchase of property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets		   (508,216)	 (284,393)
Purchase of capital assets and licences		   (484,727)	  (597,122)
Purchase of investment property		   (544)	  (1,357)
Proceeds from disposal of 
property plant and equipment		   115,874 	  7 
Purchase of investments		   (603,446)	  (3,927,036)
Maturity of investments		  2,021,991 	  4,847,592 
Repayment of loans 		   136,593 	  190,901 
Dividends received		  57,500 	 17,936 
Net cash generated from investing activities		  735,025 	  246,528 
		
Cash flow from financing activities				  
Repayment of borrowings		  (45,442)	 (199,065)
Lease payments		  (38,776)	 (21,433)
Dividends paid		  (382,964)	  (158,955)
Net cash used in financing activities	 	 (467,182)	 (379,453)
				  
Net increase/(decrease) in cash 		  1,749,111 	  (247,152)
				  
Net foreign exchange difference on cash balances		   61,577 	  48,909 
				  
Cash at beginning of year		   3,407,459 	  3,605,702 

Cash at end of year		   5,218,147 	  3,407,459 
			 
	

The accompany notes on pages 64 to 145 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.	
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THE NATIONAL GAS COMPANY OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO LIMITED

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2021
(Amounts expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars)

1.	 Corporate information

	 The National Gas Company of Trinidad and Tobago Limited (the ‘Company or ‘NGC’) and subsidiaries 
(together the ‘Group’) is involved in all stages of the gas value chain.  The Group holds investments in the 
upstream, midstream and downstream sector and also owns port and industrial estates to support the 
petrochemical sector and industrial development. The National Gas Company of Trinidad and Tobago 
Limited is wholly owned by the Government of the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago (the ‘GORTT’). The 
Company’s registered office is located at Orinoco Drive, Point Lisas Industrial Estate, Point Lisas, Trinidad. 

2.	 Significant accounting policies
	

	 2.1    Statement of compliance 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

2.2	 Basis of preparation
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis, except for 
offshore plant and equipment, pipelines & related facilities which have been revalued and financial 
instruments which are measured at fair value.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods 
and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price 
is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of 
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market 
participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the 
measurement date. 

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 
or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the 
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows: 

•	 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that 
the entity can access at the measurement date;

•	 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

•	 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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THE NATIONAL GAS COMPANY OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO LIMITED

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2021
(Amounts expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars)

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.3	 Basis of consolidation

1)	 Subsidiaries

A subsidiary Company is an entity controlled by the Group.  Control is achieved when the 
Group: 
(i)	 has power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to 
	 direct the relevant activities of the investee);
(ii)	 has exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; 
	 and 
(iii)	 has the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the 
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over 
an investee, including:

•	 The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
•	 Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 
•	 The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate 
that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control as stated above.  
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and 
ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses 
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Company 
gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary. 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the 
equity holders of the Company and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the 
non-controlling interest having a deficit balance. The financial statements of subsidiaries are 
prepared for the same reporting period as the Parent, using consistent accounting policies. 

Non-controlling interests (NCI) are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets at the date of acquisition.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for 
as an equity transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it; 

•	 Derecognises the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the 
subsidiary;

•	 Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests;
•	 Recognises the fair value of any investment retained;
•	 Reclassifies to profit or loss or to retained earnings, as appropriate, the amounts 

recognised in OCI as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related 
assets or liabilities; and 

•	 Recognises any resulting difference as a gain or loss in the profit or loss attributable to 
the Parent.
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THE NATIONAL GAS COMPANY OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO LIMITED

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2021
(Amounts expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars)

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.3	 Basis of consolidation (continued)

 1)	 Subsidiaries (continued)

	 Non-controlling interests represents the interests not held by the Group in Phoenix Park Gas 
Processors Limited (‘PPGPL’), NGC NGL Company Limited (‘NGC NGL’), Trinidad and Tobago 
NGL Limited (‘TTNGL’), NGC Trinidad and Tobago LNG Company (‘NGC LNG’) and La Brea 
Industrial Development Company Limited (‘LABIDCO’).

2)	 Transactions eliminated on consolidation

	 All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to 
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

2.4	 Business combinations and goodwill

Business combination are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition 
is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date 
fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business 
combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair 
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.  Acquisition costs 
incurred are expensed and included in administrative expenses. 

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for 
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic 
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of 
embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s 
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date 
through profit or loss. 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at 
the acquisition date. If an obligation to pay contingent consideration that meets the definition of 
a financial instrument is classified as equity, then it is not remeasured, and settlement is accounted 
for within equity. Otherwise, other contingent consideration is remeasured at fair value at 
each reporting date and subsequent changes in fair value of the contingent consideration are 
recognised in profit and loss.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration 
transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling interest over the net identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is in 
excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group reassesses whether it has correctly 
identified all of the assets acquired and all the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures 
used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If this consideration is 
lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised 
in profit or loss. 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to 
benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree 
are assigned to those units. 
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THE NATIONAL GAS COMPANY OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO LIMITED

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2021
(Amounts expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars)

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.4	 Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that goodwill maybe 
impaired. If any such indication exists, or when impairment testing for an asset is required, the 
Group makes an estimate of the assets recoverable amount. The Group assesses at each reporting 
date whether there is an indication that goodwill maybe impaired. If any such indication exists, 
or when impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the assets 
recoverable amount.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit 
is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying 
amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation.  
Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the 
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 

2.5	 Investment in associates 

An associate is an entity over which the Company has significant influence. Significant influence 
is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is 
not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are incorporated in these 
consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting, except when the 
investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in 
accordance with IFRS 5 ‘Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations’.

Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated 
statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of 
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate. When the Group’s share of 
losses of an associate exceeds the Company’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the group’s net investment in the associate), the 
Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only 
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on 
behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which 
the investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an 
associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of 
the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included 
within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair 
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, 
is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise 
an impairment loss on its investment in its associate or joint venture. At each reporting date, the 
Group determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the associate or 
joint venture is impaired. 

If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference 
between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value, and then recognises 
the loss within ‘Share of profit of an associate’ in the statement of profit or loss. Any reversal of 
that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable 
amount of the investment subsequently increases.
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.5	 Investment in associates (continued)

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any 
retained investment at its fair value. 

Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence 
or joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is 
recognised in profit or loss. 

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment in an associate becomes 
an investment in a joint venture. There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in 
ownership interests.

The Group applies IFRS 9, including the impairment requirements, to long-term interests in an 
associate to which the equity method is not applied and which form part of the net investment 
in the investee.

 2.6	 Interest in joint arrangements 

(i)	 Investment in joint ventures

	 A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the 
arrangement, have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the 
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions 
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. 

	
	 The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are incorporated in these 

consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting, except when the 
investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for 
in accordance with IFRS 5 ‘Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations’. 

	 Under the equity method, an investment in a joint venture is initially recognised in the 
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the 
Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the joint venture. 
When the Group’s share of losses of a joint venture exceeds the Company’s interest in that 
joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the 
group’s net investment in the joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of 
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred 
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture.

	 An investment in a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date 
on which the investee becomes a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in a joint 
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value 
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is 
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of 
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, 
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the 
investment is acquired.

	 After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to 
recognise an impairment loss on its investment in its joint venture. At each reporting date, 
the Group determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the joint 
venture is impaired. 
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.6	 Interest in joint arrangements (continued)

(i)	 Investment in joint ventures (continued)

If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference 
between the recoverable amount of the associate or joint venture and its carrying value, and 
then recognises the loss within ‘Share of profit of a joint venture’ in the statement of profit 
or loss. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the 
extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

Upon loss of significant influence over the joint control over the joint venture, the Group 
measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value. 

Any difference between the carrying amount of the joint venture upon loss of significant 
influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from 
disposal is recognised in profit or loss. 

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment in a joint venture 
becomes an investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such 
changes in ownership interests.

The Group applies IFRS 9, including the impairment requirements, to long-term interests in 
a joint venture to which the equity method is not applied and which form part of the net 
investment in the investee.

(ii)	 Joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the 
arrangement have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the 
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, 
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of 
the parties sharing control.

When an entity undertakes its activities under joint operations, the Group as a joint operator 
recognises in relation to its interest in a joint operation:
•	 its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly; 
•	 its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly; 
•	 its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation; 
•	 its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and 
•	 its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to its interest 
in a joint operation in accordance with the IFRS applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, 
revenues and expenses. 

2.7	 Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets or disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will 
be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and 
are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. This condition 
is regarded as met only when the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its 
present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for sales of such asset (or 
disposal group) and its sale is highly probable. 

Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition 
as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.7	 Non-current assets held for sale (continued)

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the 
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria described 
above are met, regardless of whether the Group will retain a non-controlling interest in its former 
subsidiary after the sale.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving disposal of an investment, or a portion of 
an investment, in an associate or joint venture, the investment or the portion of the investment 
that will be disposed of is classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met, and 
the Group discontinues the use of the equity method in relation to the portion that is classified 
as held for sale. 

Any retained portion of an investment in an associate or a joint venture that has not been classified 
as held for sale continues to be accounted for using the equity method. 

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method at the time of disposal when the disposal 
results in the Group losing significant influence over the associate or joint venture.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of 
their previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

2.8	 Foreign currencies

The functional currency of the Group is the United States dollar (‘US$’) because the US$ is 
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group operates. The Group 
statutory consolidated financial statements are required to be presented in Trinidad & Tobago 
dollars (‘TT$’), therefore the presentation currency is the TT$. 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the functional currency using exchange 
rates ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the reporting 
date. Resulting exchange differences are recognised in income/expense for the year.
		
For the presentation of the financial statements in TT$ from the functional currency, assets and 
liabilities for each statement of financial position presented (including comparatives) are translated 
at the closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position. Income and expenses for 
each income statement (including comparatives) are translated at exchange rates at the dates 
of the transactions. All resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive 
income.

The closing rate at the reporting date was 6.7625 (2020: 6.7612) and the average rate for the year 
was 6.7572 (2020: 6.7503).
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.9	 Property, plant and equipment

Pipelines & related facilities are stated at their revalued amounts, less any subsequent accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. Generally, valuations are performed every five to seven 
years unless there is an indication that the fair value of a revalued asset differs materially from its 
carrying amount.

Increases arising on the revaluation of such pipelines and related facilities is recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, except to the extent that it reverses a 
revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss, in which case the 
increase is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously expensed. A decrease 
in the carrying amount arising on the revaluation of such pipelines and related facilities is 
recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the revaluation 
reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that asset.

Assets in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes are carried 
at cost, less recognised impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and, for qualifying assets, 
borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s policy. Such assets are classified to 
the appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment when completed and intended for 
use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other assets, commences when the assets 
are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation on revalued pipelines & related facilities is recognised in profit or loss. An annual 
transfer from the asset revaluation reserve to retained earnings is made for the difference 
between depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of the assets and depreciation 
based on the assets original cost. Additionally, accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation 
date is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is 
restated to the revalued amount of the asset. Upon disposal, any revaluation reserve relating 
to the particular asset being sold is transferred to retained earnings. On the subsequent sale or 
retirement of a revalued asset, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in the revaluation 
reserve is transferred directly to retained earnings.

Freehold land is not depreciated.

All other gas assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets less their residual 
values over their useful lives. The estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the 
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a 
prospective basis.

All property, plant and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method at the 
following rates:

Gas plant and other related assets 	 - 5%      	
Machinery and equipment 	 - 5%      	 - 20%
Marine infrastructural assets	 - 3%      	 - 20%
Pipelines and related facilities	 - 1.67% 	 - 20%
Other assets	 - 10%    	 - 50%
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.9	 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Development costs are recognised as an asset to the extent that it is expected to generate future 
economic benefits.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss 
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as 
a difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised 
in profit or loss.  

Oil and gas exploration, development and production assets

Property, plant and equipment includes capitalized costs related to exploration and evaluation 
expenditures, assets under construction and development. The Group capitalizes the initial 
acquisition costs of oil and gas properties. Impairment of initial acquisition costs is recognized 
based on exploratory experience and management judgement and charged to profit and loss as 
exploration expenses. Upon discovery of commercial reserves, acquisition costs are transferred 
to proved properties. The costs of drilling and equipping successful exploratory wells, all 
development expenditures on construction, installation or completion of infrastructure facilities 
such as platforms, pipelines, processing plants and the drilling of development wells and the 
building of enhanced recovery facilities, including those renewals and betterments that extend 
the economic lives of the assets are capitalized. The costs of unsuccessful exploratory wells and 
all other exploration costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group carries exploratory well costs as an asset when the well has found a sufficient 
quantity of reserves to justify its completion as a producing well and where the Group is making 
sufficient progress assessing the reserves and the economic and operating viability of the 
project. Exploratory well costs not meeting these criteria are charged to expenses. Exploratory 
wells that discover potentially economic reserves in areas where major capital expenditure will 
be required before production would begin and when the major capital expenditure depends 
upon the successful completion of further exploratory work remain capitalized and are reviewed 
periodically for impairment.

Producing oil and gas properties are depreciated on a unit of production basis. Drilling related 
assets are depreciated based over the proved developed reserves. Common facilities that are 
built specifically to service production directly attributed to designated oil and gas properties are 
depreciated over the total proved developed reserves of the respective oil and gas properties. 
Costs associated with significant development projects are not depreciated until commercial 
production commences and the reserves related to those costs are excluded from the calculation 
of depreciation. 

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is 
required (other than inventories and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.10	 Intangible assets

a)   Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets are depreciated using the straight-line method using a rate of 50%. Intangible 
assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method 
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate 
being accounted for on a prospective basis. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost 
less accumulated impairment losses.

b)  Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from 
goodwill are initially recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded 
as their cost). 

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with finite useful lives, acquired in a 
business combination are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

c)   Derecognition of intangible assets 

An intangible asset is derecognised when no future economic benefits are expected from 
use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured 
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, 
are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

2.11	 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and 
intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an 
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in 
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate 
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of 
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis 
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating 
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a 
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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2.11	 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill (continued)

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are 
tested for impairment at least annually and whenever there is an indication at the end of a 
reporting period that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its 
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the 
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a 
revaluation decrease.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a 
cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, so that 
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in 
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the 
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss 
is treated as a revaluation increase.

2.12	 Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including 
property under construction for such purposes). Investment properties are measured initially at 
cost, including transaction costs and subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation 
less impairment. Depreciation is provided on a straight line basis over the estimated economic 
useful lives of the assets at the following rates:

Fabrication yard	 3.33%
Development cost	 3.33% - 33.33%
Buildings	 3.33%

No depreciation is provided on freehold land.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is 
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from the 
disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or 
loss in the period in which the property is derecognised. 
	

2.13	 Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

a)   Current tax

Current income tax asset and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the 
amount expected to be recoverable from or paid to the taxation authority. The tax rates and 
tax laws used in computing the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted 
at the reporting date.
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2.13	 Taxation (continued)

b)    Deferred tax

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on all temporary differences at 
the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amount 
for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
measured at the tax rate that is expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or 
the liability is settled based on the enacted tax rate at the reporting date.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to 
allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.  

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items 
that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the 
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity respectively.  Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting 
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business 
combination.

2.14	 Leases

A lease is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the 
underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration’.

a)     The Group as a lessee

The Group considers whether a contract is, or contains a lease, at the inception of the contract. 
The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect 
to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as 
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets.

To determine whether a lease exist the Group assesses whether the contract meets three 
key evaluations which are whether:

•	 the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the
	 contract or implicitly specified by being identified at the time the asset is made      
	 available to the Group
•	 the Group has the right to obtain substantially all the economic benefits  
	 from use of the identified asset throughout the period of use, considering its rights 

within the defined scope of the contract
•	 the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of 

use.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not 
paid at the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this 
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.
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2.14	 Leases (continued)

a)    The Group as a lessee (continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability 
on the statement of financial position. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is 
made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred by 
the Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end of the 
lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement date (net of 
any incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease 
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or 
the end of the lease term. The Group also assesses the right-of-use asset for impairment 
when such indicators exist.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at the present value of 
the lease payments unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the 
lease if that rate is readily available or the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments made and 
increased for interest. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or modification, or if there 
are changes in in-substance fixed payments.

The lease liability is remeasured and the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the right-
of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to zero whenever:

• 	 The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances 
resulting in a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case 
the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a 
revised discount rate.

 • 	 The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected 
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is 
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using an unchanged discount 
rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in 
which case a revised discount rate is used).

•	  A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a 
separate lease, in which case the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term of 
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount 
rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using 
the practical expedients. Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the 
payments in relation to these are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, 
and instead account for any lease and associated non-lease components as a single 
arrangement. The Group has not used this practical expedient.



77

THE NATIONAL GAS COMPANY OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO LIMITED

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2021
(Amounts expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars)

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.14	 Leases (continued)

b)    The Group as a lessor

As a lessor the Group classifies its leases as either operating or finance leases. A lease is 
classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of the underlying asset and classified as an operating lease if it does not.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount 
of the Group’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting 
periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment 
outstanding in respect of the leases.

Leases in which a significant portion of the risk and rewards of ownership are retained by 
the lessor are defined as an operating lease.  Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and 
arranging an operating lease are added to carrying amount of the leased asset. Payments 
made under an operating lease are charged to the statement of profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the period of the lease term.

2.15	 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Company statement of  financial 
position when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that 
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities, 
other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, are added 
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on 
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

a)   Financial assets

Financial assets, other than those designated and effective as hedging instruments, are 
classified and subsequently measured based on the following categories:

1)	 Financial assets at amortised cost
2)	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
3)	 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI).

The classification is determined by both:

•	 the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset
•	 the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are 
presented within finance costs, finance income or other financial items, except for impairment 
of trade receivables which is presented under impairment.

The Group’s business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting 
contractual cash flows, selling financial assets or both. At initial recognition of a financial 
assets, the Group determines whether newly recognised financial assets are part of an 
existing business model or whether they reflect the commencement of a new business 
model.  
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2.15	 Financial instruments (continued)

a)    Financial assets (continued)

The Group reassess its business model each reporting period to determine whether the 
business models has changed since the preceding period.

1)	 Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions 
(and are not designated as FVTPL):

•	 they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets 
and collect its contractual cash flows and

•	 the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding.

This category includes non-derivative financial assets like loans and receivables with 
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. After initial 
recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  
Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group’s cash, 
trade and most other receivables fall into this category of financial instruments.

2)	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Financial assets at FVPTL are:

•  financial assets whose contractual cash flows are not SPPI
•  financial assets that are held in a business model other than held to collect contractual
   cash flows or held to collect and sell
•  financial assets designated at FVPTL using the fair value option

This category includes derivative instruments. 

These assets are measured at fair value with gains or losses, including any interest or 
dividend income recognised in profit or loss.  The fair values of financial assets in this 
category are determined by reference to active market transactions or using a valuation 
technique where no active market exists.

Any gains or losses recognised on debt instruments must be measured at fair value 
through profit or loss (FVTPL).

3)	 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

The Group accounts for debt financial assets at FVTOCI if the assets meet the following 
conditions:

•	 they are held under a business model whose objective is both to hold and collect the 
associated cash flows and to sell the financial assets and

•	 the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding (SPPI).

Any gains or losses recognised in OCI will be recycled upon derecognition of the asset.
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.15	 Financial instruments (continued)

a)    Financial assets (continued)

3)	 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 

Equity financial assets designated as FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus 
transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses 
arising from changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in the revaluation reserve. The cumulative gain or loss is not reclassified to 
profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments, instead, it is transferred to retained 
earnings.

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss 
in accordance with IFRS 9 unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part 
of the cost of the investment. 

Debt instruments designated at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction 
cost. Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from 
changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 
the revaluation reserve. Any gains/ (loss) on disposal are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

Reclassification

If the business model under which the Group holds financial assets changes, the financial 
assets affected are reclassified. The classification and measurement requirements related 
to the new category apply prospectively from the first day of the first reporting period 
following the change in business model that result in reclassifying the Group’s financial 
assets.

b)	 Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a Group entity are classified as either financial 
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements 
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. 

 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an 
entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a Group entity are 
recognised as the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. 

Repurchase of the Group’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly 
in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or 
cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including long term debt, dividends payable, trade and sundry 
payables and accruals are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method or at FVTPL.  Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial 
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.  
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.15	 Financial instruments (continued)

b)	 Financial liabilities (continued)

Other financial liabilities (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial 
liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and 
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction 
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or 
(where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. 

 Derecognition of other financial liabilities

The Goup derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the 
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit 
or loss.

c)	 Impairment of financial assets 

The Group applies the forward-looking expected credit loss (ECL) approach to assess whether 
a financial asset or group of financial assets may be impaired.

The Group considers a broader range of information when assessing credit risk and measuring 
expected credit losses, including past events, current conditions, reasonable and supportable 
forecasts that affect the expected collectability of the future cash flows of the instrument.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made between:

•	 financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial 
recognition or that have low credit risk (‘Stage 1’) for which a 12-month ECL is recognized 
and financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial 
recognition and whose credit risk is not low (‘Stage 2’) for which ‘lifetime expected credit 
losses’ are recognised.

•	 ‘Stage 3’ would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the 
reporting date. 

A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact 
on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. Credit-impaired 
financial assets are referred to as Stage 3 assets. 

Trade and other receivables and contract assets

The Group makes use of a simplified approach in accounting for trade receivables as well as 
contract assets. Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but records the loss 
allowance based on lifetime expected credit losses at each reporting date. The Group uses 
its historical experience, external indicators and forward-looking information to calculate the 
expected credit losses using a provision matrix.
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.15	 Financial instruments (continued)

c)	 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

For debt instruments at FVTOCI, the Group applies the low credit risk simplification and 
recognises a 12 month expected credit losses, as most of these instruments have an 
investment grade credit rating, the likelihood of default is deemed to be small. However, 
at each reporting date the Group assesses whether it still qualifies for the low credit risk 
classification. For any that no longer qualify the Group assesses whether there has been a 
significant increase in the credit risk of the instrument.

In assessing these risks, the Group relies on readily available information such as the credit 
ratings issued by the major credit rating agencies for the respective asset. The Group only 
holds simple financial instruments for which specific credit ratings are usually available. In the 
unlikely event that there is no or only little information on factors influencing the ratings of 
the asset available, the Group would aggregate similar instruments into a portfolio to assess 
on this basis whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

In addition, the Group considers other indicators such as adverse changes in business, 
economic or financial conditions that could affect the borrower’s ability to meet its debt 
obligation or unexpected changes in the borrower’s operating results.

Should any of these indicators imply a significant increase in the instrument’s credit risk, the 
Group recognises for this instrument or class of instruments the lifetime ECL.

d)	 Derecognition of financial assets

Financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity or when there has been a substantial 
decrease in valuation due to modification. 

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is 
recognised in profit or loss. On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument classified as 
at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation 
reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. In contrast, on derecognition of an investment in equity 
instrument which the group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the 
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is not 
reclassified to profit or loss but is transferred to retained earnings.

2.16	 Take-or-pay

The Group has take-or-pay contracts with various upstream producers. An asset is recognised in 
the year in which the Company has to pay for volumes contractually committed to but not yet 
taken. The expense   is recognised on the earlier of when the gas volumes are actually taken or 
on expiration of the deficiency recovery period. If management determines that they will not be 
able to take the volumes before the expiration of the deficiency recovery period, the amount is 
immediately recognised as an expense within cost of sales.
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.16	 Take-or-pay (continued)

The Group also has take-or-pay contracts with its major customers. A contract liability   is recorded 
in the year in which the customers have to pay for volumes contractually committed to but not 
yet taken. The revenue is recognised at the earlier of the expiration of the customer’s deficiency 
period and when the volumes are taken. 

2.17	 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the 
estimate of the selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion 
and selling expenses.  A provision is made for all slow moving and obsolete items.

a)	 Liquefied natural gas (‘LNG’)

	 The valuation of LNG inventory includes cost of gas, processing fee and transportation cost.

b)	 Natural gas liquids (‘NGLs’)

	 The value of NGLs includes a proportion of plant overheads.  

c)	 Spares

	 Plant spares is determined using the weighted average cost of items held in inventory.

d)	 Crude oil

	 Inventories of crude oil are measured using the weighted average cost basis.

2.18	 Cash 

Cash on hand and in banks are held to maturity.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash include cash in hand and 
deposits held at call with banks. 

2.19	 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to 
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risk and 
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows 
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash 
flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material). 

Present values are determined using a current pre-tax rate that reflects where appropriate the 
risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the 
passage in time is recognised as a finance expense.
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.20	 Pension and other post-employment benefits

a)     Pension benefits

The employees of The National Gas Company of Trinidad and Tobago Limited (NGC), 
National Energy Corporation of Trinidad and Tobago Limited (National Energy), La Brea 
Industrial Development Company Limited (LABIDCO) and NGC CNG Company Limited 
(NGC CNG) are members of a Defined Benefit Pension Plan which was changed from a 
Final Salary Defined Benefit Plan at 31 December, 2018 to a Career Average Defined Benefit 
Plan from 1 January, 2019.  

The employee’s pension at retirement will be sum of the pension accrued under the Final 
Salary Defined Benefit Plan at 31 December, 2018 and the pension accrued under the Career 
Average Defined Benefit plan from 1 January, 2019 to retirement.

The pension costs are assessed using the projected unit credit method.  Under this method 
the costs of providing pensions is calculated based on the advice of independent actuaries 
who also carry out a full calculation of the plan every three years.  The pension obligation 
is measured at the present value of the estimated future cash flows using interest rates of 
long-term government securities.

Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the changes to the 
asset ceiling (if applicable) and the return on plan assets (excluding interest), is reflected 
immediately in the statement of financial position with a charge or credit recognised in 
other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Remeasurement recognised 
in other comprehensive income is reflected immediately in retained earnings and will not be 
reclassified to profit or loss. 

Pension benefits are categorised as follows:

•	 service cost (including current service cost, past service cost, as well as gains and losses 
on curtailments and settlements);

•	 net interest expense or income; and 
•	 remeasurement.

The Group presents the first two components of pension benefits in profit or loss in the line 
item ‘administrative, maintenance and general expenses’. Curtailment gains and losses are 
accounted for as past service costs. Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate 
at the beginning of the period to the net pension liability or asset.

The Group also provides post-retirement life and medical benefits to their retirees.  The 
expected costs of these benefits are measured in a manner similar to that for the pension 
plan.  Valuation of these obligations are carried out by independent professional actuaries 
using an accounting methodology similar to that of the  pension plans.
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.20	 Pension and other post-employment benefits

b)     Defined contribution plan

The employees of Phoenix Park Gas Processors Limited (PPGPL), are under a defined 
contribution plan which came in effect from 1 January 2003.  A defined contribution plan 
is a post-employment plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate 
entity and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay future amounts.

The plan covers all full-time employees of PPGPL and is funded by payments from 
employees and employer taking into account the recommendations of independent 
qualified actuaries.  PPGPL’s contributions to the defined contribution plan are charged to 
profit or loss in the period to which the contributions relate.   At the end of 2021, there was 
no liability outstanding.

2.21	 Non-refundable capital contribution

The Group recognises a non-refundable capital contribution (‘NRCC’) when payment is received 
from industrial users as part of a condition of their connection to the pipeline network which 
provides them with continuous access to a supply of gas for use in their respective industries.

The contribution is recorded as contract liabilities in the statement of financial position with 
income recognised and the liabilities reduced on a straight-line basis over the life of the 
customers’ sales contract. 

2.22	 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying 
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their 
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are 
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their 
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

2.23	 Government grants

Government grants are recognised only when there is reasonable assurance that the Group will 
comply with any terms and conditions attached to the grants and the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in 
which the Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended 
to compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the Group 
should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred 
revenue in the consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a 
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.
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2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.24	 Revenue and other income recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers excluding take-or-pay contracts is recognised when 
control of the goods or services are transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to 
the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of 
the consideration received or receivable. 

The Group considers whether there are other conditions in the contract that are separate 
performance obligations to which a portion of the transaction price needs to be allocated. In 
determining the transaction price, the Group considers the effects of variable consideration, 
the existence of significant financing components, non-cash consideration, and consideration 
payable to the customer (if any).

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Revenue from contracts with customers

•	 Revenues associated with the sale of gas, oil, natural gas liquids and condensate are recognised 
when title and the related rights pass to the customer being at the point of delivery. 

•	 Revenue associated with services and marine infrastructure income is recognised upon 
performance of the services over time.

•	 Lease rental and service charge from operating leases on investment properties are 
recognised as revenue over time in the period in which they are earned. Premiums on leases 
are recognised as revenue at the point of execution of the lease in the initial year.

•	 Sale of methanol is recognised at the point, control of the product is transferred to the 
customer, which is normally when production and title or risk of loss transfers to the customer.

Other operating income

•	 Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive 
payment has been established.

•	 Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic 
benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably and is 
accrued on a time basis by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest 
rate applicable, 

•	 Management fees earned on government funded projects are recognised over time  as the 
management service is provided.

•	 Lease rental and service at the point of initial year of execution of the lease.
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3.	 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) 

3.1	 New IFRS and amendments to IFRS that are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the below amendments to IFRS Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Board that are effective for an annual period that begins on or 
after 1 January 2021. The Group has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or 
amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective.

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2: Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and 
IFRS 16

The amendments provide temporary reliefs which address the financial reporting effects when 
an interbank offered rate (IBOR) is replaced with an alternative nearly risk-free interest rate (RFR). 

The amendments include the following practical expedients: 

• 	 A practical expedient to require contractual changes, or changes to cash flows that are directly 
required by the reform, to be treated as changes to a floating interest rate, equivalent to a 
movement in a market rate of interest 

• 	 Permit changes required by IBOR reform to be made to hedge designations and hedge 
documentation without the hedging relationship being discontinued 

• 	 Provide temporary relief to entities from having to meet the separately identifiable requirement 
when an RFR instrument is designated as a hedge of a risk component 

The application of these amendments did not have an impact on the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group for 2021. The Group intends to use the practical expedient approach 
as the existing contractual arrangements with interest rates is pegged to LIBOR. This will be 
amended to a similar rate.  The amendment is expected to have an immaterial impact on the 
financial statements.    

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 Amendments to IFRS 

This amendment provided practical relief to lessees in accounting for rent concessions occurring 
as a direct consequence of COVID-19, by introducing a practical expedient to IFRS 16. This 
practical expedient was available to rent concessions for which any reduction in lease payments 
affected payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021. 

In March 2021, the Board issued Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 
(Amendment to IFRS 16) that extends the practical expedient to apply to reduction in lease 
payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022.

This amendment had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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3.	 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) (continued)

3.2	 New and revised IFRS and Interpretations in issue but not yet effective and not early adopted 

The Management of the Group does not anticipate that the application of these improvements 
to IFRS Standards will have any significant impact on the financial statements.

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRS that have been issued but are not 
yet effective:

•	 IFRS 17	 Insurance Contracts 2

•	 IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (amendments)  	 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an		
	 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 3 

•	 Amendments to IAS 1	 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non -		
	 current 2

•	 Amendments to IFRS 3	 Reference to the Conceptual Framework1

•	 Amendments to IAS 16	 Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds		
	 Before Intended Use 1

•	 Amendments to IAS 37	 Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a 
		  Contract 1

•	 Annual Improvements to IFRS	 Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of  
	 Standards 2018-2020                          	 IFRSs, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IFRS 16 
		  Leases, IAS 41 Agriculture 1

•	 Amendments to IAS 1 and 	 Disclosure of Accounting Policies 2 
	 IFRS Practice Statement 2
 	
•	 Amendments to IAS 8 	 Definition of Accounting Estimates 2

•	 Amendments to IAS 12 	 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities		
	 arising from a Single Transaction 2

1	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022, with earlier application permitted.
2	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with earlier application permitted.
3	 Effective date of the amendments has yet to be set by the IASB; however earlier  application of the 

amendments is permitted.

•     IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

IFRS 17 establishes the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and 
disclosure of insurance contracts and supersedes IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts. 

IFRS 17 outlines a general model, which is modified for insurance contracts with direct 
participation features, described as the variable fee approach. The general model is simplified 
if certain criteria are met by measuring the liability for remaining coverage using the premium 
allocation approach. 
 
The general model uses current assumptions to estimate the amount, timing and uncertainty 
of future cash flows and it explicitly measures the cost of that uncertainty. It takes into account 
market interest rates and the impact of policyholders’ options and guarantees.
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3.	 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) (continued)

3.2	 New and revised IFRS and Interpretations in issue but not yet effective and not early adopted
                (continued)

•     IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (continued)

The amendments defer the date of the initial application of IFRS 17 to annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. This standard will have no impact on the 
Group’s financial statements.

•      Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 – Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
        and its Associate or Joint Venture
              

The amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 deal with situations where there is a sale or contribution 
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The amendments state 
that gains or losses resulting from the loss of control of a subsidiary that does not contain a 
business in a transaction with an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using the 
equity method are recognised in the parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated 
investors’ interests in that associate or joint venture. 

Similarly, gains and losses resulting from the remeasurement of investments retained in any 
former subsidiary (that has become an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using 
the equity method) to fair value are recognised in the former parent’s profit or loss only to 
the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in the new associate or joint venture.

This amendment had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

•      Amendments to IAS 1 – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

The amendments to IAS 1 affect only the presentation of liabilities as current or non- current 
in the statement of financial position and not the amount or timing of recognition of any 
asset, liability, income or expenses, or the information disclosed about those items.

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current is based 
on rights that are in existence at the end of the reporting period, specify that classification is 
unaffected by expectations about whether an entity will exercise its right to defer settlement 
of a liability, explain that rights are in existence if covenants are complied with at the end of 
the reporting period, and introduce a definition of ‘settlement’ to make clear that settlement 
refers to the transfer to the counterparty of cash, equity instruments, other assets or services.

The amendments are applied retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2023, with early application permitted.



89

THE NATIONAL GAS COMPANY OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO LIMITED

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2021
(Amounts expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars)

3.	 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) (continued)

3.2	 New and revised IFRS and Interpretations in issue but not yet effective and not early adopted
               (continued)

•      Amendments to IFRS 3 – Reference to the Conceptual Framework

The amendments update IFRS 3 so that it refers to the 2018 Conceptual Framework instead 
of the 1989 Framework. They also add to IFRS 3 a requirement that, for obligations within the 
scope of IAS 37, an acquirer applies IAS 37 to determine whether at the acquisition date a 
present obligation exists as a result of past events. For a levy that would be within the scope 
of IFRIC 21 Levies, the acquirer applies IFRIC 21 to determine whether the obligating event 
that gives rise to a liability to pay the levy has occurred by the acquisition date.

Finally, the amendments add an explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognize 
contingent assets acquired in a business combination.

The amendments are effective for business combinations for which the date of acquisition 
is on or after the beginning of the first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2022. 
Early application is permitted if an entity also applies all other updated references (published 
together with the updated Conceptual Framework) at the same time or earlier.
                

•      Amendments to IAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment—Proceeds before
        Intended Use

The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and 
equipment any proceeds from selling items produced before that asset is available for use, 
i.e. proceeds while bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be 
capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Consequently, an entity 
recognises such sales proceeds and related costs in profit or loss. The entity measures the 
cost of those items in accordance with IAS 2 Inventories.

The amendments also clarify the meaning of testing whether an asset is functioning properly. 
IAS 16 now specifies this as assessing whether the technical and physical performance of the 
asset is such that it is capable of being used in the production or supply of goods or services, 
for rental to others, or for administrative purposes.

If not presented separately in the statement of comprehensive income, the financial 
statements shall disclose the amounts of proceeds and cost included in profit or loss that 
relate to items produced that are not an output of the entity’s ordinary activities and which 
line item(s) in the statement of comprehensive income include(s) such proceeds and cost.

The amendments are applied retrospectively, but only to items of property, plant and 
equipment that are brought to the location and condition necessary for them to be capable 
of operating in the manner intended by management on or after the beginning of the 
earliest period presented in the financial statements in which the entity first applies the 
amendments. 
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3.	 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) (continued)

3.2 	 New and revised IFRS and Interpretations in issue but not yet effective and not early adopted
               (continued)

•    Amendments to IAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment—Proceeds before    
     Intended Use (continued)

The entity shall recognise the cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments as an 
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings (or other components of equity, as 
appropriate) at the beginning of that earliest period presented.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022, with 
early application permitted.

•    Amendments to IAS 37 – Onerous Contracts—Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments specify that the ‘cost of fulfilling’ a contract comprises the ‘costs that relate 
directly to the contract’. Costs that relate directly to a contract consist of both the incremental 
costs of fulfilling that contract (examples would be direct labour or materials) and an allocation 
of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (an example would be the allocation 
of the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the 
contract).

The amendments apply to contracts for which the entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at 
the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the amendments. 
Comparatives are not restated. Instead, the entity shall recognise the cumulative effect of 
initially applying the amendments as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained 
earnings or other component of equity, as appropriate, at the date of initial application.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022, with 
early application permitted.

•    Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018–2020

The Annual Improvements include amendments to four Standards. 

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards

The amendment provides additional relief to a subsidiary which becomes a first-time adopter 
later than its parent in respect of accounting for cumulative translation differences. As a result 
of the amendment, a subsidiary that uses the exemption in IFRS 1:D16(a) can now also elect to 
measure cumulative translation differences for all foreign operations at the carrying amount 
that would be included in the parent’s consolidated financial statements, based on the 
parent’s date of transition to IFRS Standards if no adjustments were made for consolidation 
procedures and for the effects of the business combination in which the parent acquired 
the subsidiary. A similar election is available to an associate or joint venture that uses the 
exemption.

The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022, with 
early application permitted.
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3.	 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) (continued)

3.2 	 New and revised IFRS and Interpretations in issue but not yet effective and not early adopted 
                (continued)

•    Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018–2020 (continued)

 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that in applying the ‘10 per cent’ test to assess whether to 
derecognize a financial liability, an entity includes only fees paid or received between the 
entity (the borrower) and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the entity or 
the lender on the other’s behalf.
      
The amendment is applied prospectively to modifications and exchanges that occur on or 
after the date.  The entity first applies the amendment and is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2022, with early application permitted.

 IFRS 16 Leases

The amendment removes the illustration of the reimbursement of leasehold improvements. 
As this amendment to IFRS 16 only regards an illustrative example, no effective date is stated.

 IAS 41 Agriculture

The amendment removes the requirement in IAS 41 for entities to exclude cash flows for 
taxation when measuring fair value. This aligns the fair value measurement in IAS 41 with the 
requirements of IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement to use internally consistent cash flows and 
discount rates and enables preparers to determine whether to use pretax or post-tax cash 
flows and discount rates for the most appropriate fair value measurement.

The amendment is applied prospectively, i.e. for fair value measurements on or after the date 
an entity initially applies the amendment. The amendment is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2022, with early application permitted.

•    Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice    
      Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements—Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The amendments change the requirements in IAS 1 with regard to disclosure of accounting 
policies. The amendments replace all instances of the term ‘significant accounting policies’ 
with ‘material accounting policy information’. Accounting policy information is material if, 
when considered together with other information included in an entity’s financial statements, 
it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general-
purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements.

The supporting paragraphs in IAS 1 are also amended to clarify that accounting policy 
information that relates to immaterial transactions, other events or conditions is immaterial 
and need not be disclosed. Accounting policy information may be material because of 
the nature of the related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the amounts are 
immaterial. However, not all accounting policy information relating to material transactions, 
other events or conditions is itself material. 
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3.	 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) (continued)

3.2 	 New and revised IFRS and Interpretations in issue but not yet effective and not early adopted
                (continued)

•	 Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 
2 Making Materiality Judgements—Disclosure of Accounting Policies   (continued)

	 The amendments to IAS 1 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2023, with earlier application permitted and are applied prospectively. The amendments to 
IFRS Practice Statement 2 do not contain an effective date or transition requirements.

•	 Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
         and Errors—Definition of Accounting Estimates 

	 The amendments replace the definition of a change in accounting estimates with a 
definition of accounting estimates. Under the new definition, accounting estimates are 
“monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty”. 

	 The definition of a change in accounting estimates was deleted. However, the Board 
retained the concept of changes in accounting estimates in the Standard with the following 
clarifications: 

•  A change in accounting estimate that results from new information or new   
   development is not the correction of an error

•  The effects of a change in an input or a measurement technique used to develop an 
   accounting estimate are changes in accounting estimates if they do not result from
   the correction of prior period errors. 

	 The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 to 
changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after 
the beginning of that period, with earlier application permitted.

•	 Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes—Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities 
arising from a Single Transaction 

	 The amendments introduce a further exception from the initial recognition exemption. 
Under the amendments, an entity does not apply the initial recognition exemption for 
transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

	 Depending on the applicable tax law, equal taxable and deductible temporary differences 
may arise on initial recognition of an asset and liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and affects neither accounting nor taxable profit. For example, this may arise 
upon recognition of a lease liability and the corresponding right-of-use asset applying IFRS 
16 at the commencement date of a lease

	 Following the amendments to IAS 12, an entity is required to recognise the related deferred 
tax asset and liability, with the recognition of any deferred tax asset being subject to the 
recoverability criteria in IAS 12. 
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3.	 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) (continued)

3.2 	 New and revised IFRS and Interpretations in issue but not yet effective and not early adopted
               (continued)

•   	 Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes—Deferred Tax related to Assets and
	 Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (continued)
		

The amendments apply to transactions that occur on or after the beginning of the earliest 
comparative period presented. In addition, at the beginning of the earliest comparative 
period an entity recognises: 

•	 A deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised) and a deferred tax 
liability for all deductible and taxable temporary differences associated with: 

–	 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities   

–	 Decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities and the corresponding amounts 
recognised as part of the cost of the related asset

•	 The cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments as an adjustment to the  
opening balance of retained earnings (or other component of equity, as     appropriate) 
at that date.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1   
January 2023, with earlier application permitted.

4.	 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

4.1	 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 2, the 
management of the Group are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors 
that are considered to be relevant. 

Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period 
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 
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4.	 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

4.2	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation 
and uncertainty at the reporting period date, that have a significant risk of causing material 
adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

•	 Impairment of non-financial assets
	 (Refer to note 5 - Property, plant and equipment and note 6 – Investment properties)

•	 Tax assessments
	 (Refer to note 43 (a) – Contingencies: Taxes)

•	 Provisions
	 (Refer to note 25 – Provisions)

•	 Revaluation
	 (Refer to note 5 (a) – Property, plant and equipment: Revaluation of pipelines and related 

facilities)

•	 Carrying value of exploration and production assets
	 (Refer to note 5 (a) – Property, plant and equipment: Carrying value of exploration and 

production assets)

•	 Useful lives of investment property
	 (Refer to note 6 – Investment properties)

•	 Impairment of goodwill
	 (Refer to note 9 – Goodwill)
 
•	 Pension and other post-employment benefits
	 (Refer to note 27 – Pension obligation and note 26 – Post retirement, medical and group life 

obligation)

•	 Expected credit losses 
	 (Refer to note 2.15 (c) – Impairment of financial assets)

•	 Fair value measurement of financial instruments
	 (Refer to note 48 (g) - Fair Value)

•	 Lease accounting 
	 (Refer to note 8 – Right of use assets)
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5.	 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

a)	 Revaluation of pipelines and related facilities

The Group revalues its pipelines every five to seven years by an independent accredited valuator. 
The Group’s pipelines and related facilities are stated at their revalued amounts, being the fair 
value at the date of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. As at 31 December 2020 an independent assessment of the fair value of the pipelines and 
related facilities was performed.

The valuation was conducted using the depreciated replacement cost basis assuming the 
facilities will continue to be used for the purpose for which they were designed and intended. 
For valuation purposes the pipelines have been assessed to have a maximum useful life not 
exceeding 60 years. The estimated useful life is based on current and estimated future gas 
reserves as well as other factors.

Details of the Group’s pipeline and related facilities which are measured at fair value and 
information about the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

	 Level 1	 Level 2	 Level 3	 Total

	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

As at 31 December 2021	  -	   -	  7,526,558	 7,526,558

As at 31 December 2020	  -	 -	  7,740,121	 7,740,121

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 during the year.

The net carrying amount of the pipelines, if they were carried at cost rather than at the revalued 
amount, would have been $6,227.2 million as at 31 December 2021 (2020: $6,469.9 million).

b)	 Pipelines and related facilities

Included in ‘Pipelines and related facilities’ is the Trinidad and Tobago Electricity Commission 
(‘T&TEC’) pipeline system which was acquired by the Group from T&TEC with effect from 1 
January 1977. However, the Group has not obtained full legal title to the asset because all Rights 
of Way associated with the pipeline system have not yet been acquired.

c)	 Transfers

Management took the decision to transfer this amount of $5.4 million from assets under 
construction to other receivables relating the development of a Compressed Natural Gas (“CNG”) 
station at the Preysal Roundabout.

d)	 Impairment of exploration and production assets - TT$656.7 million

The charge for 2021 includes a provision for impairment of Block 3A asset net of a reversal of 
provision previously recorded relating to the Teak, Saaman and Poui (TSP) asset.

Block 3A
An impairment assessment was conducted by Management of its interest in 3A which resulted 
in an impairment charge of TT$722.9 million (US$106.9 million). 

The key assumptions used in the value in use calculations are as follows:

•	 Discount rate of 10.52% (2020: 9.65%).
•	 Projected oil and gas prices for the years 2022 - 2026.
•	 Projected crude oil and gas production for the years 2022 - 2026.
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5.	 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

d)	 Impairment of exploration and production assets - TT$656.7 million (continued)

Block 3A (continued)

Utilizing cashflows computed, sensitivity analyses were conducted based on an increase/
decrease of the discount rate of 10.52% by 100 basis points. 

While holding all other variables constant the impairment charge will increase/(decrease) by the 
following:

−	 Scenario (a), where discount rate was reduced by 100 basis points, while holding all other 
variables constant, there will be a decrease in the impairment charge by TT$5.8 million. 

−	 Scenario (b), where discount rate was increased by 100 basis points, while holding all other 
variables constant, there will be an increase in the impairment charge by TT$5.8 million. 

Teak, Saaman and Poui (TSP) asset

An impairment assessment was conducted by Management of its interest in TSP which resulted 
in an impairment reversal of TT$66.2 million (US$9.8 million). 

The key assumptions used in the value in use calculations are as follows:

•	 Discount rate of 10.52% (2020:9.65%)
•	 Projected oil and gas prices for the years 2022 - 2027.
•	 Projected crude oil and gas production for the years 2022 - 2027.
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6. 	 Investment properties 										          		
								        	                                           Assets	
	 Buildings	 Freehold	 Development	 Fabrication	 under	 Total
		  land	 costs	 yard	 construction			
	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Year ended 31 December 2021							      	
Opening net book value	  111,195 	  46,465 	  324,819 	  10,149 	  5,828 	  498,456 
Additions	  -   	   - 	  -   	   - 	  544 	  544 
Depreciation for year	  (652)	   - 	  (26,878)	  (732)	   - 	  (28,262)
Impairment reversal (note 36)	  -   	  -   	  3,395 	  (2,888)	  -   	  507 
Closing net book value	  110,543 	  46,465 	  301,336 	  6,529	  6,372 	  471,245 
								     
			 
At 31 December 2021							      	
Cost	  600,539 	  46,465 	  653,192 	  45,174 	  6,372 	  1,351,742 
Accumulated depreciation/
impairment	  (489,996)	  -   	  (351,856)	  (38,645)	  - 	 (880,497)
Net book value	  110,543 	  46,465 	  301,336 	  6,529 	  6,372 	  471,245 

Year ended 31 December 2020							      	
Opening net book value	  98,733 	  46,465 	  355,098 	  22,671 	  6,038 	  529,005 
Additions	  -   	   - 	  345 	   - 	  1,012 	  1,357 
Transfers	  -   	   - 	  1,222 	   - 	  (1,222)	  -   
Depreciation for year	  (652)	   - 	  (27,145)	  (1,538)	   - 	  (29,335)
Impairment expense (note 36)	  13,114 	   - 	  (4,701)	  (10,984)	   - 	  (2,571)
Closing net book value	  111,195 	  46,465 	  324,819 	  10,149 	  5,828 	  498,456 
								     
			 
At 31 December 2020							      	
Cost	  600,539 	  46,465 	  653,192 	  45,174 	  5,828 	  1,351,198 
Accumulated depreciation/
impairment	  (489,344)	   - 	  (328,373)	  (35,025)	   - 	 (852,742)
Net book value	  111,195 	  46,465 	  324,819 	  10,149 	  5,828 	  498,456 
								      
			 

				  
	 2021	 2020	
	 $’000	 $’000	
Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss:	 		
Rental income from investment properties 	  29,919 	  32,135 

Direct operating expenses 	  6,234 	  4,703 
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6.	 Investment properties (continued)

Investment properties include the lands at Union Industrial Estate (‘UIE’) and a warehousing facility which 
was constructed on the UIE.  The Group has applied for a reclamation licence in respect of the land on 
which the warehouse facility sits.

The fair value is based on the investment properties’ value-in-use.  The recoverable amounts of the 
Company’s major assets have been determined based on a value-in-use calculation using cash flow 
projections from lease agreements and the Board approved business development plan, at a discount 
rate of 9.410% (2020: 8.810%).  

The fair value measurements of the Brighton Materials Storage and Handling Warehouse facility (included 
in Buildings) as at 31 December 2021 was performed by an independent qualified valuator. The fair value 
of the facility was determined using the cost approach that reflects the current replacement/reproduction 
cost of the building structure of comparable utility and age, adjusted for obsolescence. 

As a result of this analysis, no impairment was recognised by Management for 2021 (2020: an impairment 
reversal of $13.1 million) on its investment properties in the statement of profit and loss. 

The fair value was based on the fabrication yard and development costs at La Brea Industrial Estate was 
based on value-in-use. The recoverable amount was based on a value-in-use calculation using cash flow 
projections from the 2022 financial budgets prepared by Management and approved by the Board of 
Directors and extrapolated for a four-year period, at a discount rate of 9.34% (2020: 9.17%).  As a result 
of this analysis, impairment reversal of $0.5 million was recognised by Management for 2021 (2020: 
impairment expense of $15.7 million) on its investment properties in the statement of profit or loss.  

7.	 Other intangible assets 

The category of intangible assets comprise of computer software and purchased contracts (Note 2.10). 
The movement in intangible assets are shown below.

	 Software	 Purchased contracts	 Total
	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000
Year ended 31 December 2021				  
Opening net book value	  21,444 	  107,571 	  129,015 
Additions	  1,129 	 -	  1,129 
Amortisation charge for the year (Note 34)	  (2,955)	  -   	  (2,955)
Foreign exchange difference	  3 	  20 	  23 
Closing net book value	  19,621 	  107,591 	  127,212 
				  
Year ended 31 December 2021
Cost	  168,806 	  107,591 	  276,397 
Accumulated amortisation	  (149,185)	  -   	  (149,185)
Net book value	  19,621 	  107,591 	  127,212 
	
Year ended 31 December 2020				  
Opening net book value	  21,702 	  -   	  21,702 
Additions	  2,173 	  107,397 	  109,570 
Amortisation charge for the year (Note 34)	  (2,427)		   -   	
Foreign exchange difference	  (4)	  174 	  170 
Closing net book value	  21,444 	  107,571 	  129,015 
	
Year ended 31 December 2020				  
Cost	  167,674 	  107,571 	  275,245 
Accumulated amortisation	  (146,230)	  -   	  (146,230)
Net book value	  21,444 	  107,571 	  129,015 
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8.	 Leases
	

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for land, machinery, equipment and motor vehicles. Set out below are the 
terms:

(i)	   Land – with lease term ranging between 30-99 years 

(ii)	   Machinery and equipment which consist of:
	 - photo copiers with a lease term of three years. There is no option to purchase the copiers. 
	 - cell tower with lease terms of four years

(iii)	   Motor vehicles have a lease term of four years. 
	
(a)    Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position

The statement of financial position shows the following amounts relating to leases:

Right of use assets 
		  	 Machine			 

	 Office	 Land	 &	 Motor	
	 Space	 Leases	 Equipment	 Vehicles	 Total
	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Year ended 31 December 2021		  				  
As at 1 January 2021	  2,292 	  110,572 	  9,974 	  15,249 	  138,087 
Additions	  -   	  3,406 	  -   	  662 	  4,068 
Adjustments	  (568)	  (23,577)	  -   	  -   	  (24,145)
Depreciation for year	  (472)	  (8,985)	  (3,711)	  (10,519)	  (23,687)
Foreign exchange difference	  (3)	  (25)	  (6)	  (3)	  (37)
As at 31 December 2020	  1,249 	  81,391 	  6,257 	  5,389 	  94,286 
						    

         At 31 December 2021					   
Cost	  2,740 	  107,522 	  18,031 	  39,573 	  167,866 
Accumulated depreciation/impairment	  (1,491)	  (26,131)	  (11,774)	  (34,184)	  (73,580)
Net book value	  1,249 	  81,391 	  6,257 	  5,389 	  94,286 
		
Year ended 31 December 2020					   
As at 1 January 2020	  -   	  102,140 	  13,684 	  25,817 	  141,641 
Remeasurement	  -   	 4,043 	  2 	  10 	  4,055 
Additions	  3,307 	  14,547 	  -   	  -   	  17,854 
Depreciation for year	  (1,019)	  (10,154)	  (3,707)	  (10,558)	  (25,438)
Foreign exchange difference	  4 	  (4)	  (5)	  (20)	  (25)
Closing net book value	  2,292 	  110,572 	  9,974 	  15,250 	  138,087 
						    

			 
At 31 December 2020					      
Cost	  3,311 	  127,718 	  18,037 	  38,914 	  187,980 
Accumulated depreciation/impairment	  (1,019)	  (17,146)	  (8,063)	  (23,665)	  (49,893)
Net book value	  2,292 	  110,572 	  9,974 	  15,249 	  138,087 
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8.	 Leases (continued)

(b)    Lease liability amounts recognised in the statement of financial position

The statement of financial position shows the following amounts relating to lease liability:

Lease liabilities

	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000
Analysed as:			 
Current	  17,736 	  30,283 
Non-current	  72,145 	  112,137 
	  89,881 	  142,420 
			 
Maturity analysis:			 
	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000

Year 1	  17,736 	  30,283 
Year 2	  10,070 	  9,602 
Year 3	  2,122 	  3,018 
Year 4	  2,006 	  2,056 
More than 4 years	  57,947 	  97,461 
	  89,881 	  142,420 
			 
	

(c)     Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss

The statement of profit or loss shows the following amounts relating to leases: 
			 
	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000

Amortisation charge of right of use assets	  23,687 	  25,437 
	
Interest expense on lease liabilities	  9,718 	  10,096 
	
Short term lease rental expense	  537 	  625 
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8.	 Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor

In December 2010 the Company entered into a lease agreement for seventeen (17) years with an 
upstream supplier, for the use of 85% of the 58.8-mile 24-inch diameter offshore subsea pipeline and 
related facilities. The lessee is responsible for maintaining the pipeline over the lease term.

New investment in leased assets

	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000

Finance lease – gross investment	 228,072	 257,161
Less: unearned finance charges	 (37,452)	 (67,242)
	 190,620	 189,919

Gross investment in leased assets has the following maturity profile:
Within 1 year	 58,341	 35,056
1 to 5 year	 153,136	 205,513
Over 5 years	 16,595	 16,592
	 228,072	 257,161

Net investment in leased assets has the following maturity profile:
Within 1 year	 25,755	 17,799
1 to 5 years	 148,574	 155,959
Over 5 years	 16,291	 16,161
	 190,620	 189,919

Currrent	 25,755	 17,799
Non-current	 164,865	 172,120
	 190,620	 189,919
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9.  	 Goodwill				  
	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000

Balance at beginning of the year	  2,420,520 	  2,413,786 
Effects of movement in foreign exchange rates	  (6,698)	  6,734 
Balance at end of the year	  2,413,822 	  2,420,520 

		
	

The goodwill arose upon the step acquisition of the additional interest in Phoenix Park Gas Processors 
Limited (‘PPGPL’). 

The goodwill was tested for impairment as at 31 December 2021. 

The key assumptions used in the value in use calculations are as follows:
• Discount rate of 10.11% (2020: 10.15%)
•	 Long range price and production projections for propane, butane and natural gasoline
• NGL Content in natural gas stream.

Based on review conducted, there was no impairment of the goodwill recorded on the investment in 
Phoenix Park Gas Processors Limited (‘PPGPL’) as the recoverable amount exceeded the carrying value of 
the investment.

Holding all other assumptions constant, an increase or decrease in the discount rate by +/-1%, would result 
in a surplus and no goodwill impairment.
		

 10.	 Investment in associates

NGC through NGC Petrochemicals Limited (NPL) holds a 20% equity interest in Caribbean Gas Chemical 
Limited (‘CGCL’) whose core business is the production and sale of Methanol and Dimethyl Ether (DME).  
During 2021, the Group acquired a 19.5% equity interest Point Fortin LNG Export Limited (‘PFLE’) whose 
main trading activity is the marketing of liquefied natural gas (LNG) on which an operating margin is earned 
on the sale of each LNG cargo.

	                                      2021			   2020
	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

	 CGCL - 20%	 PFLE - 19.5%	 Total	 CGCL - 20%
		
Balance as at 1 January	  324,052 	  -   	  324,052 	  339,293 
Purchase of shares – equity cash call	  -   	  -   	  -   	  24,020 
Share of profit/(loss) from associate	  25,463 	  23,452 	  48,915 	  (39,185)
Distribution receivable from associate	  (20,000)	  -   	  (20,000)	
Effects of movement in foreign exchange rates 	 84  	 18 	  102 	  (76)
Balance at end of the year	  329,599 	  23,470 	  353,069 	  324,052 
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11.	 Loans receivable		  		
		
	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000

Trinidad and Tobago Electricity Commission (T&TEC) (a) 	  3,659,413 	  3,710,145 
Atlantic LNG 4 Company of 			 
 Trinidad and Tobago Limited (b)	  -   	  84,983 
Caribbean Gas Chemical Limited (c)	  62,551	 46,245 
	  3,721,964 	  3,841,373 
Less: expected credit loss (Note 48 (a (i))	  (18,297)	 (19,205)
	  3,703,667 	  3,822,168 
Current portion 	  (54,965)	  (136,264)
Long-term portion	  3,648,702 	 3,685,904 

			 
a)	 Trinidad and Tobago Electricity Commission (‘T&TEC’)

	 On 31 December 2018, the Group converted trade receivables of TT$3.5 billion (US$524 million) for 
unpaid gas sales to a ten (10) year loan facility issued in two (2) tranches at 6% per annum.

	 Tranche A - Principal amount of TT$1,776.5 million (US$262 million) at interest rate of 6 percent with 
a one (1) year moratorium on the repayment of principal and interest, with semi-annual interest 
capitalised over the first (1st) year and thereafter, eighteen (18) equal semi-annual instalments of 
principal and interest from June 2020 to December 2028. Principal repayment during 2021 amounted 
to TT$51.4 million (US$7.6 million), 2020 TT$48.5 million (US$7.1 million).

	 Tranche B - Principal amount of TT$1,776.5 million (US$262 million) at an interest rate of 6 percent 
with a five (5) year moratorium on the repayment of principal and interest, with semi-annual interest 
capitalised over the five (5) years and thereafter, ten (10) equal semi-annual payments of principal 
and interest payments commencing from June 2024 until December 2028.

b)	 Atlantic LNG 4 Company of Trinidad and Tobago Limited (ALNG Train 4)

	 Pursuant to the Atlantic LLC Agreement, the members were obligated to make members loans 
and working capital contributions in proportion to each member’s percentage interest to fund the 
construction, commissioning and operations of the ALNG Train 4. 

	 Trinidad and Tobago LNG Limited (TTLNG) loaned the sum of US$112.0 million to ALNG Train 4 with 
interest payable quarterly at a rate of LIBOR plus a margin which ranges from 1.1% to 2.1% per annum 
with a maturity date of 15 December 2020.  The effective interest rate at the reporting date was 
2.5090% (2020: 2.6211%).  The loan was fully repaid in 2021.

c)	 Caribbean Gas Chemical Limited

	 In accordance with shareholders agreements, NGC Petrochemicals Limited granted members loans 
to Caribbean Gas Chemicals amounting to TT$61.3 million (US$9.1 million) of which TT$15.3 million 
(US$2.3 million) was granted in 2021. 

	 This loan is unsecured with a repayment date no later than March 2032. Interest is calculated on the 
principal amount outstanding and payable semi-annually on March and September of each year at a 
rate of LIBOR plus a margin of 2.0% per annum. The effective interest rate at the reporting date was 
2.1525%.
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12.	 Other financial assets		  	
	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000
Financial assets at fair value through other 		
comprehensive income (FVTOCI):			 
		
(i) 	 Equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI:	 	

	
	 Listed equity investments		
	 Local shares	  401,484 	  352,652 
	 Foreign shares 	  555,277 	  549,297 
	
	 Non-listed equity investment	
	 Atlantic LNG 4 Company of Trinidad and Tobago	  1,049,692 	  912,398 
	 Unlimited 			 

Local shares	  967 	  967 
	
Equity instruments at FVTOCI	  2,007,420 	  1,815,314 
			 

	
(ii)	 Debt instruments at fair value through OCI:		
	 Quoted debt instruments	
	 Foreign bonds	  97,484 	  136,203 

	 Unquoted debt instruments		
	 Local bonds	  213,628 	  213,587 
	 Debt instrument at FVTOCI	  311,112 	  349,790 

(iii)	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss		
	 Local bonds	  6,365 	  6,365 
	 Credit linked notes 	  852,075 	  858,672 
	 Alternative investments/ mutual funds 	  723,517 	  607,993 
	 Financial assets at FVTPL	  1,581,957 	  1,473,030 

	 Total other financial assets	  3,900,489 	  3,638,134 
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12.	 Other financial assets (continued)

(i)	 Equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI 

Listed equity investments

The Group sold some of its investments in equity shares during 2021. The consideration received 
for the sale of these shares was TT$269.8 million (US$40.0 million). An accumulated gain of 
TT$70.0 million from the sale of these shares was transferred to retained earnings.

Non - Listed equity investments 

The Group holds equity investments in the following companies which has been fully impaired.
	
	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000

National Helicopter Services Limited	 6,661	 6,660
Trinidad and Tobago Marine Petroleum Company (Trintomar)	 150,628	 150,599

	 157,289	 157,259
Less: Impairment	 (157,289)	 (157,259)
Balance as at 31 December 	 -	 -

The Group has classified its equity investment in Atlantic LNG Company of Trinidad and Tobago 
and Atlantic LNG 4 Company of Trinidad and Tobago Unlimited as FVTOCI as the Group intends 
to hold them for the long term for strategic purposes. The investment in Atlantic LNG Company 
of Trinidad and Tobago is fully impaired.

	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000
Atlantic LNG Company of Trinidad and Tobago Limited			 
		
Balance at at 1 January	  -   	  59,492 
Movement in fair value assessment - OCI	  -   	  (59,481)
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate	  -   	  (11)
Balance as at 31 December	  -   	  -   

Atlantic LNG 4 Company of Trinidad and Tobago Unlimited		
	
Balance at at 1 January	  912,398 	  1,057,068 
Movement in fair value assessment 	  137,119 	  (144,636)
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate	  175 	  (34)
Balance as at 31 December	  1,049,692 	  912,398 
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12.	 Other financial assets (continued)

(ii)	 Debt instruments at fair value through OCI 

This includes investments in quoted and unquoted government and corporate bonds. Fair values 
of the quoted debt instruments were determined by reference to published price quotations. 
The fair value of the unquoted bond was determined using the present value of the future 
cashflows, discounted by the yield that corresponds to the tenor on the relevant yield curve plus 
the relevant credit risk spread and illiquidity premium. The expected credit loss of TT$0.7 million 
was recorded for 2021 (2020: TT$1.7 million) in other reserves within equity.

(iii)	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  

a)	 Investment in Credit Linked Notes. 

	 In 2008 the Group issued two (2) single tranche Credit Linked Notes at a cost of TT$240.1 
million (US$35.5 million) to meet 50% of the Group’s bond liability that matures in 2036.  The 
fair value of the Credit Linked Notes was determined using a valuation technique. The notes 
have a maturity value of TT$1,352.5 million (US$200 million) and is subject to the credit risk of 
the issuer.  

(b) 	Alternative investments

	 This includes investments in international mutual and hedge funds. The fair value was 
determined using bid prices for listed securities and proprietary models for bond valuations. 

 

13.	 Deferred Tax
	
	 Significant components of the deferred tax asset and liability are as follows:

	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000

Deferred tax asset:
Asset retirement obligation	 590,498	 258,284
Post-retirement medical and group life and pension obligation	 54,154	 80,634
Tax losses	 62,113	 238,963
Accured interest expense	 26,414	 26,627
Expected credit losses	 256,866	 215,626
Provision for economic loss	 1,087,524	 1,566,653
Other	 24,693	 27,871
	 2,102,262	 2,414,658

Deferred tax liability
Property, plant and equipment	 3,133,771	 2,817,814
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14.	 Contract assets		 		
	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000

Prepaid software subscription	  5,139 	 7,332 
Other	  2,462 	  4,103 
	 7,601	 11,435
			 
Current	 6,117	 9,475
Non-current	  1,484 	  1,960 
	 7,601	 11,435

15.	 Cash 	 	 	
	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000

Cash at banks 	 5,218,147	 3,407,459
			 
Cash at banks earns interest based on daily deposit rates.

16.	 Short-term investments		  	
	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000

Gross short-term investments	  1,185,268 	  2,552,569 
Less: Expected credit losses	  (536,634)	  (536,532)
Short-term investments	 648,634	 2,016,037
		

a)	 Short-term investments are made for varying periods of between 30 days and 12 months, depending 
on the immediate cash requirements of the Group. 

b) 	 The Group has an outstanding balance of TT$536.6 million as at 31 December 2021 from the insolvency 
of a financial institution which has been fully impaired in the consolidated financial statements.  
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17.	 Accounts receivable			 
	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000

Gross Accounts receivable	 7,157,217	 3,647,482
Less: Expected credit losses	  (726,397)	  (593,422)
Net Accounts receivable	 6,430,820	 3,054,060

Included in account receivable is trade receivable which are non-interest bearing and are generally on a 
30-60 day terms.

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their carrying amount is considered to be the same 
as their fair value.

	 Current	 > 30 days	 > 60 days	 > 90 days	 > 180 days	 > 365 days	 Total
	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000
As at 31 December 2021								      
Trade receivables 
individually assessed							    
Expected loss rate	 100.0%	 100.0%	 100.0%	 100.0%	 100.0%		 100.0%	
Gross receivables	  3 	  - 	  - 	  - 	  - 	  442,786 	 442,789
Loss allowance	 (3)	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	 (442,786)	  (442,789)
	  - 	  - 	  - 	  - 	  - 	  - 	  - 
						    
Trade receivables
 individually assessed 
- Power							     
Expected loss rate	 8.2%	 8.2%	 8.2%	 8.2%	 8.2%		 8.2%	
Gross receivables	  175,447 	  189,067 	  85,620 	  170,513 	  473,130 	  1,857,256 	 2,951,033
Loss allowance	 (14,458)	 (15,580)	 (7,056)	 (14,051)	 (38,989)	 (153,049)	  (243,183)
	  160,989 	  173,487 	  78,564 	  156,462 	  434,141 	  1,704,207 	  2,707,850 

Trade receivables 
collectively assessed*			 
Gross receivables	  3,473,328 	 73,071 	  51,465 	  90,492 	  45,764 	  29,275 	 3,763,395
Loss allowance	 (31,099)	 (737)	 (1,001)	 (2,196)	 (1,425)	 (3,967)	  (40,425)
	  3,442,229 	  72,334 	  50,464 	  88,296 	  44,339 	  25,308 	  3,722,970 
						    
Net carrying amount	  3,603,218 	  245,821 	  129,028 	  244,758 	  478,480 	 1,729,515	 6,430,820 		
									      
			 
* The expected loss rate on the Group’s trade receivables collectively assessed for 2021 is 1.07% (2020: 1.08%)
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17.	 Accounts receivable (continued)

	 Current	 > 30 days	 > 60 days	 > 90 days	 > 180 days		 > 365 days	 Total
	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000
As at 31 December 2020									      
Trade receivables 
individually assessed									      
Expected loss rate	 100.0%	 100.0%	 100.0%	 100.0%	 100.0%		 100.0%		
Gross receivables	  3 	  1 	  1 	  4 	  11,565 	  436,835 	 448,409
Loss allowance	 (3)	 (1)	 (1)	 (4)	 (11,565)	 (436,835)	  (448,409)
	  - 	  - 	  - 	  - 	  - 	  - 	  - 
Trade receivables 
individually assessed
 - Power									      
Expected loss rate	 6.8%	 6.8%	 6.8%	 6.8%	 6.8%		 6.8%		
Gross receivables	  165,798 	  86,720 	  84,678 	  243,140 	  532,880 	  825,132 	 1,938,348
Loss allowance	 (11,238)	 (5,878)	 (5,740)	 (16,480)	 (36,119)	 (55,929)	  (131,384)	
	 154,560 	  80,842 	  78,938 	  226,660 	  496,761 	  769,203 	  1,806,964 
									      
Trade receivables 
collectively assessed *	 								     
Gross receivables	  1,072,372 	  71,671 	  34,888 	  7,173 	  37,330 	  37,291 	 1,260,725
Loss allowance	 (11,363)	 (598)	 (198)	 (166)	 (188)	 (1,116)	  (13,629)
	  1,061,009 	  71,073 	  34,690 	  7,007 	  37,142 	  36,175 	  1,247,096 

Net carrying amount	  1,215,569 	  151,915 	  113,628 	  233,667 	  533,903 	  805,378 	  3,054,060 
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17.	 Accounts receivable (continued)

	 The closing loss allowances for trade receivables as at 31 December 2021 reconcile to the opening loss 	
	 allowances as follows:

	 2021	 2020	
	 Individually 	Collectively		  Individually	 Collectively
	 Assessed 	 Assessed	 Total	 Assessed	 Assessed 	 Total
	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000
Opening Balance
 as at 1 January 	  579,793 	  13,629 	  593,422 	  573,508 	  21,695 	  595,203 

Increase/(decrease) in
expected credit loss 
recognised in profit and 
loss during the year (Other)	  (435)	  21,583 	  21,148 	  6,285 	  (8,080)	  (1,795)

Increase/(decrease) in 
expected credit loss 
recognised in profit and loss
during the year (Power)	  111,799 	  -   	  111,799 	  -   	  -   	  -   

Amounts recovered	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	  (17)	  (17)

Foreign exchange adjustment	  24 	  4 	  28 	  -   	  31 	  31 

Closing balance 
as at 31 December 	  691,181 	  35,216 	  726,397 	  579,793 	  13,629 	  593,422 
							     
	
The expected credit loss on trade receivables are presented within impairment losses, subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the same line item.

18.	 Sundry debtors and prepayments			 
	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000
Sundry debtors and prepayments comprise the following:		
Due from the Ministry of Energy and Energy Industries	  494,088 	  482,472 
Impairment charge (a)         	  (494,088)	  (482,472)
	  -   	  -   
Prepayments (b)	  170,192 	  184,270 
Staff related balances	  2,292 	  1,688 
Value Added Tax	  335,642 	  281,116 
Interest receivable	  24,320 	  28,241 
Sundry receivables	  96,334 	  359,569 
Accrued income	  33,886 	  16,777 
Other	  46,443 	  24,958 
	  709,109 	  896,619 
	
a) 	Impairment charge 
	 The Group invested funds in excess of the approved Public Sector Investment Programme (PSIP) 

allocation. This additional investment remains outstanding from the Ministry of Energy and Energy 
Industries and due to uncertainty of repayment a full provision was made for the outstanding balance.

b)	Prepayments
	 Included in prepayments is an amount of TT$75.1 million (US$11.1 million) representing a 60% balance receivable 

on tax objections settled (100% - US$18.5 million) with Board of Inland Revenue (BIR) during 2021. 
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19.	 Inventories	
	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000

Liquefied natural gas	 149,607	 46,925
Consumable spares	 206,448	 215,749
Natural gas liquids	 205,452	 78,754
Stock of crude oil	 2,617	  -   
Other	 5,566	 5,097
Allowance for slow moving and obsolete stock	  (26,769)	  (26,762)
	 542,921	 319,763

20.	 Share capital		  	

Authorised		
An unlimited number of ordinary shares of no par value		

Issued and fully paid	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000
1,855,266,340 ordinary shares of no par value	 1,855,266	 1,855,266
		

21.	 Reserve fund

A reserve fund has been set up by the Board of Directors with the objective of minimising the Group’s 
exposure arising from business interruption, adverse gas price fluctuations, and liabilities or losses which 
may result from accidents on its self-insured assets.

Transfers to the reserve fund will be made in such cases where the Group’s standard return on equity is 
exceeded. The fund cap is 25% of the issued stated capital of the NGC.
		
	

22.	 Other reserves		  	
	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000
Other reserves comprise the following:		
Revaluation surplus for plant and equipment and 
pipelines, net of deferred tax	 1,682,700	 1,983,024
Unrealised gain on financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income	 953,567	 747,002
Foreign currency translation	 1,495,840	 1,512,755
	 4,132,107	 4,242,781
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23.	 Borrowings		  		
	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000

US $400M 30-year bond (a)	  2,327,706 	 2,327,259 
First Citizens Bank Limited (b)	  -   	  45,469 
	  2,327,706 	  2,372,728 
Current portion	  (63,699)	  (109,156)
Non-current portion	  2,264,007 	  2,263,572 
	
a)	 This loan relates to a US$400 million bond issued on 20 January 2006 to finance the construction/ 

acquisition of two new offshore pipelines and for advances to Trinidad & Tobago LNG Limited to fund 
11.11% of its shareholder loans to ALNG 4 Company of Trinidad and Tobago Unlimited. Following the 
repurchase of bond amounting to TT$407.7 million (US$60.3 million), as at 31 December 2021 (2020: 
TT$407.7 million (US$60.3 million)). The net amount outstanding is TT$2.3 billion (US$339.7 million).

	 The bond will be redeemed via a bullet payment on 15 January 2036. Interest is payable semi-annually 
in arrears at a fixed rate of 6.05% which commenced in 2006. The fair value of the bond was $2,355.6 
million (US$348.3 million) as at 31 December 2021 (2020: TT$2,468.1 million (US$355.6 million)) based on 
the quoted bid price as at 31 December 2021.

b)	 The Group has a long-term loan that matured in March 2021 with First Citizens Bank Limited which 
was issued on 26 March 2016 at a fixed interest rate of 2.04%. Semi-annual payments of principal and 
interest for the loan commenced in September 2016.  The loan facility was unsecured and used to repay 
the outstanding balances on two long-term senior bonds due April 2018 and April 2020 as well as 
finance the early repayment premium on the two facilities. This loan was fully repaid as at March 2021. 

	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000
Maturity profile of borrowings			 
In one year or less	 63,699	 109,156
In more than five years	 2,264,007	 2,263,572
	 2,327,706	 2,372,728
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24.	 Contract liabilities		  	
	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000

Non-refundable capital contribution (a)	 2,337	 2,455
Capital grant (b)	 72,068	 75,185
Transportation tariff (c)	 14,469	 14,555
Pier user charges (d)	 16,106	 21,463
Other	 56,628	 43,519
	 161,608	 157,177
			 
Current	 79,106	 65,391
Non-current	 82,502	 91,786
	 161,608	 157,177
		
	
Notes

a)	 Non-refundable capital contributions received from industrial users are amortised to profit or loss over 
the period of the industrial users’ sales contracts.

b)	 This amount relates to capital grants expended on depreciable assets and are to be amortised to profit 
or loss over the useful lives of the related asset.

c)	 This amount comprises shippers reserve capacity, which is billed one month in advance.
d)	 This amount comprises pier user and berth charges, which are billed in advance.
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25.	 Provisions		  		
	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000
Asset retirement obligation: (Note (a))			 
Balance as at 1 January	  1,384,581 	 1,178,100
Increase in provision	  745,761 	 206,594 
Derecognition of provision due to disposal of Block 1A	  (41,551)	 -
Foreign currency translation	  357 	 (113)
Balance as at 31 December	 2,089,148	 1,384,581
			 
Claims / Land purchase: (Note (b))			 
Balance as at 1 January	  1,569,711 	 1,053,009
(Decrease)/increase in provision	  (663,189)	  516,055 
Foreign currency translation	  (219)	  647 
Balance as at 31 December	 906,303	 1,569,711
			 
Provision for economic loss: (Note (c))			 
Balance as at 1 January	  4,476,138 	  2,689,417 
(Decrease)/increase in provision	  (627,879)	  2,054,338 
Unwinding of provision	  (583,733)	  (270,990)
Change in discount rate	  (157,105)	  -   
Foreign currency translation	  (213)	  3,373 
Balance as at 31 December	 3,107,208	 4,476,138
			 
Total provision as at 31 December	  6,102,659 	  7,430,430 

Current	  212,977 	  617,771 
Non-current	  5,889,682 	  6,812,659 
Total	  6,102,659 	 7,430,430 
			 
	
(a)	Asset retirement obligation
	 The Group has joint interests in Teak, Samaan and Poui, Atlantic LNG Company of Trinidad and Tobago, 

Block 2C, Block 3A, Block 22 and NCMA-4 and Block 9 and NCMA 1 Unitization Oil and Gas Production 
assets with an obligation to return to original condition after assets are retired.  As such a provision 
has been made for the expected cost for the decommissioning of the assets. The provision has been 
estimated using existing technology, at current prices adjusted for risk, and discounted. The discount 
rate is determined by reference to the interest rate on government bonds with a similar maturity date 
as the estimated decommissioning date for the various assets.  

(b)	 Claims / Land purchase
	 The Group has recorded a provision for a claim made by a Downstream customer and the anticipated 

cost to purchase of right of way lands.

(c) 	Provision for economic loss
	 The Group has contracts under which the unavoidable costs of meeting these obligations exceed the 

economic benefits expected to be received. The Group has recorded a provision for the net unavoidable 
costs expected to be incurred during the respective contract periods.
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26.	 Post-retirement medical and group life obligation

Funding

The Parent provides both medical and life benefits to its retirees. These benefits are determined using 
actuarial valuations which involves making assumptions about discount rates, future salary increases 
and medical cost inflation. Due to the long-term nature of these plans such estimates are subject to 
significant uncertainty.  The Plan has no assets.  The Parent expects to pay $0.50 million and $3.20 million 
in Post retirement life and medical respectively in 2022.

The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations for medical and group life 
were as follows:
	 2021	 2020
	 %	 %
Medical cost inflation	 5.75	 5.75
Discount rate	 6.00	 5.50
General salary increases	 6.00	 6.00

Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on published mortality tables.  The life expectancies 
underlying the value of the defined benefit obligation as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Life expectancy at age 60 for current pensioner in years:
Male	 21.8	 21.8
Female	 26.1	 26.0

Life expectancy at age 60 for current members aged 40 - in years:
Male	 22.7	 22.7
Female	 27.0	 27.0

Expense recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss is as follows:
	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000

Current service cost	 9,841	 11,219
Net interest on net defined benefit liability	 10,768	 10,351

Net benefit cost	 20,609	 21,570

Re-measurement recognised in other comprehensive income
Experience gains	 60,365	 10,895

Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income	 60,365	 10,895
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26.	 Post-retirement medical and group life obligation (continued)

Net liability in the statement of financial position arising from the entity’s obligation in respect of its 
defined benefit plans is as follows:
	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000

Net defined benefit liability	 154,725	 197,658

Reconciliation of opening and closing statement of financial position:
Opening defined benefit liability	 197,658	 189,999
Net post-retirement medical and group life obligation	 20,609	 21,570
Re-measurements:		
     Experience adjustments	 (9,682)	 (10,895)
     Re-measurement due to change in attribution method	 (29,349)	 -
     Actuarial gains from changes in financial assumptions	 (12,445)	 -
     Actuarial gains from changes in demographic	 (8,889)	 -
Group’s premiums paid	 (3,177)	 (3,016)

Defined benefit obligation at end of year	 154,725	 197,658

27.	 Pension asset/obligation 

The Parent and its subsidiaries’ employees excluding PPGPL are members of NGC’s Defined Benefit 
Pension Plan. The final salary defined benefit plan was wound up effective 31 December 2018 to a Career 
Average Defined Plan from 1 January 2019. The plan’s financial funding position is assessed by means of 
triennial actuarial valuations and carried out by an independent actuary.

The employees of PPGPL, are under a defined contribution plan which came in effect from 1 January 
2003.  This plan is a post-employment plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate 
entity and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay future amounts covering all full-time employees 
and is funded by payments from employees and employer taking into account the recommendations of 
independent qualified actuaries.  

Funding

The Group meets the balance of the cost of funding the pension plan. It must pay contributions at least 
equal to twice the fixed amount paid by members.  The funding requirements are based on regular (at 
least every 3 years) actuarial valuations of the plan and the assumptions used to determine the funding 
required may differ from those set out above.  The Group expects to pay $34.0 million to pensions during 
2022.

The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations were as follows:

	 2021	 2020
	 %	 %

Discount rate	 6.0	 5.5
General salary increases 	 4.0	 4.0
Salary increases due to age, merit and promotion 	 2.0	 2.0

Life expectancy at age 60 for current pensioner in years:
Male	 21.8	 21.8
Female	 26.1	 26.0
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27.	 Pension asset/obligation (continued)

Life expectancy at age 60 for current members aged 40 in years:
Male	 22.7	 22.7
Female	 27.0	 27.0

Expenses recognised in the statement of profit or loss is as follows:
	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000

Current service cost	 (25,748)	 (14,262)
Net interest on net defined benefit liability	 (572)	 (3,295)
Administration expenses 	 (1,047)	 (1,097)

Net benefit cost	 (27,367)	 (18,654)

Re-measurement recognised in other comprehensive income:
Experience gains	 114,709	 22,634

Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income	 114,709	 22,634

The net liability in the statement of financial position arising from the entity’s obligation in respect of its 
defined benefit plans is as follows: 
	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000

Present value of defined benefit obligation	 (1,058,377)	 (1,084,202)
Fair value of plan assets 	 1,146,741	 1,051,482

Net defined benefit asset/(liability)	 88,364	 (32,720)

Reconciliation of opening and closing statement of financial position entries:

Opening defined benefit liability	 (32,720)	 (106,637)
Net pension cost  	 (27,367)	 (18,654)
Re-measurement recognised in other comprehensive income	 114,709	 22,634
Group contributions paid	 33,742	 69,937

Closing defined benefit asset/(obligation) 	 88,364	 (32,720)

Movement in present value of defined benefit obligation:

Defined benefit obligation at start of year	 1,084,202	 1,038,731
Current service cost	 25,748	 14,262
Interest cost	 58,160	 55,762
Members contribution	 12,562	 25,863
Re-measurements:		
   Experience adjustments	 (864)	 -
   Actuarial (gain) / losses from changes in assumptions 	 (67,209)	 -
Benefits paid	 (54,222)	 (50,416)

Defined benefit obligation at end of year	 1,058,377	 1,084,202
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27.	 Pension asset/obligation (continued)

Movement in fair value of plan assets/asset allocation:
	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000

Fair value of plan assets at start of year 	 1,051,482	 932,094
Interest income	 57,588	 52,467
Return on plan assets excluding interest income	 46,636	 22,634
Group contributions	 33,742	 69,937
Members’ contributions	 12,562	 25,863
Benefits paid	 (54,222)	 (50,416)
Expenses 	 (1,047)	 (1,097)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year	 1,146,741	 1,051,482

	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000
Asset allocation:
Locally listed equities	 317,127	 245,210
Overseas equities 	 244,705	 195,167
Government issued bonds	 390,561	 344,475
Corporate bonds	 102,812	 119,714
Mutual funds 	 31,252	 25,214
Cash 	 57,714	 118,638
Annuities  	 2,570	 3,064

Fair value of plan assets at end of year	 1,146,741	 1,051,482

Re-measurement recognised in Other Comprehensive Income:
Experience gains
Pension 	 114,709	 22,634
Post-retirement medical (see note 26)	 54,942	 10,040
Pos-retirement group life (see note 26)	 5,423	 855

Fair value of plan assets at end of year	 175,074	 33,529
 

28.	 Trade payables		  	
	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000

Trade payables are settled on 30 day terms	 4,532,229	 1,978,713
			 
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are generally settled within 30 days.
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29.	 Sundry payables and accruals		  	
	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000
			 
Accrued interest	 14,048	 15,154
Material/service amounts	 175,167	 661,312
Contract provisions	 173,400	 173,841
Employee related 	 105,389	 64,333
	 468,004	 914,640
		
	

30.	 Sales and Cost of Sales		  	
	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000
Sales		

Natural gas	 16,811,226	 7,831,395
Natural gasoline	 1,170,198	 775,913
Natural gas liquids 	 2,448,573	 1,220,320
Condensate 	  -   	  (4,540)
Transportation tariffs 	 207,286	 167,713
Crude oil	 1,071,592	 537,256
Rental	 29,919	 18,503
Liquefied natural gas	 1,258,196	 543,030
Methanol	 250,057	 -
Marine facilities and services	 361,500	 324,311

	 23,608,547	 11,413,901
			 
Cost of sales	

Gas purchases	 15,121,802	 7,777,294
Feedstock purchases	 1,713,426	 1,029,121
Methanol	 168,836	  -   
Processing charges	 249,779	  390,904 
Depreciation	 877,227	 933,281
Production taxes/Supplemental petroleum taxes	 99,974	 3,705
Maintenance cost	  52,259 	 48,385
Staff cost 	 88,619	 74,457
Royalties	 38,712	 18,610
Royalty tax	  98,605 	  (436,113)
Exploration and production costs	 251,988	 161,857
Other operating cost 	 165,958	 76,918

	 18,927,185	 10,078,419
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31.	 Other income		  	
	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000

Lease income	 21,120	 43,776
Operating and maintenance fees 	 4,282	 3,219	
Management fees 	  -   	 227
Amortisation of non-refundable capital contribution	 315	 1,057
Liquefied natural gas production payments	 116,446	 128,908
Other income 	 38,108	 4,684
	 180,271	 181,871

32.	 Interest and investment income		 	
	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000

Interest and investment income	 16,783	 51,208
Interest income on T&TEC loan	 221,717	  224,439 
Fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets	  (34,445)	  225,022 
Gain on disposal of investments	  734 	  5,080 
Dividend income	  57,500 	 17,936
	  262,289 	 523,685

33.	 Gain on disposal of interest in asset

	The Group sold its 20% interest in Block 1A to DeNovo effective 1 January 2021.  The sale resulted 
in a gain on disposal of net assets TT$10.99 million (US$1.63 million).

34.	 Administrative, maintenance and general expenses		  		
			 
	 2021	 2020	
	 $’000	 $’000

Staff costs	  371,007 	  365,405 
Pension and post-retirement medical and group life	  58,494 	  54,964 
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation	  59,377 	  61,500 
Material, service and contract labor	  21,758 	  26,087 
Consulting and professional fees	  83,882 	  49,871 
Legal claims 	  (291,326)	  516,055 
Non-operating maintenance and decommissioning charges	  55,407 	  267,986 
Other 	  332,994 	  371,647 
	  691,593 	  1,713,515 
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35.	 Change in provision for economic losses		  	
	
	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000

Onerous contracts	  (784,984)	  2,055,302 
Unwinding of provision for onerous contracts	  (583,733)	  (270,990)
	  (1,368,717)	  1,784,312 
		

36.	 Impairment 		  	
	 2021	 2020	
	 $’000	 $’000

Pipeline revaluation loss (Note 5(a))	  -   	  1,618,285 
Property, plant and equipment – other assets (Note 5)	  654,115 	  (66,502)
Trade receivable 	  148,874 	  7,369 
Investment properties (Note 6)	  (507)	  2,571 
Loan receivable 	  (1,587)	  (1,384)
Other	  -   	  (28,151)
	  800,895 	  1,532,188 

37.	 Finance costs 		  	
	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000

Interest on loans and bonds	  161,865 	  170,248 
Royalty tax interest	  -   	  (28,402)
Decommissioning obligation	  29,549 	  9,801 
Leases 	  9,718 	  10,096 
	  201,132 	  161,743 
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38.	 Share of profit/(loss) from associate 

Name of Group	 Place of incorporation 	 Proportion of
	 and operation 	 ownership		
		  interest and voting 	
		  powers held by the 	
		  Group
		  2021		  2020
Caribbean Gas Chemical Limited (CGCL)	 Trinidad and Tobago	 20%		  20%
Point Fortin LNG Export Limited (PFLE)	 Trinidad and Tobago	 19.5%		  -

CGCL and PFLE are limited liability companies in which the Parent owns a 20% and 19.5% ownership 
interest through NGC Petrochemicals Limited and NGC E&P Investments Limited respectively.

	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000
Share of profit/(loss) from associate:		
- CGCL	 25,463	 (39,185)
- PFLE	 23,452	 -

	 48,915	 (39,185)

39.	 Taxation		  		

	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000
		
Corporation tax	  886,254 	  210,334 
Petroleum profit tax	  698,399 	  289,502 
Business levy	  917 	  55,861 
Green fund levy	  71,138 	  39,513 
Current tax expense	  1,656,708 	  595,210 
Deferred tax expense/(credit)	  633,592 	  (1,650,512)
	  2,290,300 	  (1,055,302)

Reconciliation between tax expense and the product 
of accounting profit multiplied by applicable tax rate:		
	
Profit/(loss) for the year before taxation	  4,858,931 	  (3,189,905)

Tax at the rate of 35%	  1,700,626 	  (1,116,467)
Tax exempt income	  (61,314)	  (372,486)
Non-deductible expenses/permanent differences	  256,554 	  574,082 
Prior years’ tax	  38,372 	  (214)
Business levy	  917 	  55,861 
Green fund	  71,138 	  39,190 
Tax effect of subsidiaries at different rate	  224,830 	  27,986 
Tax losses un-utilized/utilized	  68,853 	  (34,653)
Deferred tax written off	  -   	  (150,704)

Foreign exchange translation	  43,112 	  (54,706)
Other differences	  (52,788)	  (23,191)

Taxation expense/(credit)	  2,290,300 	  (1,055,302)
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40.	 Cash generated from operations
		  	

	 2021	 2020	
	  $’000 	  $’000 
			 
Profit/(loss) for the year before taxation	  4,858,931 	  (3,189,905)
	
Adjustments to reconcile profit/(loss) for the year before			 
taxation with net cash from operating activities:			 
	
Depreciation	  793,581 	  994,781 
Impairment charge of property, plant and equipment 
and investment properties	 650,825 	  1,526,201 
Impairment charge of other receivables                          	  150,070 	  5,986 
(Decrease)/increase in decommissioning provision	  (8,030)	  61,087 
(Decrease)/increase in onerous contract provision	  (1,368,717)	  1,784,312 
(Decrease)/increase in claim and abandonment provisions 	  (680,315)	  617,310 
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment	  (10,099)	  1,901 
Share of (gain)/loss in associates	  (48,915)	  39,185 
Re-measurement of right-of-use assets	  -   	  (6,261)
Post-retirement costs	  47,978 	  40,224 
Dividend income	  (57,500)	  (17,936)
Amortisation of deferred income	  16,624 	  (3,118)
Provision for annual vacation leave	  -   	  1,527 
Finance costs	  201,132 	  161,743 
Interest income on finance lease	  (16,027)	  (31,112)
Interest and investment income	  (203,834)	  (499,015)

Operating profit before working capital changes	  4,325,704 	  1,486,910 

Working capital changes:			 
Increase in accounts receivable and sundry debtors	 (3,304,681)	  (763,118)
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets	  3,822 	  (4,802)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories	  (222,921)	  81,978 
Decrease in contract liabilities	 (11,825)	  (12,376)
Increase/(decrease) in trade creditors, sundry creditors and accruals 	 2,024,099 	  (357,977)

Cash flows from operating activities	 2,814,198 	  430,615 
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41.	 Subsidiaries

a)	 The subsidiaries are as follows:

Entities Principal activity

Place of 
incorporation  
and operation

Proportion of 
shareholding and 

 voting power held 

2021 2020
Subsidiaries

Downstream 
Petrochemicals Research 
and Development Limited

Management of DME and 
Downstream Promotion 
Fund 

Trinidad and 
Tobago

100% 100%

National Energy 
Corporation of Trinidad  
and Tobago Limited

Management of marine 
infrastructural facilities and 
Industrial Estate 

Trinidad and 
Tobago

100% 100%

NGC Caribbean 
Investments Limited

20.13% equity in exploration, 
development and 
production of oil and gas of 
Block 3A

Trinidad and 
Tobago

100% 100%

NGC CNG Company 
Limited

Construct, operate and 
maintain compressed 
Natural Gas Service Stations 

Trinidad and 
Tobago

100% 100%

NGC E&P (Barbados) 
Limited 

0.01% membership in 
NGC E&P Netherlands 
Coöperatief U.A. which 
holds a 30% interest in Block 
2C and 11.41% interest in 
Block 3A

Barbados 100% 100%

NGC E&P Investments 
(Barbados) Limited 

99.99% membership in 
NGC E&P Netherlands 
Coöperatief U.A. which 
holds a 30% interest in Block 
2C and 11.41% interest in 
Block 3A

Barbados 100% 100%

NGC E&P Investments 
Limited 

20% equity interest in 
exploration, development 
and production of gas of 
Block 1A was sold on 1 
January 2021.  The Company 
holds 10% and 20% working 
interest respectively in Block 
22 and NCMA-4 in the North 
Coast Marine Area, 19.5% 
working interest in Block 9 
and NCMA 1 Unitization and 
19.5% of issued share capital 
of Point Fortin LNG Export 
Limited.

Trinidad and 
Tobago 

100% 100%
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41.	 Subsidiaries (continued)

a)	 The subsidiaries are as follows (continued):

Entities Principal activity

Place of 
incorporation 
and operation

Proportion of 
shareholding and  

voting power held 
2021 2020

Subsidiaries 

NGC Group Captive 
Insurance (Barbados) 
Limited 

Insurer of various risk of its 
Parent (NGC) and subsidiaries 
assets 

Barbados 100% 100%

NGC Petrochemicals   
Limited

20% equity interest in 
Caribbean Gas Chemical 
Limited which produces, 
markets and sells DME and 
Methanol

Trinidad and 
Tobago

100% 100%

NGC Pipeline Company 
Limited

Own, operate and maintain 
a 56 inch cross island pipeline 
(‘CIP’) 

Trinidad and 
Tobago

100% 100%

Trinidad and Tobago LNG 
Limited

11.11% ownership at Atlantic 
Train 4 which sells liquified 
natural gas (‘LNG’) and natural 
gas liquids (‘NGLs’)

Trinidad and 
Tobago

100% 100%

La Brea Industrial 
Development Company 
Limited

Management of industrial 
estate and marine 
infrastructure facilities

Trinidad and 
Tobago

91.55% 91.55%

NGC NGL Company 
Limited

51% equity interest in Phoenix 
Park Gas Processors Limited 
which processes natural gas, 
the aggregation, fractionation 
and marketing of natural gas 
liquids 

Trinidad and 
Tobago 

80% 80%

NGC Trinidad and Tobago 
LNG Limited 

10% ownership in Atlantic 
Train 1 which sells liquified 
natural gas (‘LNG’) and natural 
gas liquids (‘NGLs’)

Trinidad and 
Tobago

62.16% 62.16%

Trinidad and Tobago NGL 
Limited

39% equity interest in Phoenix 
Park Gas Processors Limited 
which processes natural gas, 
the aggregation, fractionation 
and marketing of natural gas 
liquids 

Trinidad and 
Tobago

25% 25%
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41.	 Subsidiaries (continued)

a)	 The subsidiaries are as follows (continued):

Entities Principal activity

Place of 
incorporation 
and operation

Proportion of 
shareholding and  

voting power held 
2021 2020

Sub-Subsidiaries

Phoenix Park Gas 
Processors Limited 

Natural gas processing, the 
aggregation, fractionation 
and marketing of natural gas 
liquids

Trinidad and 
Tobago

50.55% 50.55%

NGC E&P Netherlands 
Coöperatief U.A

100% equity interest in 
NGC E&P Investments 
(Netherlands) B.V. which holds 
a 30% interest in Block 2C and 
NGC E&P (Netherlands) B.V. 
which holds a 11.41% interest 
in Block 3A

Incorporation – 
Netherlands
Operation - 
Trinidad and 
Tobago

100% 100%

NGC E&P (Netherlands) B.V. 11.41% equity in exploration, 
development and production 
of oil and gas of Block 3A

Incorporation – 
Netherlands
Operation - 
Trinidad and 
Tobago

100% 100%

NGC E&P Investments 
(Netherlands) B.V.
 

30% equity interest in the 
exploration, development and 
production of oil and gas of 
Block 2C

Incorporation – 
Netherlands
Operation - 
Trinidad and 
Tobago

100% 100%
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41.	 Subsidiaries (continued)

b)	 Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries with material non-controlling interest

Entities

Place of 
incorporation 
and operation

Proportion of 
shareholding and 
voting rights held 
by non-controlling 

interest

Profit allocated to 
non-controlling 

interests
Accumulated non- 
controlling interest

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Phoenix Park Gas 
Processors Limited

Trinidad and 
Tobago 10%* 10%* 54,523 11,683 203,896 167,970

Fair value adjustment to non-controlling interest in PPGPL   (65,515)
   

(65,503) (5,832) 59,683

Trinidad and Tobago 
NGL Limited 

Trinidad and 
Tobago 75%* 75%* 159,480 34,174 2,080,240 1,955,192

NGC Trinidad and 
Tobago LNG Company 
Limited

Trinidad and 
Tobago 37.84% 37.84% (776) (35,957) 42,919 43,688

NGC NGL Company 
Limited

Trinidad and 
Tobago 20% 20% 55,174 12,029 302,864 247,600

La Brea Industrial 
Development 
Company Limited

Trinidad and 
Tobago 8.45% 8.45% 192 (2,777) 30,774 30,583

Total 2,654,861 2,504,716
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41.	 Subsidiaries (continued)

b)	 Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries with a material non-controlling interest (continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s subsidiaries that have 
material non-controlling interests is set out below.  The summarised financial information below 
represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

Phoenix Park Gas Processors Limited (‘PPGPL’)	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000
Summary statement of financial position 		
Current assets	       1,670,581 	       1,044,261 
Non-current assets	       1,466,205 	       1,609,673 
Current liabilities	         (521,781)	         (318,175)
Non-current liabilities	         (343,407)	         (424,117)
Equity attributable to owners of the PPGPL	       2,067,702 	       1,743,672 
Non-controlling interest of PPGPL	          203,896 	          167,970 
	
Summary statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income 		
	
Revenue	       3,704,128	       2,082,785 
Expenses	      (3,158,896)	      (1,965,951)
Profit for the year	          545,232 	          116,834 
		
	
Profit attributable to owners of PPGPL	          490,709 	          105,151 
Profit attributable to the non-controlling interest	            54,523 	            11,683 
Profit for the year	          545,232 	          116,834 
		
	
Other comprehensive income attributable to owners of PPGPL	                   -   	                   -   
Other comprehensive income attributable to the non-controlling interest	                   -   	                   -   
Other comprehensive income for the year	                   -   	                   -   

Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of PPGPL	          490,709 	          105,151 
Total comprehensive income attributable to the non-controlling interest	            54,523 	            11,683 
Total comprehensive income for the year	          545,232 	          116,834 

Dividends paid to non-controlling interest	            18,597       	                   -   
		
	
Summary statement of cash flows	  	
	
Net cash generated from operating activities	          743,826 	          297,128 
Net cash used in investing activities	           (22,231)	         (125,610)
Net cash used in financing activities	         (248,361)	         (104,501)
Net cash inflow 	           473,234 	            67,017 
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41.	 Subsidiaries (continued)

b)	 Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries with a material non-controlling interest (continued)

Trinidad and Tobago NGL Limited (‘TTNGL’)	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000
Summary statement of financial position 		
Current assets	      132,602 	      107,616 
Non-current assets	    3,584,648 	    3,141,459 
Current liabilities	         (1,615)	            (828)
Equity attributable to owners of TTNGL	    1,635,395 	    1,293,055 
Non-controlling interest	     2,080,240 	    1,955,192 

Summary statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income 		

Revenue	       212,838 	        45,913 
Other expenses	       299,972	       (39,513)
Profit for the year	        512,810 	          6,400 
		
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of TTNGL	       353,330	       (27,774)
Profit attributable to the non-controlling interest	       159,480	        34,174 
Profit for the year	        512,810 	          6,400 
		
Other comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to owners of TTNGL	              255	            (148)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to the non-controlling interest	     764	            (445)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year	           1,018	            (593)
	
Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to owners of TTNGL	        353,584	       (27,922)
Total comprehensive income attributable to the non-controlling interest	        160,244 	        33,729 
Total comprehensive income for the year	        513,828 	          5,807 

Dividends paid to non-controlling interest	          34,830 	        29,025 

Summary statement of cash flows			 
Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities	         71,144	         (1,224)
Net cash generated from investing activities	              100 	             237 
Net cash used in financing activities	       (46,440)	       (38,700)

Net cash inflow/(outflow)	         24,804	       (39,687)
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41.	 Subsidiaries (continued)

b)	 Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries with a material non-controlling interest (continued)

NGC NGL Company Limited (‘NGC NGL’)	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000
Summary statement of financial position 	 	
Current assets	      345,903 	      252,489 
Non-current assets	    1,158,517 	      974,937 
Current liabilities	            (739)	             (64)
Equity attributable to owners of NGC NGL	     1,200,817 	      979,762 
Non-controlling interest	      302,864 	      247,600 

Summary statement of profit or loss and
 other comprehensive income 		
	
Revenue	        278,151 	        62,045 
Other expenses	         (2,281)	         (1,901)
Profit for the year	       275,870 	        60,144 
		
Profit attributable to owners of NGC NGL	        220,696 	        48,115 
Profit attributable to the non-controlling interest	        55,174 	        12,029 

Profit for the year	        275,870	        60,144 
		
Other comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to owners of NGC NGL	 359	            (398)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to the non-controlling interest	  90	            (100)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year	            449	            (498)
		
	
Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of NGC NGL	        221,055 	        47,717 
Total comprehensive income attributable to the non-controlling interest	        55,264 	        11,929 
Total comprehensive income for the year	        276,319 	        59,646 
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest	        - 	        20,000 
	
Summary statement of cash flows		
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities	        (2,153) 	        17,796 
Net cash generated from investing activities	      95,059 	      148,760 
Net cash used in financing activities	     -	     (100,000)
Net cash inflow	        92,906 	        66,556 
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41.	 Subsidiaries (continued)

b)	 Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries with a material non-controlling interest (continued)

NGC Trinidad and Tobago LNG Limited (‘NGC LNG’)	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000
Summary statement of financial position 		
Current assets	      214,942 	      216,960 
Current liabilities	             (82)	             (87)
Non-current liabilities	    (101,438)   	    (101,418)   
Equity attributable to owners of NGC LNG	        70,503 	        71,767 
Non-controlling interest	        42,919 	        43,688 

Summary statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income 		
	
Revenue	             124 	      103,602 
Expenses	         (2,176)	     (198,627)
Loss for the year	         (2,052)	       (95,025)
		
Loss attributable to owners of NGC LNG	         (1,276)	       (59,068)
Loss attributable to the non-controlling interest	            (776)	       (35,957)
Loss for the year	         (2,052)	       (95,025)	
		
Other comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to owners of NGC LNG	               12	       (37,098)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to the non-controlling interest	 7	       (22,584)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year	               19	       (59,682)
		
	
Total comprehensive loss attributable to owners of NGC LNG	         (1,264)	       (96,166)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to the non-controlling interest	 (769)	 (58,541)
Total comprehensive loss for the year	         (2,033)	     (154,707)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest	               -   	               -   
	
Summary statement of cash flows	
Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities	     164,743	     (173,970)
Net cash generated from investing activities	      143 	      107,053 
Net cash used in financing activities	               -   	               -   
Net cash inflow/(outflow)	       164,886	       (66,917)
	
Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets not held by the Group and 
are presented separately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
and within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, separately from parent shareholders’ 
equity. Comparative notes to the financial statements are based on information received by Management 
as at the reporting date.
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42.	 Associates

Company	 Place of incorporation	 Proportion of 			 
	 and operation	 ownership
		  interest and voting 		
		  powers 
		  2021	 2020

Caribbean Gas 

Chemical Limited	 Trinidad and Tobago	 20%	 20%

Point Fortin LNG Exports Limited	 Trinidad and Tobago	 19.5%	 -

Trinidad and Tobago Marine 

Petroleum Company Limited

 (Trintomar)	 Trinidad and Tobago	 20%	 20%

The investment in Trintomar has been fully impaired. 

43.	 Contingencies

a)	 Taxes

	 Claims made on NGC

	 The Board of Inland Revenue (BIR) issued additional assessments for years of income 1993 to 
1994 in respect of re-translation gains and resultant additional taxes totalling TT$20.1 million. The 
Parent has objected to the assessments by the Board of Inland Revenue. Management is currently 
awaiting judgement on this matter. Management has applied IFRIC 23, however the expected 
value is immaterial, and no provision has been made in the financial statements for any additional 
tax liabilities.

b)	 Customs bonds

	 The Group has contingent liabilities in the form a provision of guarantee to Scotiabank Trinidad 
and Tobago Limited in the amount of TT$5.4 million for one-year effective 01 November 2020. 
This guarantee is to support the CNG initiatives. 

c)	 Debt tail buy down agreement

	 The financing arrangements for the construction of the Trinidad Methanol and DME Project 
owned by Caribbean Gas Chemical Limited (“CGCL”) requires a Gas Reserves Adequacy Ratio of 
not less than zero.  If in any year during the tenor of the long-term project debt, the Gas Reserves 
Adequacy Ratio is not achieved then a debt tail buy down (DTBD) is triggered. In this instance, the 
Parent will effectively pay the debt owed and related costs (including interest, fees, swap amount 
and breakage costs) to the lenders of the project. NGC will then effectively assume the role of 
project lender to CGCL and CGCL shall repay NGC under similar terms and conditions, with an 
appropriate level of security transferred to NGC. 

d)	 Contingent consideration

	 The Group has a potential liability of TT$61.17 million (US$9.045 million) which is contingent on the 
production from two gas assets (NCMA 1/Block 22 and Block 9) exceeding production rate which 
parties have agreed to and expires in April 2023.

44.	 Capital commitments
	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000
Approved and contracted capital expenditure	 537,857	 302,512



135

THE NATIONAL GAS COMPANY OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO LIMITED

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2021
(Amounts expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars)

45.	 Commitment contracts

Take-or-pay

The Group has take-or-pay contracts with its customers, where the customer will be contractually required 
to take a specified volume for the contract year (the take-or-pay volume). If actual volume taken by a 
customer is below the take-or-pay Volume, then the customer is liable to pay a take-or-pay amount which 
is the product of the gas price and the difference between the take or pay volume and the actual volume 
taken. For 2021, the Group had no take-or-pay liability.

Sales 

The Group’s customers are obligated to take or if not taken pay for said natural gas at the current price, 
up to the contracted take-or-pay volume. The price of natural gas sold to the producers of ammonia and 
methanol are linked to the commodity produced by the customer. The contracts include floor prices that 
escalate annually, which represents the minimum prices for which natural gas can be sold to the respective 
customers.

One of the Group’s subsidiaries is committed to sell natural gas liquids to various companies under the 
terms of negotiated sales contracts.  

46.	 Related party transactions

The NGC is wholly-owned by the Government of Trinidad & Tobago (GORTT). In the ordinary course of its 
business, the NGC enters into transactions concerning the exchange of goods, provision of services and 
financing with affiliate companies as well as with entities directly and indirectly owned or controlled by 
the GORTT. 

Outstanding balances at the year-end are unsecured and the settlement occurs in cash. There have been 
no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables or payables.  

47.	 Compensation of key management personnel 

	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000

Short-term employee benefits	 75,315	 84,711
Post-employment benefit	 9,117	 9,103
	 84,432	 93,814

48.	 Financial risk management 

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including the effects of credit risks, liquidity 
risk, interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and market price risk. Accordingly, the Group’s financial 
performance and position are subject to changes in the financial markets. Overall risk management 
measures are focused on minimising the potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the 
Group. Set out below are the Group’s financial assets and liabilities.
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48.	 Financial risk management (continued)

Categories of financial instruments:

	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000
Assets:		
	
Financial assets:		
Other financial assets (Note 12)	         3,900,489 	         3,638,134 
Loans receivable (Note 11)	 3,703,666         	        3,822,168 
Accounts receivable (Note 17)	         6,430,820 	         3,054,060 
	       14,034,975 	       10,514,362 
Other receivables:		
Cash (Note 15)	 5,218,147 	         3,407,459 
Short-term investments (Note 16)	         648,634 	         2,016,037 
Sundry debtors (Note 18)	            203,275 	            431,234 
Net investment in leased assets (Note 8)	            190,620 	            189,919 
	         6,260,676	         6,044,650 
Total financial assets	       20,295,651 	       16,559,012 

Liabilities:		
	
Financial liabilities at amortized cost:		
Borrowings (Note 23)	 2,327,706	 2,372,728
Trade payables (Note 28)	 4,532,229	 1,978,713
Sundry payables and accruals (Note 29)	 468,004	 914,640
	
Total financial liabilities	 7,327,939	 5,266,081

Risk Management Structure 

The Board of Directors are responsible for the overall risk management approach and for approving the 
risk strategies principles, policies and procedures.  Day to day adherence to risk principles are carried out 
by the Executive Management of the Group in compliance with the policies approved by the Board of 
Directors.

The risk arising from the Group’s financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, foreign 
currency risk and other price risks. Management reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these 
risks which are summarised below:

a)	 Credit risk
	
	 Credit risk is the risk that a counter-party will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or 

customer contract, leading to a financial loss.  The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating 
activities (trade receivables) and from its financial activities including deposits with banks and financial 
institution, foreign exchange transactions and other financial instruments.   

	
	 Significant changes in the Group’s trade receivable balances could result in losses that are different 

from those provided at year end. Management carefully monitors its exposure to credit risk.  
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48.	 Financial risk management (continued)

a)	 Credit risk (continued)

Exposure to credit risk is further managed through regular analysis of the ability of debtors and 
financial institutions to settle outstanding balances.  The Group does not generally hold collateral as 
security. 

(i)  Debt instruments

The Group’s loan receivables are considered to have low credit risk, and the loss allowance 
recognised during the period was therefore limited to 12 months expected losses. 
The closing loss allowance as at 31 December 2021 as follows: 

Unquoted debt instruments	 Total
	 $’000
	 TT$
Opening expected credit loss allowance as at 1 January 2021	 19,205
Expected credit loss in current year	 (908)
Closing expected credit loss allowance as at 31 December 2021	 18,297
				  
	
Quoted debt instruments	 Total
	 $’000
	 TT$
Opening expected credit loss allowance as at 1 January 2021	 3,637
Expected credit loss in current year	 (709)
Foreign exchange difference 	 1
Closing expected credit loss allowance as at 31 December 2021	 2,929
			 
		

 (ii) Credit risk relating to cash at bank

Credit risks from balances with banks and financial instruments are managed in accordance with 
the Group’s policy. Investments or surplus funds are made only with approved counterparties 
and within limits assigned to each counterparty. Counterparty limits are reviewed by the Group’s 
Board of Directors on an annual basis. The limits are set to minimise the concentration of risk and 
therefore mitigate financial loss through potential counterparty failure.
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48.	 Financial risk management (continued)

b)	 Liquidity risk 

	 The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds by considering planned and probable 
expenditures against projected cash inflows from operations and from the settlement of financial 
assets such as account receivables and levels of cash sales.

	 The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities and 
commitments based on contractual (earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay) 
undiscounted payments at the statement of financial position date. The table includes both 
interest and principal cash flows.

		  On	 ≤ 3     	 3 - 12	 1 - 5    	 ≥ 5         	
		  demand	 months	 months	 years	 years	 Total
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000
As at 31 December 2021						    
Assets	 					   
Other financial assets	                 -   	                   -   	 1,152,741	 210,085	 852,075	 2,214,901
Loans receivable	                 -   	                314 	 274,107	 2,772,653	 1,738,171	 4,785,245
Net investment in leased assets	                -   	 6,527	 40,128	 127,674	 16,291	 190,620
Cash 		  5,218,147	          - 	                 -   	                  -   	             -   	 5,218,147
Short-term investments	                 -   	 289,208   	 358,669	 757	              -   	 648,634
Accounts receivable	                 -   	 6,430,820	                  -   	        -   	             -   	 6,430,820
Sundry debtors 	                 -   	 203,275	                  -   	                  -   	           -   	 203,275
		  5,218,147	 6,930,144	 1,825,645	 3,111,169	 2,606,537	 19,691,642
						    
Liabilities						    
Borrowings	                 -   	 69,435	 69,435	 555,484	 3,616,462	 4,310,816
Trade and other payables	                 -   	 4,995,727	 4,506	                   -   	                     -   	5,000,233
	       	           -   	 5,065,162	 73,941	 555,484	 3,616,462	 9,311,049
Net position	    5,218,147 	      1,864,982 	    1,751,704 	     2,555,685 	 (1,009,925)	 10,380,593
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48.	 Financial risk management (continued)

b)	 Liquidity risk (continued) 

		  On	 ≤ 3     	 3 - 12	 1 - 5    	 ≥ 5         	
		  demand	 months	 months	 years	 years	 Total
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000
As at 31 December 2020						    
Assets	 					   
Other financial assets	 -	 -	 1,052,251	 210,005	 858,672	 2,120,928
Loans receivable	 -	 -	 273,296	 2,338,394	 2,493,980	 5,105,670
Net investment in leased assets	 -	 5,520	 12,280	 155,953	 16,166	 189,919
Cash		  3,407,459	                   -   	                  -   	                  -   	                  -   	 3,407,459
Short-term investments	                 -   	 1,865,101	 150,204	 7,160	                   -   	 2,022,465
Accounts receivable	                 -   	 3,054,060	                  -   	                  -   	                   -   	 3,054,060
Sundry debtors 	                 -   	 898,298	                  -   	                  -   	                   -   	 898,298
		  3,407,459	 5,822,979	 1,488,031	 2,711,512	 3,368,818	 16,798,799
Liabilities						    
Borrowings	                 -   	 69,416	 114,885	 555,327	 3,860,540	 4,600,168
Trade and other payables	                 -   	 2,765,409	 4,219	 1,522	                   -   	 2,771,150
	             	     -   	 2,834,825	 119,104	 556,849	 3,860,540	 7,371,318
Net position	  3,407,459 	   2,988,154 	 1,368,927 	  2,154,663 	     (491,722)	    9,427,481 

 
c)    Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk for the Group’s centers primarily on the risk relating to the Group’s loan receivables 
which carries varying interest rates.

	 Increase/	 Effect on
	 (decrease) in	 profit before
	 basis points	 tax
		  $’000
Loan receivables			 
	
2021	 + 50	 274
	 - 50	              (274)
			 
2020	 + 50	 649
	 - 50	              (649)	
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48.	 Financial risk management (continued)

d)	 Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes 
in foreign exchange rates. 

Such exposures arise from sales and purchases denominated in currencies other than the Group’s 
functional currency.  As highlighted in the table below the Group’s exposure to foreign currency 
changes is immaterial.

	 Amounts 	 Amounts	 Amounts
	 denominated	 denominated	 denominated 
	 in TT 	 in US	 in Other 	
	 currency	 currency	 currency	 Total
	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000
As at 31 December 2021				  
Assets				  
				  
Loans receivable	  – 	             3,703,666 	  – 	        3,703,666 
Other financial assets	                622,444 	             3,278,045 	  – 	        3,900,489 
Net investment in leased assets	  – 	                190,620 	  – 	           190,620 
Cash 	                337,064 	 4,880,645	 438 	         5,218,147
Short-term investments	 87,090	 561,544	  – 	 648,634
Accounts receivable	                    3,665 	 6,427,155	  – 	 6,430,820
Sundry debtors	 - 	 223,275 	  – 	            223,275 
	 1,050,263	 19,264,950	                       438   	 20,315,651

Liabilities	 			 
Borrowings	 - 	           2,327,706 	  - 	        2,327,706
Trade and other payables	               1,089,558 	 3,910,227	                     448 	 5,000,233

	               1,089,558 	 6,237,933	                     448 	 7,327,939

Net position	 (39,295) 	 13,027,017	              (10)	 12,987,712
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48.	 Financial risk management (continued)

d)	 Foreign currency risk (continued)

	 Amounts 	 Amounts	 Amounts
	 denominated	 denominated	 denominated 
	 in TT 	 in US	 in Other 	
	 currency	 currency	 currency	 Total
	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000
As at 31 December 2020
Assets	 			 

Loans receivable	 -	 3,822,168 	 -	 3,822,168
Other financial assets	 573,571	 3,064,563	 -	 3,638,134
Net investment in leased assets	 -	 189,919 	 -	 189,919 
Cash 	 202,124 	 3,205,355 	 -	 3,407,459 
Short-term investments	 757	 2,015,280	 -	 2,016,037
Accounts receivable	 2,655	 3,051,405 	 - 	 3,054,060 
Sundry debtors	 129,713	 188,798	 -	 318,511

	 908,820 	 15,537,468 	 -  	 16,446,288

Liabilities				  
Borrowings	 -	 2,372,727 	 -	 2,372,727
Trade and other payables	 770,739	 2,120,211 	 2,403 	 2,893,353 
	 770,739	 4,492,938	 2,403 	 5,266,080

Net position	 138,081	 11,044,530	 (2,403)  	  11,180,208
				  

e)	 Market price risk 

i)   Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from its investments in local and foreign 
institutions. 

The following demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the price of these 
equity instruments, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s equity.  There is no 
impact to the Company’s profit before tax as changes are recorded in Other Comprehensive 
Income (OCI).

	 Increase/ (decrease) 	 Effect on
	 in equity price	 equity
		  $’000
2021	 10%	 95,773
	 (10%)	 (95,773)
			 
2020	 10%	 90,292
	 (10%)	 (90,292)
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48.	 Financial risk management (continued)

e)	 Market price risk (continued)

ii)    Commodity price risk

The Group is exposed to commodity price risk for natural gas, liquified natural gas and natural 
gas liquids sold. The Group’s management of commodity price exposure includes securing 
contracts with suppliers that are linked to the final product price (i.e. ammonia and methanol 
prices). These provisions reduce, but do not eliminate, the effect of commodity price volatility.

f)	 Capital management

	 The primary objective of the Group’s capital management policy is to ensure that it maintains 
a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratio in order to support its business and maximise 
shareholder value. It also manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be able to continue as 
a going concern. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2020.

	 The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio which is debt divided by equity plus debt.  The 
Group’s policy is to maintain a gearing ratio no higher than 30%.  

	 Set out below are details of the Group’s capital structure:	

	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000

Debt	 2,327,706		 2,372,727
Equity	        22,052,025 	        19,568,857 
Total Capital	        24,379,731 	        21,941,584 

Gearing ratio	 9.55%	 10.81%

g)	 Fair values

i)	 Fair value hierarchy

	 The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of 
financial assets and liabilities recorded at fair value in the consolidated financial statements 
based upon the level of judgement associated with the inputs used to measure their fair value. 
The hierarchical levels, from lowest to highest based on the amount of subjectivity associated 
with the inputs to fair valuation of these assets and liabilities are as follows:

Level 1 

Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the 
measurement date. The types of assets carried at level 1 fair value are equity and debt securities 
listed in active markets. The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based 
on quoted market prices at the statement of financial position date. The quoted market price 
used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price.
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48.	 Financial risk management (continued)

g)	 Fair values (continued)

i)	 Fair value hierarchy

Level 2

Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly. These inputs are derived principally from or corroborated 
by observable market data by correlation or other means at the measurement date and for 
the duration of the instruments’ anticipated life.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined 
by using valuation techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions 
that are based on market conditions existing at each statement of financial position date. 
Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used for long-term debt. 
Other techniques, such as estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value 
for the remaining financial instruments.

Level 3
 
Inputs that are unobservable for the asset or liability for which there are no active markets 
to determine a price. These financial instruments are held at cost being the fair value of the 
consideration paid for the acquisition of the investments, and are regularly assessed for 
impairment.

Set out below are the financial instruments of the Group categorised in accordance with 
Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 as set out in Note 2.15:

		  Level 1	 Level 2	 Level 3	 Total
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Financial Assets at FVTPL and FVTOCI					   
		

Quoted equities	 1,054,245	                 -    	               -    	 1,054,245
Unquoted debt	                -   	  213,628 	    1,050,659	 1,264,287
Credit linked notes	                -   	 852,075 	 -    	 852,075
Alternative investments	                -   	 723,518	 -    	 723,518
As at 31 December 2021	 1,054,245	  1,789,221 	    1,050,659 	  3,894,125 
		
Quoted equities	 1,038,152	 -	 -	 1,038,152
Unquoted debt	 -	 213,587	       913,365 	 1,126,952
Credit linked notes	  -	 858,672	 -	 858,672
Alternative investments	 -	 607,993	 -	 607,993
As at 31 December 2020	 1,038,152	 1,680,252	 913,365	 3,631,769
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48.	 Financial risk management (continued)

g)	 Fair values (continued)

ii)    Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at  
       amortised cost are as follows:

			   2021		 2020
		  Fair value	 Carrying	 Fair value	 Carrying
			   value		  value
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000
Loans receivables				  
Trinidad and Tobago 
Electricity Commission	     3,641,116 	       3,641,116 	     3,691,595 	      3,691,595 

Atlantic LNG 4 Company of
Trinidad and Tobago Limited	  - 	  - 	 84,328	 84,328

Caribbean Gas Chemical Limited	          62,551 	            62,551 	          46,245 	          46,245 
	  	    3,703,667 	  3,703,667 	     3,822,168 	      3,822,168 
	
Borrowings				  
US$400M 30-year bond	 2,355,582	 2,264,007	 2,468,083	 2,327,259
First Citizens Bank Limited	  - 	  - 	 40,283	 45,469
		  2,355,582	 2,264,007	 2,508,366	 2,372,728
	
Net receivable/borrowings	       1,348,085 	        1,439,660	       1,313,802 	        1,449,440 
	
 Fair value hierarchy 					   

		
		  Level 1	 Level 2	 Level 3	 Total
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000
 As at 31 December 2021 				  
 Loans receivable 	  - 	   -  	       3,703,667  	        3,703,667 
 Borrowings 	    (2,355,582)	   - 	   -  	      (2,355,582)
		     (2,355,582)	  -   	        3,703,667  	        1,348,085 
					   
 As at 31 December 2020 				  
 Loans receivable 	  - 	  - 	       3,822,168 	        3,822,168 
 Borrowings 	    (2,508,366)	  - 	  - 	       (2,508,366)
		     (2,508,366)	 -   	       3,822,168 	        1,313,802 
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48.	 Financial risk management (continued)

g)	 Fair values (continued)

iii)	 Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value 
but fair value disclosures are required (continued)

Short-term financial assets and liabilities

The carrying amount of short-term financial assets and liabilities comprising cash, short-
term investments, sundry debtors and current liabilities are a reasonable estimate of fair 
values because of the short-term nature of these instruments.

The fair value of investments that are actively traded in financial markets is determined 
by reference to quoted market prices at the close of business at the reporting period 
date. For investments where there is no active market the fair value estimates cannot be 
reasonably assessed and as such are measured at cost.

iv)	 Derivative financial instruments and hedging

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps to hedge 
its risks associated with interest rate and foreign currency fluctuations. Such financial 
instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract 
is entered into and are subsequently re-measured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as 
assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value on derivatives that do not qualify for 
hedge accounting are taken directly to net profit or loss for the year.

49.	 Dividends

	 2021	 2020
	 $’000	 $’000

Dividends paid	 329,552 	 109,930

Dividend per share for 2021 was TT$0.18 (2020: TT$0.06).	 	
	

	
50.	 Events after the reporting period

There were no subsequent events occurring after the reporting date that significantly impacted the 
consolidated financial performance, position or cash flows which require disclosure.
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				    RESTATED	 RESTATED	
		  2021	 2020	 2019	 2018	 2017
		   $’000 	  $’000 	  $’000 	  $’000 	  $’000 
ASSETS					  
	 				  
Non-current assets					   
Property, plant and equipment	  14,421,562 	  14,257,985 	  17,271,170 	  18,980,432 	  19,760,590 
Investment properties	  471,245 	  498,456 	  529,005 	  550,630 	  578,840 
Goodwill	  2,413,822 	  2,420,520 	  2,413,786 	  2,420,247 	  2,413,929 
Other intangible assets	  127,212 	  129,015 	  21,702 	  16,953 	  949 
Right-of-use assets	  94,286 	  138,087 	  141,641 	  -   	  -   
Investment in associates	  353,069 	  324,052 	  339,293 	  314,897 	  325,968 
Other financial assets	  3,900,489 	  3,638,134 	  3,791,616 	  3,962,609 	  3,012,959 
Loans receivable	  3,648,702 	  3,685,904 	  3,692,007 	  3,644,417 	  325,333 
Net investment in leased assets	  164,865 	  172,120 	  224,635 	  209,121 	  394,983 
Deferred tax assets	  2,102,262 	  2,414,658 	  2,077,132 	  793,192 	  589,830 
Contract assets	  1,484 	  1,960 	  -   	  217 	  9,039 
Debt reserve funds	  -   	  -   	  120,384 	  118,263 	  116,083 
Pension asset	  88,364 	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   

Total non-current assets	  27,787,362 	  27,680,891 	  30,622,371 	  31,010,978 	  27,528,503 
					   
Current assets					   
Cash		   5,218,147 	  3,407,459 	  3,605,702 	  6,837,681 	  6,434,290 
Short-term investments	  648,634 	  2,016,037 	  2,881,747 	  1,426,841 	  437,227 
Loans receivable	  54,965 	  136,264 	  280,273 	  -   	  224,647 
Net investment in leased assets 	  25,755 	  17,799 	  187,059 	  191,199 	  136,161 
Accounts receivable	  6,430,820 	  3,054,060 	  2,189,909 	  1,519,087 	  6,438,147 
Sundry debtors and prepayments	  709,109 	  896,619 	  887,272 	  982,874 	  695,972 
Inventories	  542,921 	  319,763 	  401,945 	  307,808 	  306,356 
Contract assets	  6,117 	  9,475 	  5,516 	  14,621 	  856,416 
Income taxes receivable	  536,683 	  594,682 	  566,788 	  408,457 	  378,472 

Total current assets	  14,173,151 	  10,452,158 	  11,006,211 	  11,688,568 	  15,907,688 
					   
Total assets	  41,960,513 	  38,133,049 	  41,628,582 	  42,699,546 	  43,436,191 
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			   RESTATED	 RESTATED	
		  2021	 2020	 2019	 2018	 2017
		   $’000 	  $’000 	  $’000 	  $’000 	  $’000 

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES					   
					   
Shareholder’s equity					   
Share capital	  1,855,266 	  1,855,266 	  1,855,266 	  1,855,266 	  1,855,266 
Reserve fund	  438,192 	  438,192 	  438,192 	  438,192 	  438,192 
Other reserves	  4,132,107 	  4,242,781 	  5,565,159 	  6,224,495 	  5,382,847 
Retained earnings	  15,626,460 	  13,032,618 	  15,125,139 	  16,704,169 	  16,550,972 
Total equity attributable to 
owners of the parent	  22,052,025 	  19,568,857 	  22,983,756 	  25,222,122 	  24,227,277 
Non-controlling interest	  2,654,861 	  2,504,716 	  2,622,827 	  2,820,156 	  2,786,415 
Total shareholder’s equity	  24,706,886 	  22,073,573 	  25,606,583 	  28,042,278 	  27,013,692 
					   
Non-current liabilities					   
Deferred tax liability	  3,133,771 	  2,817,814 	  4,639,261 	  5,329,925 	  5,601,356 
Borrowings	  2,264,007 	  2,263,572 	  2,309,451 	  2,514,475 	  2,700,355 
Contract liabilities	  82,502 	  91,786 	  97,505 	  108,597 	  135,083 
Lease Liability	  72,145 	  112,137 	  132,093 	  -   	  -   
Provisions	  5,889,682 	  6,812,659 	  4,649,536 	  2,044,093 	  908,826 
Post retirement medical                 
and group life obligation	  154,725 	  197,658 	  189,999 	  153,875 	  148,334 
Pension obligation	  -   	  32,720 	  106,637 	  55,729 	  88,268 
Total non-current liabilities	  11,596,832 	  12,328,346 	  12,124,482 	  10,206,694 	  9,582,222 
					   
Current liabilities					   
Trade payables	  4,532,229 	  1,978,713 	  1,781,063 	  2,488,356 	  4,203,310 
Sundry payables and accruals	  468,004 	  914,640 	  1,488,757 	  1,286,021 	  2,263,456 
Borrowings	  63,699 	  109,156 	  263,626 	  193,990 	  188,885 
Contract liabilities	  79,106 	  65,391 	  74,012 	  59,758 	  145,281 
Lease Liability	  17,736 	  30,283 	  12,397 	  -   	  -   
Provisions	  212,977 	  617,771 	  270,990 	  -   	  -   
Dividends payable	  -   	  -   	  -   	  4,238 	  5,072 
Income taxes payable	  283,044 	  15,176 	  6,672 	  418,211 	  34,273 

Total current liabilities	  5,656,795 	  3,731,130 	  3,897,517 	  4,450,574 	  6,840,277 
					   
Total liabilities	  17,253,627 	  16,059,476 	  16,021,999 	  14,657,268 	  16,422,499 
					   
Total equity and liabilities	  41,960,513 	  38,133,049 	  41,628,582 	  42,699,546 	  43,436,191 
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				     RESTATED 	  RESTATED 	
		  2021	 2020	 2019	 2018	 2017
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Sales		   23,608,547 	  11,413,901 	  13,609,390 	  16,004,936 	  13,880,519 

Cost of sales	  (18,927,185)	  (10,078,419)	  (12,601,711)	  (12,563,642)	  (10,994,295)

Gross profit	 4,681,362 	  1,335,482 	  1,007,679 	  3,441,294 	  2,886,224 
Other income	  180,271 	  181,871 	  636,823 	  744,261 	  237,218 
Interest and investment income	  262,289 	  523,685 	  654,842 	  922,393 	  536,930 
Gain on disposal of interest in asset	 10,997 	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   
Administrative, maintenance
and general expenses	  (691,593)	  (1,713,515)	  (899,885)	  (1,002,626)	  (1,013,184)
Change in provision for economic loss	  1,368,717 	  (1,784,312)	  128,008 	  -   	  -   
Impairment (expense)/reversal	  (800,895)	  (1,532,188)	  (688,853)	  44,182 	  (238,953)
Finance costs	  (201,132)	  (161,743)	  (230,130)	  (202,949)	  (146,421)
Share of profit/(loss) from associates	  48,915 	  (39,185)	  (4,513)	  (6,007)	  (10,138)
Profit/(loss) for the year 
before taxation	  4,858,931 	  (3,189,905)	  603,971 	  3,940,548 	  2,251,676 
Taxation		  (2,290,300)	  1,055,302 	  (121,758)	  (1,544,662)	  (1,262,476)

Profit/(loss) for the year 
after taxation	  2,568,631 	  (2,134,603)	  482,213 	  2,395,886 	  989,200 

Other comprehensive income/ 
(loss), net of taxes:					   
Items that will not be reclassified
 subsequently to profit or loss:						    

Re-measurement of defined 
benefit liability net of income tax	  113,798 	  21,794 	  (18,822)	  (292)	  7,173 
Revaluation loss/surplus on pipeline                       
net of income tax	  -   	  (878,506)	  -   		   -   
Net unrealised gain/(loss) on equity
instruments designated at fair value 
through other comprehensive income	  279,904 	  (401,523)	  (420,966)	  (173,156)	
Foreign currency translation                      
differences	  57,278 	  18,647 	  (96,466)	  244,887 	  59,092 
		   450,980 	  (1,239,588)	  (536,254)	  71,439 	  66,265 
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THE NATIONAL GAS COMPANY OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO LIMITED

Five-year consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2021
(Amounts expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars)

				     RESTATED 	  RESTATED 	
		  2021	 2020	 2019	 2018	 2017
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000
Items that may be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss:						    

Net unrealised (loss)/gain on debt 
instrument at fair value through 
other comprehensive income 	  (3,319)	  136 	  22,622 	  (233,539)	  (18,501)

Total other comprehensive income/ 
(loss) for the year, net of tax	  447,661 	  (1,239,452)	  (513,632)	  (162,100)	  47,764 
						    
Total comprehensive income/ 
(loss) for the year	  3,016,292 	  (3,374,055)	  (31,419)	  2,233,786 	  1,036,964 
						    
Profit/(loss) for the year after
 tax attributable to:					   
- Owners of the parent	  2,365,544 	  (2,088,252)	  418,495 	  2,128,292 	  805,617 
- Non-controlling interests	  203,087 	  (46,351)	  63,718 	  267,594 	  183,583 

		   2,568,631 	  (2,134,603)	  482,213 	  2,395,886 	  989,200 
Total comprehensive income/
 (loss) for the year, net of tax				  
attributable to:					   
- Owners of the parent	  2,812,720 	  (3,304,969)	  (83,365)	  1,964,064 	  851,338 
- Non-controlling interests	  203,572 	  (69,086)	  51,946 	  269,722 	  185,626 

		   3,016,292 	  (3,374,055)	  (31,419)	  2,233,786 	  1,036,964 
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PRINCIPAL OFFICERS
Mark Loquan
President, NGC

Dr. Vernon Paltoo
President, National Energy
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Republic of Trinidad and Tobago, W.I.
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Scotiabank Trinidad and Tobago Limited
Scotia Centre
56-58 Richmond Street 
Port of Spain
Republic of Trinidad and Tobago, W.I.

First Citizens Bank Limited
Orinoco Drive
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Couva
Republic of Trinidad and Tobago, W.I.

AUDITORS
Deloitte & Touche
54 Ariapita Avenue
Woodbrook
Port of Spain
Republic of Trinidad and Tobago, W.I.

ADDRESSES
The National Gas Company 
of Trinidad and Tobago Limited
Orinoco Drive
Point Lisas Industrial Estate
Couva
Republic of Trinidad and Tobago, W.I.
P.O. Box 1127, Port of Spain
Tel: 636-4662/4680

Fax: 679-2384/636-2905
Email: info@ngc.co.tt
Website: www.ngc.co.tt

National Energy Corporation 
of Trinidad and Tobago
Cor. Rivulet and Factory Roads
Brechin Castle
Couva
Republic of Trinidad and Tobago, W.I.
P.O. Box 1127, Port of Spain
Tel: 636-8471
Fax: 636-2905
Website: www.nationalenergy.tt

Phoenix Park Gas Processors Limited
Rivulet Road
Couva
Republic of Trinidad and Tobago, W.I.
P.O. Box 225, Port of Spain
Tel: 636-1522
Fax: 636-6810
Email: pr@ppgpl.com
Website: www.ppgpl.com

NGC CNG Company Limited
Orinoco Drive
Point Lisas Industrial Estate
Couva
Republic of Trinidad and Tobago, W.I.
P.O. Box 1127, Port of Spain
Tel: 636-4662 Ext. 3407/1128
Fax: 679-2384/636-2905
Email: cnginfo@ngc.co.tt
Website: www.cng.co.tt

Trinidad and Tobago NGL Limited
Orinoco Drive
Point Lisas Industrial Estate
Couva
Republic of Trinidad and Tobago, W.I.
Tel: 636-1098
Fax: 636-1099
Website: www.ngl.co.tt

La Brea Industrial Development 
Company Limited (LABIDCO)
Estate Corridor Road Extension
Brighton Port
Material Storage & Handling Facility
La Brea Industrial Estate
Brighton
La Brea
Republic of Trinidad and Tobago, W.I.
Tel: 648-8488/8884  
Fax: 648-9319 
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